
Monday, April 5, 2021

3:30 PM

Santa Clara Valley Water District

Teleconference Zoom Meeting

BOARD POLICY AND PLANNING 

COMMITTEE

Nai Hsueh - District 5, Committee 

Chair

Barbara Keegan - District 2, 

Committee Vice Chair

Linda J. LeZotte, District 4

COMMITTEE CLERK

Michele L. King, CMC

Clerk, Board of Directors

District Mission: Provide Silicon Valley safe, clean water for a healthy life, environment and economy.

Note: The finalized Board Agenda, exception items and supplemental items will be posted prior to the meeting in accordance with the Brown Act.

During the COVID-19 restrictions, all public records relating to an open session item 

on this agenda, which are not exempt from disclosure pursuant to the California Public 

Records Act, that are distributed to a majority of the legislative body, will be available 

to the public through the legislative body agenda web page at the same time that the 

public records are distributed or made available to the legislative body, or through a 

link in the Zoom Chat Section during the respective meeting.  Santa Clara Valley 

Water District will make reasonable efforts to accommodate persons with disabilities 

wishing to participate in the legislative body’s meeting. Please advise the Clerk of the 

Board Office of any special needs by calling (408) 265-2600.

Board Policy and Planning Committee Meeting

AGENDA

1



Board Policy and Planning Committee

Santa Clara Valley Water District

AGENDA

3:30 PMMonday, April 5, 2021 Teleconference Zoom Meeting

IMPORTANT NOTICES

This meeting is being held in accordance with the Brown Act as currently in effect under 

the State Emergency Services Act, the Governor’s Emergency Declaration related to 

COVID-19, and the Governor’s Executive Order N-29-20 issued on March 17, 2020 that 

allows attendance by members of the Committee, staff, and the public to participate and 

conduct the meeting by teleconference, videoconference, or both.

Members of the public  wishing to address the Committee during a video conferenced 

meeting on an item not listed on the agenda, or any item listed on the agenda, should use 

the “Raise Hand” tool located in Zoom meeting link listed on the agenda. Speakers will be 

acknowledged by the Committee Chair in the order requests are received and granted 

speaking access to address the Committee.

Santa Clara Valley Water District (Valley Water) in complying with the Americans with 

Disabilities Act (ADA), requests individuals who require special accommodations to access 

and/or participate in Valley Water Committee meetings to please contact the Clerk of the 

Board’s office at (408) 630-2711, at least 3 business days before the scheduled meeting to 

ensure that Valley Water may assist you.

This agenda has been prepared as required by the applicable laws of the State of 

California, including but not limited to, Government Code Sections 54950 et. seq. and has 

not been prepared with a view to informing an investment decision in any of Valley Water ’s 

bonds, notes or other obligations.  Any projections, plans or other forward-looking 

statements included in the information in this agenda are subject to a variety of 

uncertainties that could cause any actual plans or results to differ materially from any such 

statement.  The information herein is not intended to be used by investors or potential 

investors in considering the purchase or sale of Valley Water ’s bonds, notes or other 

obligations and investors and potential investors should rely only on information filed by 

Valley Water on the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board’s Electronic Municipal Market 

Access System for municipal securities disclosures and Valley Water ’s Investor Relations 

website, maintained on the World Wide Web at https://emma.msrb.org/ and 

https://www.valleywater.org/how-we-operate/financebudget/investor-relations, respectively.

April 5, 2021 Page 1 of 4  

2



Under the Brown Act, members of the public are not required to provide identifying 

information in order to attend public meetings.  Through the link below, the Zoom webinar 

program requests entry of a name and email address, and Valley Water is unable to modify 

this requirement.  Members of the public not wishing to provide such identifying information 

are encouraged to enter “Anonymous” or some other reference under name and to enter a 

fictional email address (e.g., attendee@valleywater.org)  in lieu of their actual address.  

Inputting such values will not impact your ability to access the meeting through Zoom.

Join Zoom Meeting:

https://valleywater.zoom.us/j/97064725908

Meeting ID: 970 6472 5908

One tap mobile

+16699009128,,97064725908#

Dial by your location

+1 669 900 9128 US (San Jose)

Meeting ID: 970 6472 5908

CALL TO ORDER:1.

Roll Call.1.1.

TIME OPEN FOR PUBLIC COMMENT ON ANY ITEM NOT ON THE AGENDA.2.

Notice to the Public: Members of the public who wish to address the Committee on any

item not listed on the agenda should access the ”Raise Hand” tool located in Zoom

meeting link listed on the agenda. Speakers will be acknowledged by the Committee

Chair in order requests are received and granted speaking access to address the

Committee.  Speakers comments should be limited to three minutes or as set by the

Chair.  The law does not permit Committee action on, or extended discussion of, any

item not on the agenda except under special circumstances.  If Committee action is

requested, the matter may be placed on a future agenda.  All comments that require a

response will be referred to staff for a reply in writing. The Committee may take action on

any item of business appearing on the posted agenda.

APPROVAL OF MINUTES:3.

Approval of Minutes. 21-02273.1.

Approve the March 1, 2021 Minutes.Recommendation:

Michele King, 408-630-2711.Manager:

Attachment 1:  March 1, 2021 MinutesAttachments:

INFORMATION AND ACTION ITEMS:4.

April 5, 2021 Page 2 of 4  

3

http://scvwd.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=7448
http://scvwd.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=e48e3927-303c-48de-8ca7-4e3fcab9907d.pdf


Develop Draft Fiscal Year 2021-22 (FY22) Board Work Plan based upon 

the outcome of the January 27, 2021 Strategic Planning Session.

21-01564.1.

A. Review information collected during the FY22 Board 

Strategic Planning Session to develop a draft FY22 Board 

Work Plan; and 

B. Submit Draft FY22 Board Work Plan and action items and 

recommendations for Board review and approval.

Recommendation:

Michele King, 408-630-2711Manager:

Attachment 1: FY22 Draft Board Work PlanAttachments:

Discuss Board Governance Ends Policy E-2. 21-02254.2.

Review and provide feedback on the draft revised Board 

Governance Ends Policy E-2.

Recommendation:

Vincent Gin, 408-630-2633  Manager:

Attachment 1:  Draft Revised Ends Policy E-2

Attachment 2:  PowerPoint

Attachments:

Climate Change Policy and Action Plan. 21-02264.3.

A. Review and provide input on the draft Climate Change 

Action Plan and the draft Climate Change Ends Policy E-5; 

and

B. Confirm next steps to present the Climate Change Action 

Plan and the Climate Change Ends Policy E-5 to the full 

Board for consideration.

Recommendation:

Lisa Bankosh, (408) 630-2618

Kirsten Struve, (408) 630-3138

Manager:

Attachment 1:  Draft Climate Change Action Plan

Attachment 2:  Draft Ends Policy E-5

Attachment 3:  PowerPoint

Attachments:

Report on Efforts to Align Board Committee Work Plans with the Board 

Work Plan and Planning Calendar.

21-03384.4.

Receive a verbal update from BPPC Chair Hsueh on efforts to 

align Board Committee work plans with the Board work plan and 

planning calendar and discuss request to provide staff support 

for working groups. 

Recommendation:

Michele King, 408-630-2711.Manager:

April 5, 2021 Page 3 of 4  

4

http://scvwd.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=7377
http://scvwd.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=e7bb9b25-10f8-4585-9cd8-3f304ac87881.pdf
http://scvwd.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=7446
http://scvwd.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=c7a260f4-3941-415d-a769-8391927bd3b4.pdf
http://scvwd.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=871caa49-a302-4e7f-84ed-8733b0e7c0b5.pdf
http://scvwd.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=7447
http://scvwd.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=318d8a46-78a8-45f7-a9c4-35d9667a6edf.pdf
http://scvwd.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=e5b0e5b5-e1f3-4c36-9cbb-87525158823f.pdf
http://scvwd.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=93d4ba16-4848-4bdc-b93f-52cbf9a2ee43.pdf
http://scvwd.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=7559


Work Plan, Meeting Schedule and Accomplishments Report. 21-02284.5.

A. Review 2021 Board Policy and Planning Committee’s Work 

Plan and Accomplishments Report and incorporate any 

new tasks; and 

B. Schedule Committee meetings as appropriate.

Recommendation:

Michele King, 408-630-211Manager:

Attachment 1:  2021 BPPC Work Plan & Accomplishments ReportAttachments:

CLERK REVIEW AND CLARIFICATION OF COMMITTEE REQUESTS.6.

This is an opportunity for the Clerk to review and obtain clarification on any formally 

moved, seconded, and approved requests and recommendations made by the 

Committee during the meeting.

ADJOURN:7.

Adjourn to Regular Meeting at 2:00 p.m., May 3, 2021, to be called to order in 

compliance with the State Emergency Services Act, the Governor's 

Emergency Declaration related to COVID-19, and the Governor's Executive 

Order N-29-20.

7.1.

April 5, 2021 Page 4 of 4  

5

http://scvwd.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=7449
http://scvwd.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=ceed51c9-ba74-451c-a1a1-305bd1ebeba9.pdf


6



Santa Clara Valley Water District

File No.: 21-0227 Agenda Date: 4/5/2021
Item No.: 3.1.

COMMITTEE AGENDA MEMORANDUM

Board Policy and Planning Committee
SUBJECT:
Approval of Minutes.

RECOMMENDATION:
Approve the March 1, 2021 Minutes.

SUMMARY:
A summary of Committee discussions, and details of all actions taken by the Committee, during all
open and public Committee meetings, is transcribed and submitted for review and approval.

Upon Committee approval, minutes transcripts are finalized and entered into the District's historical
records archives and serve as historical records of the Committee’s meetings.

ATTACHMENTS:
Attachment 1:  March 1, 2021 Minutes.

UNCLASSIFIED MANAGER:
Michele King, 408-630-2711.

Santa Clara Valley Water District Printed on 4/1/2021Page 1 of 1

powered by Legistar™7

http://www.legistar.com/


8



 
 
 
 

 
 
 

BOARD POLICY AND PLANNING COMMITTEE MEETING 

 

 
 

DRAFT MINUTES 
 

 
 

 

Attachment 1 
Page 1 of 3 

 

MONDAY, MARCH 1, 2021 
   2:00 PM  

 
(Paragraph numbers coincide with agenda item numbers) 

 
 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER 
 1.1 ROLL CALL 

A regular meeting of the Santa Clara Valley Water District (Valley Water) Board Policy 
and Planning Committee (BPPC) was called to order at 2:00 p.m. on March 1, 2021, in 
the District Headquarters Building, Conference Room A-124, 5700 Almaden 
Expressway, San Jose, California. 
 
Board Members in attendance in Conference Room A-124: Director Nai Hsueh-District 
5; Board members attending by videoconference: Director Barbara Keegan-District 2, 
and Director Linda J. LeZotte-District 4; constituting a quorum of the BPPC.   
 
Staff members in attendance in Conference Room A-124: Michele King, Clerk of the 
Board.  Staff in attendance by videoconference: Lisa Bankosh, Neeta Bijoor, Rechelle 
Blank, John Bourgeois, Rick Callender, Theresa Chinte, Rachael Gibson, Brian Hopper, 
Brian Mendenhall, Melanie Richardson, Metra Richert, Afshin Rouhani, Sue Tippets, 
Tony Vye, and Tina Yoke. 
 
Guests/Public in attendance by videoconference:  Tony Estremera, Valley Water Board 
Chairperson.  
 

2.   TIME OPEN FOR PUBLIC COMMENT ON ANY ITEM NOT AN AGENDA 
Chair Director Hsueh declared time open for public comment on any item not on the 
agenda.  There was no one present who requested to speak.  
 

3.         3.1 APPROVAL OF MINUTES – January 25, 2021. 
The BPPC considered the draft minutes from the January 25, 2021 meeting. It was 
moved by Director LeZotte, seconded by Director Keegan, and unanimously carried by 
roll call vote to approve the minutes as presented.   

 
 
 
 
 

9



Attachment 1 
Page 2 of 3 

 

4.  Information and Action Items  
 
4.1   ENDS POLICY:  E-4 WATER RESOURCES STEWARDSHIP 
Ms. Lisa Bankosh reviewed the information on this item as outlined in the Committee 
Agenda Memorandum and Attachment 1 – Draft Ends Policy E-4.   
 
It was moved by Director LeZotte, seconded by Director Keegan, and unanimously 
approved by roll call vote to recommend approval of the E-4 policy language to the full 
Board. 
 
 
4.2  ONE WATER PLAN:  COUNTYWIDE FRAMEWORK 
Mr. Brian Mendenhall and Ms. Bankosh reviewed the information on this item as outlined 
in the Committee Agenda Memorandum and Handout 4.2-A – PowerPoint presentation.  
Copies of the handout were distributed to the BPPC and made available to the public.  

 
The BPPC provided for the following input: 
 

• We must be aggressive in sharing One Water Plan science and data with cities for 
development and impediments along and near the riparian corridor.  

 

• When the One Water plans is presented to the full Board, make sure to highlight 
some success stories with specific examples to ensure that the Board and the 
community understand the rationale behind the One Water Plan approach, and how 
the science and data will be applied to specific watershed management plans. 

 

• As a Board-level document, the One Water Plan needs to connect with the Board’s 
Ends Policies.  

 

• Return to BPPC in a couple months with a more specific connection on how using 
the Coyote Watershed plan as a decision-making tool is applied to a specific 
watershed management plan.  

 
 
4.3  WORK PLAN, MEETING SCHEDULE AND ACCOMPLISHMENTS REPORT.  
Ms. Michele King reviewed the updated work plan and meeting schedule.  The BPPC 
discussed and set the April and May meeting agenda subjects, and authorized Chair 
Hsueh to coordinate items for future meetings.       

 
5. CLERK REVIEW AND CLARIFICATION OF COMMITTEE REQUESTS. 
 There were no committee requests.  
 

6. ADJOURNMENT   
 Chair Director Hsueh adjourned the meeting at approximately 3:20 p.m.   
      
 
 
     Michele L. King 
     Clerk of the Board 
 

10



Attachment 1 
Page 3 of 3 

 

Approved:    

11



12



Santa Clara Valley Water District

File No.: 21-0156 Agenda Date: 4/5/2021
Item No.: 4.1.

COMMITTEE AGENDA MEMORANDUM

Board Policy and Planning Committee
SUBJECT:
Develop Draft Fiscal Year 2021-22 (FY22) Board Work Plan based upon the outcome of the January
27, 2021 Strategic Planning Session.

RECOMMENDATION:

A. Review information collected during the FY22 Board Strategic Planning Session to develop a
draft FY22 Board Work Plan; and

B. Submit Draft FY22 Board Work Plan and action items and recommendations for Board review
and approval.

SUMMARY:
On January 27, 2021, with the assistance of facilitator Lawrence Grodeska, CEO of CivicMakers, the
Board conducted its annual planning session to develop goals and strategies around areas needing
the Board’s focus, engagement and monitoring during the following fiscal year (FY22). During the
Strategic Planning session, the Board reviewed the current Fiscal Year 2020-2021 (FY21) Board
Work Plan, participated in a facilitated discussion around the FY21 Board Work Plan and other major
topics of concern, and identified key areas to include in the FY22 Board Work Plan.

During the strategic planning meeting the Board directed the Board Policy and Planning Committee
to review the information collected and develop a draft FY22 Board Work Plan for Board review and
approval.

ATTACHMENTS:
Attachment 1: FY22 Draft Board Work Plan

UNCLASSIFIED MANAGER:
Michele King, 408-630-2711

Santa Clara Valley Water District Printed on 4/1/2021Page 1 of 1

powered by Legistar™13

http://www.legistar.com/


14



FY22 Board Work Plan DRAFT 
 

Goal: Integrated Water Resources 
Management 
Strategy 1: Protect and maintain existing assets and 
infrastructure and advance new infrastructure projects. 
Challenge/Opportunity 
The development and maintenance of Valley Water’s infrastructure is crucial to ensuring we 
continue to provide safe, clean water and critical flood protection for our communities. Timely 
maintenance is the most cost-effective investment, whereas deferred maintenance 
disproportionately increases costs. In addition, aging assets are reaching the end of the design 
life and will require major recapitalization. 
 

Focus 
● Be strategic in managing existing flood protection assets consistent with the Safe Clean 

Water Program. 
● Advance new infrastructure projects identified in the Asset Management Plan and 

Operations & Maintenance Plan. 
● Increase engagement with cities on flood plain management, Community Rating System 

(CRS) program, and emergency action plans.  

Monitoring 
● Board Planning and Policy Committee. 

Related Staff Plans 
● Watersheds & Water Utility Five-year Operations and Maintenance Plans  
● District-wide Asset Management Plan  
● Watershed Asset Management Plan 
● Safe, Clean Water and Natural Flood Protection Program 
● Capital Improvement Program 

 

15



Strategy 2: Pursue opportunities to improve internal 
capacity to acquire regulatory permits. 
Challenge/Opportunity 
Valley Water continues to pursue legislative and administrative solutions to resolve regulatory 
and permitting issues at the federal and state levels. The Board’s efforts will continue to focus on 
improving internal capacity when applying for permits, as well as continuing to build 
relationships with regulatory agencies and staying abreast of the regulatory environment. 
 

Focus 
● Continue to provide for agency wide regulatory planning and permitting effort and 

pursue other efforts at the state and federal level to expedite permit review. 
● Continue to foster better relationships with regulatory agencies and open dialogue with 

environmental, environmental justice and other stakeholders. 
● Implement memorandum of understanding (MOU) with Regional Water Quality Control 

Board. 

Monitoring 
● Board Policy and Planning Committee. 

Related Staff Plans 
● One Water Plan 

 

Strategy 3: Engage and educate the community, 
elected officials and staff on our management of water 
resources in Santa Clara County. 
Challenge/Opportunity 
A reliable supply of clean water is necessary for the social, economic, and environmental 
wellbeing of Santa Clara County. Valley Water must effectively communicate with the public on 
our management of water resources around several key issues including: the cost of water, the 
public perception of costs of different types of water, how to effectively implement our water 
supply strategies into the future, as well as our flood protection and environmental stewardship 
efforts. 
 

Focus 
● Continue to apply strategies for effective outreach, engagement and education.  

16



● Continue to develop and refine metrics to understand and improve the return on 
investment (ROI) of outreach strategies. 

● Continue increasing efforts to educate the public about the mix of different types of 
water in Valley Water’s portfolio, as well as our flood protection and environmental 
stewardship efforts. 

● Engage directly with local government jurisdictions through joint meetings. 

Monitoring 
● Board of Directors 

Related Staff Plans 
● Water Supply Master Plan 
● Countywide Water Reuse Master Plan 

 
 

Goal: Water Supply 
Strategy 1: Actively Pursue New Water Supply and 
Storage Opportunities. 
Challenge/Opportunity 
Water storage capacity is an important tool for Valley Water for capturing lower-value water for 
higher-value uses later. Such storage aids water supply, flood protection, and recreational uses 
and helps regulate downstream water quality and supply cold water flows for fish. As such, 
water storage is important for both human and environmental objectives and must fit within a 
large and diverse water and environmental portfolio. Challenges include determining the 
appropriate level of participation for Valley Water and prioritizing sites within funding limitations 
across all projects. 
 

Focus 
● Explore opportunities to develop new surface and groundwater storage projects that 

align with Valley Water’s mission. 
● Determine level of participation for projects and decisions about partnerships in 

accordance with the Water Supply Master Plan and water affordability.  
● Make decisions on the Pacheco Reservoir Expansion Project related to the project’s 

Environmental Impact Report (EIR). 

Monitoring 
● Water Storage Exploratory Committee. 

17



Related Staff Plans 
● Water Supply Master Plan. 

 

Strategy 2: Actively Participate in decisions regarding 
the CA Delta Conveyance. 
Challenge/Opportunity 
As much as 40 percent of the water Santa Clara County uses each year comes through the Delta. 
But the Delta’s aging network of earthen levees faces risks from rising seas, earthquakes and 
flooding, while the declining conditions for fish and wildlife have led regulators to put more 
restrictions on when water can move through the Delta. Participation in modernizing the delta 
conveyance is necessary to protect water supply in Santa Clara County and to restore the Delta 
for fish and wildlife. 
 

Focus 
● As a voice for Northern California, continue to engage and negotiate, through serving on 

the Delta Conveyance Design and Construction Authority and Finance Authority and 
Stakeholder Engagement Committee in adherence to Board approved Guiding Principles, 
to protect Santa Clara County’s interests. 

Monitoring 
● Board of Directors 

Related Staff Plans 
● Water Supply Master Plan 

 

Strategy 3: Lead Recycled and Purified Water and 
Efforts with committed partners.  
Challenge/Opportunity 
Recycled and purified water continue to play a key role in the long-term sustainability of Santa 
Clara County’s water supplies. Identifying and working with the appropriate agencies within the 
County to negotiate and execute expanding the use of non-potable water and the production 
and use of advanced purified water is a high priority. Opportunities exist to expand Valley 
Water’s Silicon Valley Advanced Water Purification Facility. However, challenges include 
resolving previously identified issues of land, securing contractual rights to wastewater, treated 
wastewater quality and declining flows at treatment plants, and reverse osmosis concentrate 
management. 

18



 

Focus 
● Advance the Expedited Purified Water Program by releasing a Request for Proposal (RFP) 

for at least one Locally Sponsored Project. 
● Implement the Countywide Water Reuse Master Plan. 
● Continue to monitor Direct Potable Reuse (DPR) guidance and implement actions as 

needed. 
● Finalize negotiations on term sheet for South County recycled water and agreement on 

governance. 

Monitoring 
● Recycled Water Committee. 

Related Staff Plans 
● Water Supply Master Plan 
● Countywide Water Reuse Master Plan 

 

Strategy 4: Advance Anderson Dam Seismic Retrofit 
Project.  
 

Challenge/Opportunity 
As our largest reservoir, Anderson serves not only as a critical water supply facility, but also 
supports Valley Water’s mission of flood protection and environmental stewardship. Given the 
reservoir’s critical importance to ensuring safe, clean water for our communities and to protect 
public safety, it is imperative that the Anderson Dam Seismic Retrofit Project (ADSRP) move 
forward proactively. 

 

Focus 
● Continue construction on the Anderson Dam Tunnel Project (ADTP). 
● Continue to work with appropriate regulatory agencies to advance the ADSRP.  
● Release for review the Draft Environmental Report for the ADSRP.  
● Continue to educate and engage the public, key stakeholders, decision makers, and 

elected officials of the project progress and construction timeline.  
● Coordinate long term ADSRP operations with the Fisheries and Aquatic Habitat 

Collaborative Effort (FAHCE). 

Monitoring 
● Capital Improvement Program Committee. 

19



Related Staff Plans 
● Safe, Clean Water and Natural Flood Protection Program 
● Fish Habitat Restoration Plan 
● Coyote Feasibility Study 
● Water Supply Master Plan 
● Capital Improvement Program 

 
Strategy 5: Promote Making Water Conservation a 
California Way of Life in Santa Clara County.  
Challenge/Opportunity 
Water conservation is an essential component in providing a reliable water supply and Valley 
Water has set a water conservation goal for annual water savings of 99,000 acre-feet (AF) by 
2030 and 109,000 AF by 2040. Water conservation is amongst the most cost-effective water 
supply investments over short- and long-term planning horizons. As Valley Water faces 
challenges from climate change and drought, water conservation will continue to be amongst 
the most effective tools for short-term behavioral change and long-term water conservation 
investments within the community. Opportunities exist to leverage resources to provide a 
consistent level of customer service and program participation commensurate with water supply 
conditions.  
 

Focus  
● Increase communication and education outreach to promote Valley Water’s water 

conservation programs to customers. 
● Increase collaboration with retailers to promote Valley Water’s water conservation 

programs. 
● Implement new water conservation programs and engagement strategies identified 

within the Water Conservation Strategic Plan. 
● Engage and support private-sector stakeholders, local, state, and federal agencies that 

promote water conservation. 

Monitoring 
● Water Conservation and Demand Management Committee. 

Related Staff Plans 
● Water Conservation Strategic Plan 
● Water Supply Master Plan 
● Safe, Clean Water and Natural Flood Protection Program 

20



 

Goal: Natural Flood Protection 
 

Strategy 1: Plan, design and maintain flood protection 
projects with multiple benefits, including protecting 
ecosystem functions and enhancing habitat. 
Challenge/Opportunity 
Valley Water has the opportunity, as well as the responsibility, to sustain ecosystem health while 
managing local water resources for flood protection and water supply. Valley Water must 
operate its facilities and implement projects by taking a multi-beneficial approach that balances 
providing a safe, clean water supply, and improving flood protection for the community, while 
creating a sustainable ecosystem. 
 

Focus 
● Continue to advance Shoreline EIA 11 levee construction. 
● Finalize the One Water Coyote Creek Watershed plan and make significant progress on 

the Guadalupe and Pajaro watershed plans. 
● Use a holistic approach to maintaining streams for flow conveyance and habitat 

enhancement. 
● Complete construction of Phase I of the Upper Llagas Flood Protection Project, a multi-

benefit project providing flood protection while restoring habitat and benefiting the 
environmental ecosystem. 

Monitoring 
● Board Policy and Planning Committee. 

Related Staff Plans 
● One Water Plan 
● Safe, Clean Water and Natural Flood Protection Program 

 
 

21



Strategy 2: Provide flood protection equitably in all 
regions of the County, prioritizing disadvantaged 
communities. 
Challenge/Opportunity 
As Valley Water continues to advance flood protection projects, the Board has an opportunity to 
strengthen relationships and improve coordination with conservation and environmental justice 
groups, as well as other local jurisdictions, with a specific focus on ensuring the voices of 
disadvantaged communities are equitably represented.  
 

Focus 
● Advance One Water Countywide Framework in a comprehensive manner that includes 

diverse community-wide stakeholders and the incorporation of environmental justice 
policies in all planning efforts. 

● Continue progress on flood protection capital projects consistent with Valley Water’s 
commitment to the Safe, Clean Water Program and equitably in all regions. 

Monitoring 
● Board Policy and Planning Committee 

Related Staff Plans 
● One Water Plan 
● Safe, Clean Water and Natural Flood Protection Program 

 
 

Goal: Environmental Stewardship 
Strategy 1: Attain net positive impact on the 
environment when implementing flood protection and 
water supply projects. 
Challenge/Opportunity 
Valley Water’s projects and programs encourage integrated planning to ensure capital 
improvements, operations, and maintenance activities are balanced with environmental 
stewardship goals. Valley Water strives to protect and restore habitats to support native species 
throughout Santa Clara County.  

22



 

Focus 
● As part of the One Water Countywide Framework planning process, continue to develop 

an integrated water resource plan for each watershed, including appropriate metrics to 
monitor Valley Water’s impacts on and benefit to the environment. 

● Ensure that stewardship efforts are integrated and not focused primarily on mitigation. 

Monitoring 
● Board Policy and Planning Committee. 

Related Staff Plans 
● One Water Plan  
● Climate Change Action Plan 

 

Strategy 2: Promote the protection of creeks, bay, and 
other aquatic ecosystems from threats of pollution and 
degradation. 
Challenge/Opportunity 
Valley Water continues to coordinate with local cities and agencies to improve the health of our 
local waterways, including pollution prevention and addressing threats to water quality. 
Opportunities exist to further collaborate with the county, cities and social services agencies on 
encampment abatement efforts and to develop long-term solutions for the homeless to keep 
our creeks clean. 
 

Focus 
● Continue efforts to protect the ecosystem and water quality of our water bodies and the 

integrity of our infrastructure. Such efforts include preventing stormwater pollution, 
increased implementation of green stormwater infrastructure, addressing mercury 
pollution, and homeless encampment clean ups. 

● Continue partnerships and investments on a regional scale such as the South Bay Salt 
Pond Restoration and Santa Clara Valley Urban Runoff Pollution Prevention Program 
(SCVURPPP).  

Monitoring 
● Homeless Encampment Committee 

Related Staff Plans 
● One Water Plan  

23



● Santa Clara Valley Urban Runoff Pollution Prevention Program  
● Stormwater Resource Plan  
● Safe, Clean Water and Natural Flood Protection Program 

 

Strategy 3: Continue the Fisheries and Aquatic Habitat 
Collaborative Effort (FAHCE). 
Challenge/Opportunity 
For nearly 20 years, Valley Water has been working to resolve a water rights complaint 
surrounding fish, wildlife, water quality, and other beneficial uses in Coyote Creek, the 
Guadalupe River, and Stevens Creek. Challenges include obtaining federal and state permits 
from multiple regulatory agencies, refining and processing water rights change petitions, the 
technical complexity of the fisheries impacts analysis, and managing stakeholder expectations. 

 
Focus 

● Continue implementation of feasibility studies, monitoring activities, and planning and 
construction of various fish passage improvements.  

● Advance the Guadalupe River and Stevens Creek Environmental Impact Report (EIR) 
consistent with all stakeholder agreements. 

● Develop a programmatic approach to implementing FAHCE settlement. 
● Advance Adaptive Management Plan to encompass all three creeks. 

Monitoring 
● Stream Planning and Operations Committee. 

Related Staff Plans 
● Fish Habitat Restoration Plan 
● One Water Plan 
● Coyote Feasibility Study 

24



 

Goal: Business Management 
Strategy 1: Advance racial equity, diversity and 
inclusion. 
Challenge/Opportunity 
Valley Water is committed to providing a work environment that is diverse, inclusive, free of 
discrimination and harassment, and that provides equal opportunity employment. In addition, 
Valley Water aims to implement the same values around racial equity, diversity and inclusion in 
the community through its flood protection, water supply, and environmental stewardship 
projects. 
 

Focus 
● Begin implementation of best practices to address internal and external disparities and 

build an organizational culture consistent with the Board’s Resolution addressing racial 
equity, diversity and inclusion. 

● Remain committed to environmental justice and the fair treatment and meaningful 
engagement of all people regardless of race, color, gender identity, disability status, 
national origin, tribe, culture, income, immigration status, or English language 
proficiency, with respect to the planning, projects, policies, services and operations of 
Valley Water. 

Monitoring 
● Diversity & Inclusion Ad Hoc Committee. 

Related Staff Plans 
● Racial Equity, Diversity & Inclusion Master Plan (under development) 

 

Strategy 2: Maintain appropriate staffing levels and 
expertise and ensure the safety of our staff. 
Challenge/Opportunity 
The Board recognizes that Valley Water’s workforce is the critical component to accomplishing its 
mission and all the goals and strategies in this work plan. As such, the Board remains committed 
to supporting the recruitment of capable employees with knowledge and subject matter expertise, 

25



investing in staff training to meet changing skills and capacity needs, and establishing the 
necessary policies and guidance that ensure employee safety. 

 

Focus 
● Develop and finalize a long-term staffing strategy that aligns with future capital and 

operational needs. 
● Develop classification career ladders to provide understanding of requirements for 

professional growth.  
● Advance the development of a skilled trades apprenticeship program. 
● Maximize the safety of staff working in creeks, homeless encampments and Valley Water 

facilities, and continue to promote health & safety guidance to protect staff from public 
health emergencies and environmental impacts. 

Monitoring 
● Diversity & Inclusion Ad Hoc Committee 

Related Staff Plans 
● Long-term Staffing Master Plan (under development) 

 
Strategy 3: Provide affordable and cost-effective level 
of services. 
Challenge/Opportunity 
The Board understands that it needs to regularly evaluate the financial status of the organization 
to ensure the level of services provided are reasonable and cost effective. As such, continued 
research is necessary to pursue feasible revenue sources allowed by the District Act in order to 
deliver affordable and effective services while controlling expectations with regard to what Valley 
Water can achieve and what it can afford to do. In addition, the affordability of water continues 
to be a major issue faced by communities across the nation, particularly disadvantaged 
communities. The Board has an opportunity to raise issues around water affordability at local and 
statewide levels and advocate for changes that benefit disadvantaged communities. 
 

Focus 
● Continue to establish benchmarking with other agencies, particularly water agencies, in 

order to understand areas for improvement. 
● Research and identify best practices from other agencies around water affordability, 

particularly with disadvantaged communities. 
● Establish Valley Water as a statewide leader in conversations around water affordability. 

26



Monitoring 
● Financial Sustainability Working Group 
● Board Audit Committee 

Related Staff Plans 
● Operating and Capital Budget  
● Board and Management Audit Reports 

 

Goal: Climate Change 
Strategy 1: Address future impacts of climate change 
to Valley Water’s mission and operations. 
Challenge/Opportunity 
Valley Water’s ability to fulfill its missions may be challenged in the future by the potential of 
warmer temperatures, changing weather patterns, reduced snowpack and rising sea levels. 
Valley Water has been working on greenhouse reduction efforts since 2008, but seeks to do 
more to understand, mitigate and adapt to the future impacts of climate change. 
 

Focus 
● Begin implementation of Climate Change Action Plan. 

Monitoring 
● Board Policy and Planning Committee 

Related Staff Plans 
● Climate Change Action Plan 

27



28



Santa Clara Valley Water District

File No.: 21-0225 Agenda Date: 4/5/2021
Item No.: 4.2.

COMMITTEE AGENDA MEMORANDUM

Board Policy and Planning Committee

SUBJECT: ..title
Discuss Board Governance Ends Policy E-2.

RECOMMENDATION: ..Recommendation

Review and provide feedback on the draft revised Board Governance Ends Policy E-2.

SUMMARY:
At the October 26, 2020 meeting, Board Policy and Planning Committee (BPPC) directed staff to
review and revise Board Governance Ends Policy 2 (E-2), with the following directions:

· Connect the policy with Valley Water’s Water Supply Master Plan

· Reflect and incorporate strategies listed in all current master plans

· Incorporate language that reflects environmental and other beneficial, equitable, and
affordable uses of water

· Revise water supply to water resources to better reflect all water uses

· Not make goals too long and too detailed

At January 7, 2021 meeting, staff discussed general organizing principles, concepts, and the timeline
for restructuring the E-2 policy. The BPPC supported including demand management and highlighting
existing water supply assets in the policy.

Following these directions, staff developed six policy goals to achieve the End - providing a reliable,
safe, and affordable water supply for current and future generations in all communities
served. The proposed goals include meeting Valley Water’s Level of Service goal, protecting existing
water supplies, maintaining water infrastructure, increasing regional self-reliance, using an integrated
approach for water resources management, and promoting equitability and affordability. Except for
the first goal (2.1), each goal is supported by several actionable objectives (Attachment 1).

The proposed draft E-2 was developed through the close collaboration of multiple units across the
agency. The draft policy aims to reflect the Board’s direction to ensure that the E-2 policy is
consistent with the Water Supply Master Plan and serves as a high-level framework for Valley
Water’s water resources management.

Santa Clara Valley Water District Printed on 4/1/2021Page 1 of 2

powered by Legistar™29

http://www.legistar.com/


File No.: 21-0225 Agenda Date: 4/5/2021
Item No.: 4.2.

ATTACHMENTS:
Attachment 1:  Draft Revised Ends Policy E-2
Attachment 2:  PowerPoint

UNCLASSIFIED MANAGER: ..Manager

Vincent Gin, 408-630-2633

Santa Clara Valley Water District Printed on 4/1/2021Page 2 of 2

powered by Legistar™30

http://www.legistar.com/


Draft E-2 

Title: Water Supply Services 

Valley Water provides a reliable, safe, and affordable water supply for current and future 
generations in all communities served. 

2.1  Meet 100 percent of annual water demand during non-drought years and at 
least 80 percent of demand in drought years 

2.2  Protect and sustain the county’s existing, diverse water supplies 
• Manage groundwater to ensure sustainable supplies and avoid land

subsidence
• Aggressively protect groundwater from the threat of contamination
• Protect imported water supplies and associated contracts and partnerships
• Protect and manage local surface water supplies and associated water rights
• Deliver reliable, high quality drinking water from water treatment plants

2.3  Protect and maintain existing water infrastructure 
• Plan for infrastructure maintenance and replacement to reduce risk of failure
• Prioritize maintenance and replacement of existing water infrastructure over

investments in new infrastructure
• Prepare for and respond effectively to water utility emergencies

2.4 Increase regional self-reliance through water conservation and reuse 
• Maximize water use efficiency, water conservation, and demand management
• Protect and expand potable and non-potable water reuse
• Promote stormwater capture and reuse

2.5 Manage water resources using an integrated, science-based approach 
• Plan for future water supply needs
• Promote efficient and reliable operation of water supply systems
• Promote water supply projects with multiple benefits, including environmental

stewardship and flood protection
• Invest in and rely on science to support planning and decision-making
• Build and maintain effective partnerships to achieve water supply goals

2.6 Promote access to equitable and affordable water supplies 
• Promote equal access to clean, safe, and affordable water supply across all

communities served

ATTACHMENT 1

31



• Maintain affordable water rates through cost-effective water supply 
investments and management  

• Continue customer assistance and incentive programs  

 

 

 

 

32



End Policy E-2 Water Supply
Board Policy and Planning Committee
April 5, 2021

ATTACHMENT 2

33



va
ll

e
y

w
a

te
r.

o
rg

2Recommendation:
Review and provide feedback on the revised Ends 
Policy E-2 Water Supply

34



va
ll

e
y

w
a

te
r.

o
rg

3Ends E-2 Water Supply
There is a reliable, clean water supply for current and future generations. 

2.1. Current and future water supply for municipalities, industries, agriculture, and the environment is 
reliable.
• Aggressively protect groundwater from the threat of contamination and maintain and develop groundwater 

to optimize reliability and to minimize land subsidence and salt water intrusion. 
• Protect, maintain, and develop local surface water. 
• Protect, maintain, and develop imported water. 
• Protect, maintain, and develop recycled water. 
• Maximize water use efficiency, water conservation, and demand management opportunities.
• Prepare for and respond effectively to water utility emergencies. 

2.2. Raw water transmission and distribution assets are managed to ensure efficiency and reliability. 
• Raw water transmission and distribution assets are managed to ensure efficiency and reliability. 

2.3. Reliable high quality drinking water is delivered. 
• Meet or exceed all applicable water quality regulatory standards. 
• Maintain effective relationships with the retailer and other stakeholders to ensure high quality, reliable 

drinking water.
35



va
ll

e
y

w
a

te
r.

o
rg

4Organizing Principles
• Water Supply Master Plan outline as an overall organizing 

structure

• Broader focus and more inclusive goals 

• Communication tool for what’s important

• Public friendly language

36



va
ll

e
y

w
a

te
r.

o
rg

5Revised E-2 

Title: Water Supply
There is a reliable, clean 
water supply for current 
and future generations. 

Title: Water Supply Services
Valley Water provides a reliable, 
safe, and affordable water supply 
for current and future 
generations in all communities 
served.

37



va
ll

e
y

w
a

te
r.

o
rg

6Revised E-2 
2.1 Meet 100 percent of annual water demand during non-

drought years and at least 80 percent of demand in 
drought years

38



va
ll

e
y

w
a

te
r.

o
rg

7Revised E-2 
2.2 Protect and sustain the county’s existing, diverse water 

supplies
• Manage groundwater to ensure sustainable supplies and avoid land 

subsidence

• Aggressively protect groundwater from the threat of contamination

• Protect imported water supplies and associated contracts and partnerships

• Protect and manage local surface water supplies and associated water 
rights 

• Deliver reliable, high quality drinking water from water treatment plants 

39



va
ll

e
y

w
a

te
r.

o
rg

8Revised E-2 
2.3 Protect and maintain existing water infrastructure 

• Plan for infrastructure maintenance and replacement to reduce risk of 
failure

• Prioritize maintenance and replacement of existing water infrastructure 
over investments in new infrastructure

• Prepare for and respond effectively to water utility emergencies

40



va
ll

e
y

w
a

te
r.

o
rg

9Revised E-2 
2.4 Increase regional self-reliance through water conservation 

and reuse
• Maximize water use efficiency, water conservation, and demand 

management 

• Protect and expand potable and non-potable water reuse 

• Promote stormwater capture and reuse

41



va
ll

e
y

w
a

te
r.

o
rg

10Revised E-2 
2.5 Manage water resources using an integrated, science-based 

approach  
• Plan for future water supply needs 

• Promote efficient and reliable operation of water supply systems

• Promote water supply projects with multiple benefits, including 
environmental stewardship and flood protection

• Invest in and rely on science to support planning and decision-making

• Build and maintain effective partnerships to achieve water supply goals 

42



va
ll

e
y

w
a

te
r.

o
rg

11Revised E-2 
2.6 Promote access to equitable and affordable water supplies 

• Promote equal access to clean, safe, and affordable water supply across all 
communities served 

• Maintain affordable water rates through cost-effective water supply 
investments and management 

• Continue customer assistance and incentive programs 

43



QUESTIONS

44



Santa Clara Valley Water District

File No.: 21-0226 Agenda Date: 4/5/2021
Item No.: 4.3.

COMMITTEE AGENDA MEMORANDUM

Board Policy and Planning Committee

SUBJECT: ..title
Climate Change Policy and Action Plan.

RECOMMENDATION: ..Recommendation

A. Review and provide input on the draft Climate Change Action Plan and the draft Climate

Change Ends Policy E-5; and

B. Confirm next steps to present the Climate Change Action Plan and the Climate Change Ends

Policy E-5 to the full Board for consideration.

SUMMARY:
The Climate Change Action Plan (CCAP) assesses the ways in which Santa Clara Valley Water
District (Valley Water) is vulnerable to climate change impacts and addresses how the agency can
reduce its contribution to climate change and adapt to climate impacts. Staff has provided regular
updates to the Board of Directors on progress of CCAP development since 2017.  The Board Policy
and Planning Committee received the most recent update in November 2020, including a summary of
CCAP goals and strategies, and confirmed staff’s proposed public outreach plan.  This item presents
a draft of the CCAP including a review of the outreach results and how they were incorporated.

Public outreach was conducted from December 2020 to February 2021 through social media posts,
emails, an informational video, a meeting with interested stakeholders, and a survey. A draft of the
CCAP was also shared publicly for comment. The goal of these outreach efforts was to both build
awareness of Valley Water’s commitment to climate action and also offer opportunities for input.
There were 146 respondents to the survey. These respondents include the Loma Prieta Chapter of
the Sierra Club, Grassroots Ecology, Santa Clara County, and Valley Water’s advisory committee
members, in addition to members of the public. Many of the comments received confirmed the goals,
strategies, and possible actions of the CCAP. Respondents also provided feedback on how they felt
these goals, strategies, and possible actions should be prioritized. This feedback will be considered
as Valley Water prioritizes actions for implementation.

Responses to the comments received from the survey and through email will be posted online. Staff
incorporated comments by updating the language in the CCAP, including: adding wildlife habitat to
strategies in Goal 6: Ecosystem Adaptation; updating actions in Goal 5: Flood Protection Adaptation

Santa Clara Valley Water District Printed on 4/1/2021Page 1 of 2

powered by Legistar™45

http://www.legistar.com/


File No.: 21-0226 Agenda Date: 4/5/2021
Item No.: 4.3.

to consider the digital divide in communications; and, updating Water Supply Adaptation language to
include “drought-resistant.”  These comments have been included in an updated draft of the CCAP
(Attachment 1).  It is anticipated that staff will present the CCAP to the full Board for acceptance this
Spring.

The draft Climate Change Ends Policy E-5 (Attachment 2) was revised based on input from the
November 2020 BPPC meeting. The Ends policy was created with insight from individuals across the
agency. The policy incorporates both Valley Water’s environmental justice principles and the draft
CCAP’s mitigation and adaptation strategies.

ATTACHMENTS:
Attachment 1:  Draft Climate Change Action Plan
Attachment 2:  Draft Ends Policy E-5
Attachment 3:  PowerPoint

UNCLASSIFIED MANAGER: ..Manager

Lisa Bankosh, (408) 630-2618
Kirsten Struve, (408) 630-3138

Santa Clara Valley Water District Printed on 4/1/2021Page 2 of 2

powered by Legistar™46

http://www.legistar.com/


 

 

  

47



 

 

This page has been left blank intentionally.   

48



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   i 
 

Valley Water 

Climate Change Action Plan 

Authors: 

Neeta Bijoor, PhD, Associate Water Resources Specialist 

Lydia Dadd, Environmental Planning Intern 

Kirsten Struve, Senior Water Resources Specialist 

Cris Tulloch, Associate Water Resources Specialist 

Rachel Barrales, CivicSpark Fellow 

Nick Mascarello, Assistant Environmental Planner 

Maggie O’Shea, CivicSpark Fellow 

Prepared Under the Direction of (in alphabetical order): 

Lisa Bankosh, Assistant Operating Officer, Watershed Stewardship and Planning 

John Bourgeois, Deputy Operating Officer, Watershed Stewardship and Planning 

Rick L. Callender, Chief Executive Officer 

Norma J. Camacho, Chief Executive Officer (retired) 

Vincent Gin, Deputy Operating Officer, Water Supply 

Garth Hall, Acting Chief Operating Officer, Water Utility 

Melanie Richardson, Assistant Chief Executive Officer 

Bhavani Yerrapotu, PE, Deputy Operating Officer, Treated Water 

Tina Yoke, Information Technology and Administrative Services 

 

 

 

Board of Directors

John L. Varela District 1 

Barbara Keegan  District 2 

Richard Santos  District 3 

Linda J. LeZotte  District 4 

Nai Hsueh  District 5 

Tony Estremera  District 6 

Gary Kremen  District 7

  

49



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   ii 
 

Acknowledgements  

Staff Contributors 

Jae Abel 

Scott Akin 

Kurt Arends 

Linda Arluck 

Brad Arnold 

Emmanuel Aryee 

Hossein Ashktorab  

Joe Atmore 

Aaron Baker 

Erin Baker 

Salam Baqleh 

Michael Baratz 

Jill Bernhard 

Rechelle Blank 

Sam Bogale 

Tim Bramer 

Frances Brewster 

Todd Bridgen 

Bart Broome 

John Brosnan 

Jonathan Burgess 

Bruce Cabral 

David Cahen 

Jennifer Castillo 

Usha Chatwani 

Angela Cheung  

Jennifer Codianne 

Anil Comelo 

Michelle Conlon  

George Cook 

Michael Cresap 

Jim Crowley 

Angelica Cruz 

Atlasi Daneshvar 

Brian Dean 

Jerry De La Piedra 

Vanessa De La Piedra 

Gloria Del Rosario 

Hemang Desai  

Zooey Diggory 

Sara Duckler 

Mike Duffy 

Karna DuQuite 

Stephen Ferranti 

Ray Fields 

Kurt Flammer 

Roslyn Fuller 

Frank Fung 

Colin Ganong 

Laura Garrison, MS 

Rachael Gibson 

Alexander Gordon 

Chad Grande 

Samantha Greene, PhD 

Marty Grimes 

Jason Gurdak, PhD 

Christopher Hakes 

Jeff Ham 

Robert Harvie 

Nina Hawk  

Zachary Helsley 

Tracy Hemmeter 

Laura Herbert 

Tiffany Hernandez 

Janell Hillman 

Lei Hong 

Saied Hosseini 

Cody Houston 

Dana Jacobson 

Luis James 

Joanne Jin 

Cindy Kao 

Bassam Kassab 

Jeannine Larabee 

Thomas Lau, PE 

Amy Lazzini 

Clayton Leal 

Youhan Lee 

Kathleen Low 

Kurt Lueneburger 

Bill Magleby 

Brendan Maher 

Uday Mandlekar 

Jana Marquardt 

Michael Martin 

John McHugh 

Emily Meeks 

Brian Mendenhall 

Anthony Mendiola 

Elizabeth Mercado 

Tony Mercado 

Devin Mody 

Mike Munson  

Gary Nagaoka 

Judy Nam 

Roger Narsim 

Karl Neuman 

Ngoc Nguyen 

Anna Noriega 

James O'Brien  

Gary Ohea 

Katherine Oven 

Steve Peters 

Sarah Piramoon 

Hoa Phan 

Lisa Porcella 

Mita Prakash 

Kris Puthoff 

Beth Redmond 

Metra Richert 

Afshin Rouhani 

Amandeep Saini 

Surjit Saini 

Luisa Sangines, PE 

Eli Serrano 

Todd Sexauer  

Zhen Shao 

Medi Sinaki 

Jesse Soto 

Lonnie Spin 

Charlene Sun 

Mike Suto 

Jenny Ta 

Darin Taylor  

Bob Teeter 

Paul Thomas 

Sudhanshu Tikekar 

Sue Tippets 

Doug Titus 

Phuong Trieu 

Sue Turner 

Karen Uyeda 

Colleen Valles 

Gabriel Vallin 

Jose Villareal 

Darryl Williams 

Heidi Williams 

Sunny Williams 

Jack Xu 

Liang Xu 

Sarah Young  

Emily Zedler 

Peter Zhou 

 

 

  

50



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   iii 
 

 
External Peer-Review Panel for Vulnerability and Risk Assessment:  

Ed Maurer, PhD, Professor of Civil, Environmental, and Sustainable Engineering at Santa Clara 

University 

Newsha K. Ajami, PhD, Senior Research Engineer at Stanford University’s Woods Institute 

Julia Ekstrom, PhD, Senior Environmental Specialist at the California Department of Water 

Resources  

51



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   iv 
 

Executive Summary 

 

Climate change will create numerous and often critical challenges to the Santa Clara Valley 
Water District (Valley Water) water supply, flood protection, and ecosystem stewardship 
mission areas. Today, Valley Water mitigates greenhouse gas emissions to reduce its 
contribution to climate change. Valley Water also adapts, plans, and prepares for projected 
impacts of climate change. Valley Water’s Climate Change Action Plan (CCAP) builds upon 
Valley Water’s existing climate change response efforts and presents goals and strategies to 
continue and expand these efforts. The CCAP is both a plan to reduce greenhouse gas 
emissions, and a framework to ensure a safe and resilient water supply in the future.  The CCAP 
provides a comprehensive guide to Valley Water’s current and future climate change mitigation 
and adaptation efforts. Chapter 1 further describes the purpose of this CCAP, describes Valley 
Water’s existing efforts related to climate change and provides an overview of greenhouse gas 
(GHG) emissions in recent years. 

Climate change is expected to alter local climate in Santa Clara County, Valley Water’s service 
area. Chapter 2 describes past climate and projected climate changes in Santa Clara County. 
Projected impacts are assessed under two emissions scenarios, an intermediate scenario and a 
“business as usual” scenario. The temperature in Santa Clara County is projected to rise by 1.8˚F 
by 2050 under the intermediate scenario or by 2.0˚F by 2050 under the business as usual 
scenario. Precipitation may increase in overall volume. Extreme heat and precipitation events 
are likely to increase in frequency.  Santa Clara County is also expected to experience more 
frequent and severe droughts, increased risk of wildfire, increased threats to surface water 
quality, and sea level rise. California’s snowpack, a source of Valley Water’s imported water 
supply, is expected to decline as a result of climate change.  

Changes in air temperature, precipitation, and other climatic changes challenge Valley Water 
operations in numerous ways. Water supply reliability will be challenged by changes to local 
and imported water supplies and surface water quality. Increasing storm intensity and sea level 
rise will complicate flood protection efforts. Local ecosystems may degrade in response to 
declining water quantity and quality, drier soils, floods, droughts, stream channel erosion or 
incision, wildfires, invasive species, and other possible climate change impacts. This will 
threaten the success of ecosystem stewardship efforts, as well as permit-required habitat 
mitigation.  

An assessment was conducted to thoroughly assess vulnerabilities and associated risks to Valley 
Water operations. Chapter 3 reviews the results of this vulnerability and risk assessment. The 
assessment identified specific operations that are vulnerable to climate change impacts and 
established risk levels ranging from low to extreme for these vulnerabilities. Risk levels were 
determined using the average of rankings assigned by the members of staff workgroups 
representing all areas of Valley Water operations. The results of this assessment are organized 
according to Valley Water's mission areas—water supply, flood protection, and ecosystem 

52



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   v 
 

stewardship— and show that each area of Valley Water's operations will be vulnerable to 
climate change. In order to address these risks, Valley Water needs comprehensive goals and 
strategies to guide the agency's climate change efforts into the future.   

Goals, strategies, and possible actions were developed to guide Valley Water’s climate change 
efforts, and are described in Chapter 4. There are seven goals—three mitigation goals and four 
adaptation goals. The mitigation goals correspond to an internationally recognized system of 
carbon accounting that divides emissions into three scopes: direct emissions, purchased 
electricity, and indirect emissions. The adaptation goals correspond to Valley Water’s three 
mission areas, with an additional goal to address emergency preparedness. Each goal contains 
strategies offering guidance on how to achieve the goal. Finally, each strategy includes possible 
actions, which are the most specific tool included in this CCAP. Some actions have already been 
undertaken by Valley Water, while others are new methods of mitigating or adapting to climate 
change.  

The CCAP presents next steps for approval by Valley Water’s Board of Directors in Chapter 5. 
The first recommended action is to update Valley Water’s climate neutrality policy, as the 
target set in the existing policy has been achieved. The next recommended action is to develop 
the CCAP’s Implementation Program. Climate change impacts are inherently complex. The 
strategies for mitigating and adapting to these impacts are similarly complex, requiring iterative 
and inclusive planning that responds to new data and incorporates new solutions and 
technologies as they emerge.  The Implementation Program is intended to facilitate the 
prioritization and development of specific actions and the development of workplans. It will 
also monitor progress towards climate resilience. The possible actions developed in the CCAP 
may guide the development of final actions in the Implementation Program, which will be 
structured to allow for flexibility and responsiveness. It is recommended that the 
implementation of this CCAP is guided by an inclusive and iterative process that fosters 
collaboration to maximize climate resilience, led by a designated team. Valley Water’s Board of 
Directors, agency staff, stakeholders, and the public will be regularly updated on Valley Water's 
progress towards the CCAP's goals.  
 

  

53



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   vi 
 

This page has been left blank intentionally. 

  

54



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   vii 
 

 

Table of Contents 
 

Acknowledgements ................................................................................................................................. ii 

Executive Summary ................................................................................................................................ iv 

List of Tables .......................................................................................................................................... viii 

List of Figures ........................................................................................................................................ viii 

List of Abbreviations ............................................................................................................................... ix 

Chapter 1: Introduction ........................................................................................................................... 1 

1.1. Purpose .................................................................................................................................... 1 

1.2. Plan Development .................................................................................................................... 1 

1.3. State Level Climate Change Policies and Plans  .......................................................................... 2 

1.4. Existing Climate Change Efforts at Valley Water ........................................................................ 4 

Chapter 2: Climate Change Projections and Impacts to Valley Water ...................................................... 16 

2.1. Local Climate Change Projections ........................................................................................... 16 

2.2. Climate Change Impacts on Valley Water Mission Areas .......................................................... 25 

2.3. Discussion  ............................................................................................................................. 29 

Chapter 3: Vulnerability and Risk Assessment  ........................................................................................ 31 

3.1. Methodology .......................................................................................................................... 31 

3.2. Summary of Results   .............................................................................................................. 33 

3.3. Discussion .............................................................................................................................. 44 

Chapter 4: Goals, Strategies, and Possible Actions for Mitigation and Adaptation ................................... 46 

Mitigation   ........................................................................................................................................ 47 

Goal 1: Reduce Direct Greenhouse Gas Emissions (Scope 1) ........................................................... 47 

Goal 2: Expand Renewable Energy and Improve Energy Efficiency (Scope 2) ................................... 49 

Goal 3: Reduce Indirect Greenhouse Gas Emissions (Scope 3) ......................................................... 50 

Adaptation ......................................................................................................................................... 52 

Goal 4: Water Supply Adaptation .................................................................................................... 52 

Goal 5: Flood Protection Adaptation in Santa Clara County ............................................................. 55 

Goal 6: Ecosystem Adaptation in Santa Clara County ...................................................................... 58 

Emergency Preparedness ................................................................................................................... 60 

55



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   viii 
 

Goal 7: Emergency Preparedness ................................................................................................... 60 

Chapter 5: Next Steps  ........................................................................................................................... 62 

5.1 Revision of Existing Carbon Neutrality Policy ................................................................................. 62 

5.2 Development and Launch of CCAP Implementation Program ........................................................ 62 

References ............................................................................................................................................ 66 

Appendix A: Climate Change Framework Roles ....................................................................................... 70 

Appendix B: Table of Relevant Board Policies and Goals ......................................................................... 70 

Appendix C: Links to Relevant Plans and Programs ................................................................................. 72 

Appendix D: Methodology to Calculate Carbon Emissions and Offsets .................................................... 73 

Appendix E: Table of Goals, Strategies, and Possible Actions ................................................................... 74 

 

List of Tables 
Table 1: Risk Rating Matrix ......................................................................................................................... 33 

Table 2: Water supply vulnerabilities with associated level of assessed risk ............................................. 34 

Table 3: Flooding vulnerabilities with associated level of assessed risk ..................................................... 39 

Table 4: Ecosystem vulnerabilities with associated level of assessed risk ................................................. 40 

Table 5: Emergency preparedness vulnerabilities with associated level of assessed risk .......................... 44 

 

List of Figures 
Figure 1: Santa Clara County's Observed Annual Average Maximum Temperature, 1950 to 2019 ........... 17 

Figure 2: Santa Clara County's Projected Annual Average Maximum Temperature, 1950 to 2100 ........... 18 

Figure 3: Santa Clara County's Projected Annual Number of Extreme Heat Days, 1950 to 2100 .............. 19 

Figure 4: Santa Clara County's Observed Annual Precipitation, 1950 to 2019 ........................................... 20 

Figure 5: Santa Clara County's Projected Annual Average Precipitation, 1950 to 2100 ............................ 21 

Figure 6: Santa Clara County's Projected Annual Extreme Precipitation Events, 1950 to 2100 ................. 22 

  

56



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   ix 
 

List of Abbreviations 
CA EMA California Emergency Management Agency 
CCAP Climate Change Action Plan 
CEC California Energy Commission 
CEO Chief Executive Officer 
CVP Central Valley Project 
DWR 
EF 

California Department of Water Resources  
Emission Factor  

EV Electric Vehicle 
FAHCE Fish and Aquatic Habitat Collaborative Effort 
FEMA Federal Emergency Management Agency 
GCM General Circulation Model 
GHG Greenhouse Gas 
HAB Harmful Algal Bloom 
IPCC  Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change 
IRWMP Integrated Regional Water Management Plans 
ISO International Standards Organization 
LEED Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design 
LHMP Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
MT Metric Tons 
NOAA National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration 
O&M Operations and Maintenance 
OPC California Ocean Protection Council  
OPR Office of Planning and Research 
PG&E Pacific Gas and Electric 
PWRPA Power and Water Resources Pooling Authority 
RCP Representative Concentration Pathway  
SMP Stream Maintenance Program 
SVAWPC Silicon Valley Advanced Water Purification Center 
SWP  State Water Project 
Valley Water Santa Clara Valley Water District 
VHP Valley Habitat Plan 
VMT Vehicle Miles Traveled 
WSMP Water Supply Master Plan  
  
  
  
  

  

57



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   1 
 

Chapter 1: Introduction 

 

1.1. Purpose 

Valley Water manages an integrated water resources system that includes the supply of 

clean, safe water, flood protection, and ecosystem stewardship on behalf of the nearly 

two million residents in Santa Clara County. Managing climate change-related 

challenges is critical to fulfilling Valley Water’s mission. The purpose of this Climate 

Change Action Plan (CCAP) is to guide Valley Water’s climate change response through 

the development of goals and strategies that: 

• reduce Valley Water’s contribution to climate change by reducing greenhouse 

gas (GHG) emissions (mitigation); and  

• enable Valley Water to adapt to the potential impacts of climate change in each 

of Valley Water’s mission areas.  

The CCAP describes future climate impacts as well as agency-specific vulnerabilities and 
risks associated with climate change. The CCAP is intended as a plan that provides goals, 
establishes strategies, suggests possible actions, and proposes the development of an 
implementation program to achieve these goals and strategies. The program will instill 
climate resilience as a priority throughout Valley Water’s many areas of work and will 
build and expand upon Valley Water’s many existing climate-related efforts.  
 

1.2. Plan Development 

Valley Water’s Board of Directors has actively responded to climate change by adopting 

policies to address climate change, as described in section 1.3. Valley Water’s CEO 

established a "Framework for Managing Climate Change Adaptation and Mitigation" in 

December 2013 that established a structure to meet Board policy on climate change, 

including a broad team of subject matter experts. The Board of Directors and CEO 

directed staff to develop the CCAP in order to have a more detailed and comprehensive 

plan to guide Valley Water’s climate change mitigation and adaptation efforts. The 

CCAP replaces the framework, and the CCAP will be updated on a regular basis. 

Although the framework has been replaced, its team of subject matter experts on 

climate change has been maintained (see Appendix A).  While a variety of staff 

throughout the District will work towards implementing the CCAP, knowledge or 

assistance from these subject matter experts may be obtained to facilitate the 

implementation of the CCAP. 

The development of this CCAP started in late 2017, when a series of interviews with 

unit managers was conducted to identify perceived climate risks throughout Valley 

58



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   2 
 

Water's work area. The results of these interviews and subsequent collaborative efforts 

with internal stakeholders are the foundation of this plan.  

The development of this report followed a methodical, multi-step process that included:  

• Evaluating the projected impacts of climate change on Santa Clara County and the 

regions that provide Valley Water’s imported water supply,  

• Assessing Valley Water's vulnerabilities to these impacts, 

• Developing goals, strategies, and actions to address these vulnerabilities, and 

• Preparing a framework for a CCAP Implementation Program that will carry out the 

goals set forth in this plan.  

The structure and final content of this report was identified following a thorough 

benchmarking process, which included a review of numerous other CCAPs and climate 

planning documents1. This process identified that, while there are many ways of 

organizing an agency or municipality's climate mitigation and adaptation strategies, our 

plan is generally consistent with the types of efforts taken to address climate change 

mitigation and adaptation, when relevant. 

In addition to ensuring consistency with other CCAPs, this plan is structured to reflect 

Valley Water's role as a water management agency. Each of Valley Water's mission 

areas is represented with a specific set of adaptation strategies, which have been 

developed based on the input and expertise of Valley Water staff.   

These steps are the first part of a long-term program that will improve Valley Water's 

climate resilience. This plan is the product of a collaborative process, which 

incorporated staff input from all areas within the agency. Climate change will not 

impact every aspect of Valley Water operations equally, so continued collaboration will 

be important to ensure that work groups' individualized needs are met.  

1.3. State Level Climate Change Policies and Plans  

California has enacted numerous regulations to address climate change as risks and impacts 

associated with it have become widely recognized. Although Valley Water is not legally 

required to adopt a CCAP, this document complements existing State policies and programs 

that pertain to climate mitigation and adaptation issues. The most relevant policies and 

plans that intersect with the scope of this CCAP are summarized below.  

Climate Mitigation   

The State has established reduction goals for GHG emissions through a series of legislative 

actions and Governor’s Executive Orders. With the passage of Assembly Bill (AB) 32 in 2006, 

 
1 Documents from the Cities of San Jose, San Mateo, Berkeley, County of Santa Cruz, Midpeninsula Regional Open 
Space District, San Diego County Water Authority and Institute for Local Government.  

59



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   3 
 

California adopted its first target for reduction of GHG emissions, which required statewide 

reduction of emissions to 1990 levels by 20202. In 2016, an emissions reduction target for 

2030 was subsequently established with the passage of Senate Bill (SB) 32. SB 32 requires 

statewide emissions reduction to 40 percent below 1990 levels by 2030. Another statewide 

target was established though executive action in 2018 with the enactment of Executive 

Order (EO) B-55-18. Although not yet codified into State law through legislative action, EO 

B-55-18 established 2045 as the target year to achieve statewide carbon neutrality.  

The California Air Resources Board (CARB) is the State agency responsible for monitoring 

GHG emissions and implementing policies that target climate mitigation. CARB guides 

progress towards the State’s emissions targets through its Climate Change Scoping Plan, 

which was first developed in 2008 and most recently updated in 2017. The Scoping Plan 

articulates broad strategies and standards to facilitate emission reduction across the 

energy, transportation, industrial, water and other sectors, but it does not include specific 

emissions mandates for local agencies. Scoping Plan goals specific to the water sector 

encourage water supply reliability, conservation and efficiency and increased use of 

renewable energy to pump, convey, treat and utilize water (CARB 2017).  

Climate Adaptation  

Climate adaptation is addressed at the State level though numerous initiatives spearheaded 

by various State agencies. California’s first centralized effort to engage in long-range 

adaptation planning was led by the California Natural Resources Agency (CNRA) and 

produced the California Climate Adaptation Strategy in 2009. CNRA has since developed 

updated iterations of this plan, now known as the Safeguarding California Plan. Published in 

2018, the most recent edition of Safeguarding California Plan addresses adaptation 

planning in the water sector by articulating goals and next steps to promote and improve 

regional groundwater management, diversification of local water supplies, flood 

preparation and ecosystem protection (CNRA 2018). Additionally, California Governor’s 

Office of Emergency Services published an updated Adaptation Planning Guide in 2020 to 

provide local governments and agencies a step-by-step guide to plan and implement 

climate change adaptation efforts with the latest best practices, science, and regulations. 

This was published alongside the Governor’s Office of Planning and Research’s “Adaptation 

Clearinghouse” which compiled resources, tools, and case studies across California for the 

use of climate adaptation planning across the state, including but not limited to the updated 

Adaptation Planning Guide.  

Recent legislation also acknowledges the risk that climate change poses to critical 

infrastructure. Enacted in 2016, AB 2800 requires state agencies to account for the current 

and future impacts of climate change when planning, designing, building, operating, 

maintaining and investing in infrastructure. Though Valley Water is not a state agency itself, 

 
2 California achieved the AB 32 emissions target in 2016.  

60



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   4 
 

the strategies related to climate resilient infrastructure will help to meet the goals of this 

legislation given Valley Water’s close partnerships with state agencies and the 

infrastructure operated by Valley Water that is in need of resilience updates. The legislation 

also created the Climate-Safe Infrastructure Working Group which published Paying It 

Forward: The Path Toward Climate-Safe Infrastructure in California. This report considers 

how climate related risks, such as sea level rise, extreme precipitation and heat and wildfire 

could threaten the safety and dependability of infrastructure, including dams, pipelines and 

water treatment plants. Among other takeaways, the report recommends adaptive 

infrastructure design practices, construction standards that enhance collaboration between 

state agencies and special districts that maintain critical infrastructure like Valley Water 

(CCSIWG 2018).  

1.4. Existing Climate Change Efforts at Valley Water 

Mitigation-Related Board Policies and Efforts 

Valley Water’s Board of Directors adopted Ends Policy 4.3.1 to guide Valley Water 

towards carbon neutrality. Board Ends Policy 4.3.1, implemented in 2013, directs Valley 

Water’s Chief Executive Officer (CEO) to reduce GHG emissions to achieve carbon 

neutrality by 2020come from water conservation and other practices or activities that 

reduce GHG emissions, such as recycled water, and carbon sequestration from wetland 

and riparian restoration, green business programs, and energy optimization measures.  

 

 

 

 

Mitigating greenhouse gas emissions through the use of solar 

panels on carports. 

61



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   5 
 

Valley Water is currently engaged in several efforts to mitigate climate change, as 

shown below. 

• Executive Limitation 4.9.3, a climate divestment policy, which prohibits 

investment in fossil fuel companies with significant carbon emissions.  

• Establishing a District-wide internal carbon offset methodology to facilitate 

emission reduction, including crediting emission reductions from water 

conservation programs, habitat restoration or enhancements, renewable energy 

production and contributions to countywide emission reduction efforts. 

• Increasing fleet fuel use efficiency. 

• Maintaining a portfolio of alternative renewable energy supplies. 

• Increasing operational energy use efficiency. 

• Identifying and developing opportunities to employ sources of alternative energy 

that reduce GHG emissions. 

• Conducting periodic GHG emission inventories. 

• Supporting Santa Clara County’s Green Business Program. 

 

Adaptation-Related Board Policies  

 Along with its carbon neutrality policy, additional Valley Water policies and guidelines 

address other elements of climate change readiness. These policies are: 

• Ends Policy E-2 sets the goal for a “reliable, clean water supply for current and 

future generations.”  

• Ends Policy E-3 sets the goal of a “healthy and safe environment for residents, 

businesses, and visitors, as well as for future generations.” This policy specifically 

mentions the objectives of natural flood protection and reducing flood damages.  

• Ends Policy E-4 sets the goal of “water resources stewardship to protect and 

enhance watersheds and natural resources and to improve the quality of life in 

Santa Clara County.”  

Ends Policies E-2 and E-3 highlight the importance of maintaining quality of life for 

future generations. In order to ensure that this is possible, it is important for Valley 

Water to consider Santa Clara County’s changing climate baseline in planning and 

implementing projects. These board policies are listed in Appendix B.  

Relevant Plans and Programs 

There are numerous plans and programs already being implemented that respond to 

climate change. Some of these plans are led by Valley Water, while others are 

collaborative efforts in which Valley Water is one of multiple participants.  

62



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   6 
 

Valley Water’s plans and programs that are relevant to climate change are included in 

Table 1.  

63



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   7 
 

Table 1: Valley Water Plans with Links to Climate Change 

Plan Name Description and Relevance to Climate Change  
Groundwater Management 
Plan (GWMP) 

The GWMP provides a groundwater management framework, 
including authorities, goals, programs, and metrics to assess 
performance. The plan is written to conform with the standards 
of the California Department of Water Resources (DWR) for 
Groundwater Sustainability Plans (GSPs).  Under the 
Sustainable Groundwater Management Act (SGMA) designated 
Groundwater Sustainability Agencies (GSAs) are required to 
prepare for medium and high priority groundwater basins. 
Valley Water is the GSA for the Santa Clara and Llagas 
subbasins. The GWMP identifies climate change impacts with 
the potential to affect groundwater resources and sets goals to 
ensure that groundwater is sustainably managed in the context 
of climate change impacts and other threats to groundwater.  

Local Hazard Mitigation 
Plan (LHMP) 

The LHMP, developed by Valley Water and approved by FEMA, 
identifies potential hazards to local communities, determines 
the likely impacts of these hazards, and sets mitigation goals to 
lessen these impacts. This plan is intended to maintain public 
safety, avoiding damage or loss to life, property, and 
community. Climate change may result in increased risk of the 
hazards addressed in the LHMP. The LHMP includes actions 
intended to reduce the severity of the identified hazards. One 
such action is to “conduct hazard vulnerability studies, 
including anticipated climate change impacts, in advance of all 
new infrastructure siting and construction”.  

One Water Plan The One Water Plan provides a long-term vision for integrated 
water resources planning on a watershed scale. It is intended to 
serve as Valley Water’s flood management and stream 
stewardship master plan. The One Water Plan describes 
objectives, one of which addresses climate change, and 
projects associated with this plan will need to address climate 
change projections in order to maintain and improve watershed 
health.  The One Water Plan goals, strategies, and actions 
related to climate change are consistent with those in the 
CCAP. 

Urban Water Management 
Plan (UWMP) 

The UWMP documents important information 
on water supply, water usage, recycled water, water 
conservation programs, water shortage contingency planning, 
and water supply reliability in Santa Clara County. It also serves 
as a valuable resource for water supply planners 
and policy makers and addresses the water supply future of 
Santa Clara County over the next 25 years, recognizing that 
climate change represents a threat to long-term water supply 
viability. State law requires that the plan be updated every five 
years and the current UWMP was updated in 2015. 

64



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   8 
 

Safe, Clean Water and 
Natural Flood Protection 
Program (SCW) 

This program, which is funded by a parcel tax on Santa Clara 
County property owners, was created to fund projects that 
maintain a safe water supply, improve water quality in county 
waterways, ensure that water supply is safe from natural 
disasters, restore habitat and provide open space, and provide 
flood protection. Renewal for the SCW is on the ballot for 2020. 
The effectiveness of projects in each of these priority areas may 
be impacted by climate change. The community preferred plan 
for the SCW renewal specifically addresses climate change.   

Santa Clara Basin 
Stormwater Resource Plan 
(SWRP) 

The Santa Clara Basin SWRP is a collaborative planning 
document that develops stormwater and dry weather runoff 
capture projects to improve water quality. The Santa Clara 
Basin SWRP was developed by Valley Water and the Santa Clara 
Valley Urban Runoff Pollution Prevention Program (SCVURPPP). 
The green stormwater infrastructure projects identified in the 
Santa Clara Basin SWRP are intended to improve water quality 
but provide multiple benefits including climate change 
resiliency by reducing runoff, building resiliency to drought via 
groundwater recharge and augmentation of water supplies, 
reducing urban heat island effects, and contributing to 
sequestration of carbon. Each of these project outcomes can be 
beneficial steps towards mitigating and adapting to climate 
change.  

South County SWRP The South County SWRP identifies water quality issues and 
presents local and regional stormwater projects that provide 
water quality benefits. The South County SWRP was developed 
by Valley Water, the City of Gilroy, the City of Morgan Hill, and 
the County of Santa Clara. As with the Santa Clara Basin SWRP, 
projects identified increase resilience and provide multiple 
benefits. 

Stream Maintenance 
Program (SMP) 

The SMP was developed to streamline the process of 
maintaining the 275 miles of creeks and streams managed by 
Valley Water in a manner that minimizes environmental 
impacts. The SMP guidance manual is periodically updated to 
reflect current conditions. The current manual does not 
specifically address climate change, but it is likely that future 
iterations of the SMP will be affected by climate change 
impacts to Valley Water’s creeks and streams.  

Water Supply Master Plan 
(WSMP) 
 

The WSMP presents Valley Water’s strategy for meeting water 
supply needs for the next 20 years. It includes strategies for 
making effective and efficient water supply decisions that 
balance stakeholder values, climate change impacts, policy 
changes, and uncertainty. The WSMP contains a Monitoring 
and Assessment Program that is intended to assist Valley Water 
in adapting to climate change and other changes to water 
supply.  

65



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   9 
 

Valley Water also actively participates in collaborative efforts to address climate change 

impacts.  Regional plans, projects, and programs which further climate change resilience 

in Valley Water’s mission areas are included in Table 2.  

  

66



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   10 
 

 

Table 2: Collaborative Efforts with Links to Climate Change 

Plan Name Description and Relevance to Climate Change  
South Bay Salt Pond 
Restoration Project 

The South Bay Salt Pond Restoration Project is the largest tidal 
restoration project on the West Coast. When completed, it will 
provide new habitat space, recreational areas, and improved flood 
protection. The project has been designed to manage coastal flood 
risk through raising existing levees, adding fill, and/or installing new 
levees. This will increase Santa Clara County’s resilience to coastal 
flooding from sea level rise and improve habitat resilience through 
restoration of vital marshes.  

South San Francisco 
Bay Shoreline Project 

The South San Francisco Bay Shoreline Project is a Congressionally 
authorized study by the US Army Corps of Engineers together with 
the Valley Water and the State Coastal Conservancy to identify and 
recommend flood risk management projects for Federal funding. 
The study and associated projects respond directly to sea level rise, 
aiming to address the potential for increased coastal flood risk due 
to sea level rise.   

Integrated Regional 
Water Management 
Plans (IRWMP) 

Valley Water participates in two IRWMPs (the San Francisco Bay 
Area IRWMP and the Pajaro River Watershed IRWMP), which are 
collaborative efforts to “identify and implement water management 
solutions on a regional scale that increase regional self-reliance, 
reduce conflict, and manage water to concurrently achieve social, 
environmental, and economic objectives”. These plans consider 
climate change vulnerabilities with the potential to affect water 
management and identify general mitigation and adaptation 
strategies that could address the specific impacts anticipated in the 
plan area.  

Valley Habitat Plan 
(VHP) 

The VHP, led by the Santa Clara Valley Habitat Agency, was 
developed to provide streamlined permitting for projects and a 
method for addressing project impacts on endangered and 
threatened species/ habitats. Climate change impacts will affect 
habitat conditions within the VHP area. 
The VHP includes a climate change assessment that summarizes 
climate regulations, includes projections of climate change impacts, 
and explains likely impacts to the plan area. The climate change 
assessment also includes a conservation strategy and Adaptive 
Monitoring and Adaptive Management procedures intended to 
address projected impacts of climate change and limit adverse 
effects on the environment.  

Silicon Valley 2.0 Silicon Valley 2.0 is Santa Clara County’s climate adaptation plan. It 
examines potential climate change impacts and associated 
adaptation strategies in a variety of areas, including shoreline flood 
protection, water, and wastewater. Some of the actions included in 
Chapter 4 of this CCAP are adapted from Silicon Valley 2.0.  

67



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   11 
 

The plans and programs listed above include a wide range of projects in all of Valley 

Water’s mission areas. The CCAP encourages implementation of these plans and offers 

additional actions that could be implemented to further strengthen climate resilience. 

Appendix C contains links to each of the plans and programs listed above. 

Carbon Accounting 

Valley Water calculates emissions inventories annually to evaluate progress towards 

carbon neutrality. The inventories date back to 2010 and measure both GHG emissions 

and carbon offsets. Valley Water does not have a baseline year for emission reductions 

because carbon neutrality is calculated individually for each calendar year. Updates on 

the status of carbon neutrality are provided regularly to Valley Water’s Board of 

Directors, the most recent of which was presented on June 9, 2020.   

Valley Water’s emissions inventories are divided into three scopes, following 

methodology from the United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA 2018). 

The division of emissions into these three scopes is the standard practice for carbon 

accounting3,4. 

• Scope 1 – Direct Emissions (e.g., Valley Water's fleet, equipment, and natural gas 

use) 

• Scope 2 – Purchased Electricity 

• Scope 3 – Indirect Emissions (e.g., imported water, employee commutes, and 

business-related travel) 

Valley Water’s emissions are offset by various programs and practices, including4:  

• Water Conservation Program: Valley Water funds programs that drive residential 

and commercial water conservation, such as rebates for water efficient 

equipment and low water landscaping. Water conservation in individual homes 

and businesses reduces end use energy that would otherwise be consumed by 

heating of water. Emissions calculations conservatively account for 25 percent of 

emissions offset due to water conservation.  

• Recycled Water: Valley Water has developed a supply of recycled water, which is 

wastewater that purified to a useable quality through multiple levels of filtration. 

By augmenting the water supply portfolio with recycled water, Valley Water 

reduces the need to obtain water from more energy intensive sources, such as 

imported water, and avoids emissions.  

 
3 Inventories of GHG emissions do not currently include fugitive/process emissions (Scope 1), Valley Water’s 
construction related emissions and solid waste, water use and wastewater generated at Valley Water facilities 
(Scope 3). Future inventories may account for these emissions sources.  
4 See Appendix D for complete calculation methodology.  

68



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   12 
 

• Carbon Sequestration: Natural environments act as a sink of carbon when 

biological processes remove carbon dioxide from the atmosphere. By 

maintaining ecosystems in their natural condition and supporting habitat 

restoration, Valley Water enhances sequestration of carbon and offsets 

emissions.  

• Santa Clara County Green Business Program: Similar to water conservation, 

Valley Water provides funding for the County’s Green Business Program, which 

encourages practices, such as energy conservation and alternative commuting, 

that reduce emissions county-wide.  Valley Water is also a certified Green 

Business.  

• Energy Optimization: Valley Water’s Energy Optimization Plan guides its efforts 

to promote energy efficiency in its operations by establishing Energy 

Optimization Measures (EOMs). EOMs call for replacement of outdated and 

inefficient equipment, retrofitting of facilities and reliability improvements to 

ensure that Valley Water uses energy as efficiently as possible.  

Based on data presented in the Board of Directors update on June 9, 2020, Valley Water was 

successful in achieving carbon neutrality since 2014. Each of these years, Valley Water’s 

quantity of offset or sequestered emissions was greater than the quantity of reported 

emissions. Table 3 (below) shows Valley Water’s reported emissions and offsets from 2010 to 

2017. Appendix D describes the methodology to calculate carbon emissions and offsets. 

  

69



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   13 
 

 

Table 3: Summary of Valley Water's Estimated Emissions and Offsets (2010 to 2017) 

Calendar Year 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015  2016 2017 
Emissions in Metric Tons (MT) 

of CO2e5 
22,100 21,800 29,800 29,700 18,500 22,200 16,200 15,300 

Scope 1: Direct Emissions from 
District Operations 

2,2001 2,3001 2,500 2,800 3,000 2,100  2,100 2,400 

Scope 2: Emissions from 
Purchased Electricity 

2,2001 5001 3,400 4,000 6,000 6,300  200 200 

Scope 3: Other Emissions 17,700 19,000 23,900 22,900 9,500 13,800 13,900 12,700 

a. State Water Project 14,800 16,100 21,000 20,000 6,6002 10,9002 12,1002 11,0002 

b. Central Valley Project 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

c. Import from San 
Francisco Public Utilities 
Commission 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

d. Employee Commute 1,500 1,500 1,500 1,500 1,500 1,500 1,7003 1,600 

e. Business Travel 1,400 1,400 1,400 1,400 1,400 1,400  1004 100 

Reduction/Sequestration 22,370 23,060 24,400 23,110 24,080 24,235  19,135 19,235 

1. Water Conservation Program  17,100 17,800 18,4005 16,7005 17,6005 17,8005  13,9005 14,400 

2. Recycled water 2,500 2,500 3,000 3,500 3,700 3,400 3,200 2,800 

3. Carbon sequestration 500 500 500 500 500 500 500 500 

4. Green Business Program 2,200 2,200 2,200 2,200 2,200 2,200 1,200 1,200 

5. Energy Optimization 
Measures 

706 606 3006 2106 806 3357 3357 335 

Carbon Neutrality (positive 
value indicates exceeding 
neutrality)  

270 1,260 -5,400 -6,590 5,580 2,035 2,935 3,935 

Notes: 
1 Verification completed.  
2 District-specific emissions factor (EF) based on reported EF for CY 2014 through 2016 for the State Water Project. 
To calculate the EF for the SWP, VW staff utilizes data for DWR and Santa Clara County’s water imported from the 
State Water Project and updates the methodology and data as they become available. 
3 Employee commute data has been updated to include emissions from contract staff and interns. 
4  The factors for calculating business travel were updated. 
5 Adjusted based on decreases in Pacific Gas and Electric’s (PG&E) EFs as compared to the 3-year averages of CY 
2005 to 2007.  
6 This has been updated using reported energy productions and EFs for each corresponding year.  
7 The update includes energy conservation measures completed in FY 2015 in addition to zero-emission energy 
production through on site solar and Anderson Hydro. 

As shown in Table 3, Scope 1 emissions (Direct Emissions) make up a small percentage 

of Valley Water's annual emissions. In 2016, this category comprised about 13% of total 

recorded emissions. In the years shown in Table 3, Scope 2 (purchased energy) 

emissions fluctuate by almost 6,000 metric tons (MT) CO2e per year due to Valley 

 
5 CO2e, or Carbon Dioxide equivalent, indicates the amount of carbon dioxide that has the equivalent global 
warming impact as other greenhouse gasses. This creates a common unit to measure greenhouse gas emissions 
regardless of the type of greenhouse gas.   

70



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   14 
 

Water’s energy portfolio. Ninety-five percent of Valley Water's purchased electricity is 

sourced from the Power and Water Resources Pooling Agency (PWRPA), which enables 

Valley Water to source carbon-free electricity from utility-scale solar and hydroelectric 

projects. Emissions from PWRPA's electricity vary if environmental conditions change 

the availability of these forms of electricity. Valley Water's Scope 2 emissions can 

increase when droughts limit hydroelectricity production and decrease when Valley 

Water is able to procure a higher percentage of carbon-free energy, as it did in 2016. 

Purchased electricity made up only one percent of total emissions in 2016. As shown in 

Table 3, emissions from importing water from the State Water Project (SWP) 

consistently make up the largest percentage of Valley Water’s GHG emissions. Other 

sources of imported water—the Central Valley Project (CVP) and water distributed by 

the SFPUC from the Hetch Hetchy system—use hydropower and therefore do not 

contribute to Valley Water’s emissions. In 2016, emissions from imported water 

comprised about 75% of total emissions. These are considered Scope 3 (indirect) 

emissions. Other Scope 3 emissions from fuel use, employee commutes, and business 

travel remain relatively constant and make up a small portion of total annual emissions. 

In 2016, these emissions comprised about ten percent of total emissions.  

Figure 1: Valley Water's Greenhouse Gas Emissions by Source (2017) 

 

Based on emissions inventories, Valley Water has achieved carbon neutrality nearly 

every year since accounting began in 2010, except in 2012 and 20136. Valley Water 

exceeded its carbon neutrality goal in 2016. That year, Valley Water emitted 16,200 MT 

 
6 Carbon neutrality has been achieved according to the methodology currently used by Valley Water to inventory 
and calculate emissions and offsets.  

15.70%

1.30%

71.90%

10.50%
0.70%

Fleet Emissions and Natural Gas Use Purchased Electricity

State Water Project Emissions Employee Commute

Business Travel

71



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   15 
 

CO2e but offset 19,135 MT CO2e. Although data beyond 2017 has not been acquired yet, 

it is likely that Valley Water’s carbon offsets will again surpass carbon emissions in 2020. 

In 2020, employee commutes were reduced because of the COVID-19 shelter-in-place 

order, which required most employees to work from home, contributing to reduced 

emissions.  

  

72



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   16 
 

Chapter 2: Climate Change Projections and 

Impacts to Valley Water 
 

2.1. Local Climate Change 

Climate change may challenge Valley Water's ability to provide a clean, reliable water 

supply, flood protection, and ecological stewardship in the future. Climate change is 

expected to alter air and water temperatures; evapotranspiration, precipitation, runoff, 

and recharge patterns; sea level; storm intensity; drought and wildfire frequency. This 

chapter includes a discussion of past local climate as well as local climate change 

projections for Santa Clara County, Valley Water’s service area. These projections will 

need to be updated periodically. While this section focuses on climate change impacts 

to Santa Clara County, Valley Water recognizes that climate change impacts will also 

affect the regions from which Valley Water’s imported water supply is sourced. 

Data Sources  

Santa Clara County’s historical temperature and precipitation data from 1950 to 2019 

was utilized to determine how these key indicators of climate have changed in Santa 

Clara County over time. These data were obtained from the National Oceanic and 

Atmospheric Administration’s (NOAA) National Center for Environmental Information. 

Graphs produced by NOAA are included to show Santa Clara County’s observed 

historical trends in temperature and precipitation. Statistical analyses were conducted 

to determine changes in county climate data7.   

Santa Clara County’s projected climate change trends were determined using 

downscaled global climate model (GCM) projections from Cal-Adapt, a web-based 

climate adaptation planning tool (CEC, 2020). CalAdapt was developed by the Geospatial 

Innovation Facility at UC Berkeley with oversight from the California Energy Commission 

(CEC). The development of CalAdapt was a key recommendation of the 2009 California 

Climate Adaptation Strategy, which was one of California’s early efforts at 

multidisciplinary climate planning. CalAdapt enables users to visualize trends and access 

high-quality, peer reviewed data related to climate change impacts (CalAdapt 2020).  

This chapter includes CalAdapt graphs showing modeled projections of climate change 

indicators, such as temperature, precipitation, and other variables.  The projections are 

based on four models that have been selected by California’s Climate Action Team 

 
7 Regression lines were plotted in Excel to determine that the trends in this data are statistically significant, with p-
values less than 0.05 being considered statistically significant. Graphs shown in the discussion are from NOAA and 
CalAdapt and do not show the regression lines.  

73



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   17 
 

Research Working Group as priority models for research. Each of these models reflects a 

distinct type of climate pattern and CalAdapt uses the average of these models to 

present projections that cover a range of possible climate conditions.  

CalAdapt provides projections for two emissions scenarios: 

▪ Representative Concentration Pathway (RCP) 4.5, a stabilization scenario that 

assumes GHG emissions peak around 2040, then decline,  

▪ RCP 8.5, a “business as usual” scenario in which emissions continue to rise 

strongly through 2050 and plateau at 2100.  

The discussion of climate projections included in the following sections presents the projections 

for both emissions scenarios in order to show the range of possibilities for future climate. The 

figures show data for RCP 8.5. Valley Water is continually studying climate change science and 

is developing an approach for downscaled data and GCMs. Downscaling data enables the 

inference of local climate response from large-scale climate patterns, thus allowing for a more 

region-specific understanding of climate change impacts. CCAP implementation efforts will 

utilize this Valley Water specific approach when it is finalized.  

Temperature 

Between 1950 and 2019, an analysis of historical data shows that Santa Clara County’s 

annual average maximum temperature has increased by 2.5˚F (Figure 2; NOAA 2020).  

Figure 2: Santa Clara County's Observed Annual Average Maximum Temperature, 1950 to 2019 

 

The County’s annual average maximum temperature is projected to rise by 1.8˚F by 

2050 and by an additional 1.2˚F between 2050 and 2100 under RCP 4.5 (Figure 3; CEC, 

74



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   18 
 

2020). The annual average maximum temperature is projected to rise by 2.0˚F by 2050 

and an additional 4.6˚F between 2050 and 2100 under RCP 8.5 (Figure 3). 

Figure 3: Santa Clara County's Projected Annual Average Maximum Temperature, 1950 to 2100 

 

Increases are also expected in the number of extreme heat days, which are days when 

the daily maximum temperature is above the extreme heat threshold of 93.1°F.  An 

average of model projections shows that the annual number of extreme heat days is 

projected to rise by 2.7 days per year by 2050 and by an additional 4.4 days per year 

between 2050 and 2100 under RCP 4.5 (Figure 4; Cal-Adapt, 2020). Under RCP 8.5, the 

annual number of extreme heat days is projected to rise by 5.6 per year by 2050 and by 

an additional 9.0 days per year between 2050 and 2100. 

75



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   19 
 

Figure 4: Santa Clara County's Projected Annual Number of Extreme Heat Days, 1950 to 2100 

Precipitation  

Projections show that precipitation in the San Francisco Bay Area will continue to 
exhibit high year-to-year variability with very wet and very dry years (Ackerly et al., 
2018). Annual precipitation volume is projected to increase. Despite the increase in 
volume of precipitation, the wet season will be shortened, compressing the time during 
which the increased precipitation will fall (Swain et al., 2018). The San Francisco Bay 
Area’s largest winter storms will likely become more intense and possibly more 
damaging. Statewide, modeling shows that there are likely to be “fewer wet days, 
wetter winters, drier springs and autumns, and an increase in dry years as well as 
maximum precipitation in a single day” (Pierce et al., 2018). Projections for the San 
Francisco Bay Area are generally consistent with this statement (Ackerly et al., 2018). 
Santa Clara County's projected precipitation trends reflect those for the San Francisco 

76



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   20 
 

Bay Area; overall, precipitation is likely to become more erratic as climate impacts 
occur.  

The annual precipitation in Santa Clara County was 23.3 inches per year from 1950-
2019 (Figure 5) and does not show a statistically significant change in average annual 
precipitation during that time (p = 0.84). An analysis of modeled precipitation shows 
that future changes in precipitation are marginally significant with RCP 4.5 and 
significant with RCP 8.5. The County’s annual precipitation may rise by 0.5 inches by 
2050 and by an additional 0.8 inches by 2100 under RCP 4.5. The annual precipitation is 
projected to rise by 1.3 inches by 2050 and an additional 2.1 inches by 2100 under RCP 
8.5. 

Figure 5: Santa Clara County's Observed Annual Precipitation, 1950 to 2019 

 
Figure 6 depicts projected precipitation patterns for Santa Clara County under RCP 8.5. 
The various models do not show a consistent trend in precipitation during the next 
century, with some models showing constant or opposing trends (CalAdapt 2020). Thus, 

Valley Water should be prepared for all possibilities. Even modest changes in 
precipitation can have a major impact as water supply systems and ecosystems are 
conditioned to historical precipitation levels (CEC 2020). 
 

77



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   21 
 

Figure 6: Santa Clara County's Projected Annual Average Precipitation, 1950 to 2100 

 
Figure 7 shows extreme precipitation events, or the number of days in a water year 
(Oct–Sep) with two-day rainfall totals above an extreme threshold of 2.94 inches. Data is 
shown for the Guadalupe River-Frontal San Francisco Bay Estuaries Watershed, which 
encompasses the central and northern portions of Santa Clara County. The average of 
model projections shows an increase in extreme precipitation events of 0.7 events per 
year by mid-century under RCP 4.5, and 1.4 events under RCP 8.5. Between 2050 and 
2100, extreme precipitation events may increase by an additional 1.2 events per year 
under RCP 4.5 or by an additional 2.3 events per year under RCP 8.5 (Figure 7).  

78



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   22 
 

  Figure 7: Santa Clara County's Projected Annual Extreme Precipitation Events, 1950 to 2100 

 

Drought and Snowpack 

Drought severity and duration could be affected by both temperature and precipitation 
patterns. Projected future increases in temperature, regardless of whether total 
volume of precipitation goes up or down, will likely cause droughts of greater severity 
and duration (Ackerly et al., 2018).  It is notable that mega-droughts spanning multiple 
decades have occurred in California’s past, according to paleoclimatic records (Ackerly 
et al., 2018). The 2012-2016 California drought was likely the most severe drought in 
the last 1,200 years and led to a 500-year low in Sierra snowpack (Ackerly et al., 2018).  

 

 

 

 

79



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   23 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Snowpack is already in decline, partially due to rising temperatures causing the 

historical location of the freezing line in mountains to move upslope, earlier melting, 

and shorter seasons of snowfall (Ackerly et al., 2018). The record low snowpack during 

the recent 2012-2016 drought was a major factor in the statewide economic loss of 

$2.1 billion, led to 21,000 jobs lost in California’s agricultural and recreational sectors, 

and caused groundwater depletion throughout the drought (Ackerly et al., 2018). 

An analysis of models projecting future snowpack in the Western United States shows 

that Sierra Nevada snowpack may decline by 30 to 60% by 2040-2065 under RCP 8.5 

(Rhoades et al., 2018). A study conducted by the UCLA Center for Climate Science 

predicted an average 64% drop in springtime snowpack volume by the end of the 

century, assuming a business as usual emissions scenario (comparable to RCP 8.5) 

(Reich et al., 2018).  

Wildfire 

In addition to diminishing snowpack, shifting temperature and precipitation patterns 

are likely to alter historical patterns of wildfire. CalAdapt models Santa Clara County's 

past and projected annual area burned by wildfire (CEC 2020). From the present to 

2050, these models show a 3% increase in burn area (79.6 hectares) for RCP 4.5, and 

1.9% (50.6 hectares) for RCP 8.5. Between 2050 and 2100, these models show a 4.6% 

increase in burn area (128.3 hectares) for RCP 4.5, and a 3.0% increase (81.7 hectares) 

Coyote percolation pond experiencing severe drought in 2019. 

80



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   24 
 

under RCP 8.5. The four models selected as CalAdapt’s most representative set of 

models do not show consistently show increases wildfire for Santa Clara County. 

Uncertainty in urbanization and population growth rates makes it difficult to forecast 

wildfire patterns. 

The projected change in the area burned by wildfire is due to the combination of 

warming temperatures and the spread of development into the wildland-urban 

interface (CEC 2020). Increased fire probability is projected in most of the San Francisco 

Bay Area, especially the dry hills around Mt. Hamilton, with reduced fire risk near urban 

areas and development corridors (Ackerly et al., 2018). In the San Francisco Bay Area, 

there are more consistent projections of increased fire activity (i.e., more frequent or 

greater area burned), due to a warmer climate (Ackerly et al., 2018). In urbanized 

regions, fire risk is unequal; areas that are highly urbanized have lower wildfire risk than 

areas in the wildland-urban interface (Ackerly et al., 2018). As urban development 

spreads further into the wildland-urban interface, fire risk could potentially increase in 

these areas (Ackerly et al., 2018). This trend is true for Santa Clara County as well as for 

the Bay Area as a whole. Increased fire risk could result in increased fire severity and 

frequency.  

Sea Level Rise (SLR) 

Sea level in the San Francisco Bay Area, including Santa Clara County, has risen nearly 

eight inches in the last 100 years and continues to rise. This increases the risk of coastal 

flooding and saltwater intrusion into aquifers, and habitat loss in near-shore 

environments. Each of the tidal gauges in the San Francisco Bay shows an acceleration 

in SLR since 2011 (Ackerly et al., 2018).  

The California Oceans Protection Council (OPC) assembled a working group to put 

together projections of SLR in California for use in regulatory and planning activities (CA 

OPC 2017). This working group produced a guidance document that was first published 

in 2010 and has since been updated in 2013 and 2017. SLR projections from the 2017 

document are consistent under various emission scenarios (including RCP 4.5 and RCP 

8.5) by 2050, with disparity between emissions scenarios appearing later in the century. 

By 2050, the OPC projects SLR of 0.9 feet above the 1991-2009 mean sea level at the 

San Francisco tidal gauge. Under RCP 4.5, a rise of between 1.2 and 2.7 feet is 

projected. Under RCP 8.5, a rise between 1.6 and 3.4 feet is projected. These 

projections may underestimate the possibility of extensive loss from Antarctic ice 

sheets (BCDC 2020). In an extreme scenario, the OPC projects that the San Francisco 

tidal gauge could see SLR of ten feet . Due to unpredictability in the melting of Antarctic 

ice sheets, the OPC recommends making planning decisions using the more likely 

ranges of SLR included above.  

81



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   25 
 

SLR is not the only coastal hazard that may result from climate change. As precipitation 

patterns shift, coastal areas may experience seasonally elevated sea levels as a result of 

severe storms or king tides, which combined with background SLR may result in 

increased coastal flooding (CA OPC 2017). Figure 8 shows the projected fraction of each 

calendar year (2000-2100) with sea level above the historical average sea level at the 

San Francisco tidal gauge. This figure includes projections for three distinct SLR 

scenarios under RCP 8.5. The three SLR scenarios represent a middle estimate of SLR 

(50th percentile), high estimate of SLR (95th percentile), and extreme estimate of SLR 

(99th percentile). The graph shows that by approximately 2060, sea level is projected to 

be above the historical mean sea level for a larger percentage of the year under all of 

the SLR scenarios shown.  

Figure 8: Projected Sea Level Rise, 2000-2100 

 

 

2.2. Climate Change Impacts on Valley Water Mission 

Areas 

82



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   26 
 

Water Supply 

Droughts have been identified as a major threat to water supply reliability and are 

expected to increase in frequency due to climate change. Both local and imported 

sources of water may be impacted. The reliability of imported water from the 

Sacramento-San Joaquin River Delta watershed, which makes up about 40% of Valley 

Water’s annual water supply, faces the threats of decreased availability due to 

decreasing snowpack, changing precipitation patterns, and increased salinity due to 

SLR.   Imported water is crucial for Valley Water’s ability to recharge groundwater 

basins and maintain a resilient surface water supply. Valley Water’s imported water 

supply is highly dependent on snowpack and the historical patterns of annual 

snowmelt, which are projected to be affected by climate change. Conflicts may arise as 

a result from reduced water supplies. 

A vulnerability assessment conducted for the Department of Water Resources 

identified that sources of imported water will be particularly vulnerable to shifting 

hydrologic patterns (DWR 2019). In a study conducted as a part of California’s Fourth 

Climate Change Assessment, the SWP and CVP were both projected to face challenges 

in meeting export demands because of climate change impacts (Wang et al., 2018).  

Locally, reservoir storage is susceptible to precipitation and temperature changes, 

which can lead to increased algal blooms, including both algal blooms affecting the 

taste and odor of water and harmful algal blooms (HABs) that create toxins8. 

Temperature changes may also lead to high evaporative losses. Wildfire may also 

threaten the water quality and capacity of reservoirs due to increased sediment 

discharge.  

SLR threatens water supply assets, such as the Silicon Valley Advanced Water 

Purification Center (SVAWPC). With 1.41 meters (4.6 feet) of SLR, the SVAWPC could be 

affected by up to a meter of flooding during a one-in-100 year storm event (CalAdapt 

2020) without infrastructure improvements. SLR could also exacerbate saltwater 

intrusion to shallow groundwater from tidal creeks near the San Francisco Bay.  

Floods 

Floods may become more likely as a result of increasing precipitation intensity, extreme 

storm events, and SLR (Ackerly et al., 2018). Flood types that may impact Santa Clara 

County include flash floods (i.e. rapid flooding on ground with poor absorption ability) 

and urban flooding due to drainage problems in urban areas. Areas burned by wildfire 

may be susceptible to increased runoff rates, increasing flood potential. River and 

coastal floods are also possible and are described in further detail below. 

 
8 For the remainder of this document, “algal blooms” refers to both types of algal blooms discussed here.  

83



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   27 
 

 

 

 

 

River Flooding  

River flooding, also called fluvial or riverine flooding, occurs when rainfall intensity or 

frequency causes a river to exceed its capacity. Climate change will affect the level of 

river flood risk since existing flood protection projects have been designed considering  

statistical analysis of past events and are built to provide protection to a certain level—

often the one percent flood (1 in 100 chance or 1% probability) of being equaled or 

exceeded in any given year. Climate change impacts on the frequency and severity of 

fluvial flooding are difficult to predict with certainty. Most models project more intense 

storms, and possibly increased return frequencies. Using IPCC data, Ackerly et al. (2018) 

projected that a 20-year return frequency one-day storm event for the Bay Area would 

increase in frequency by a factor of three or more by end of century, becoming a once-

in-seven year storm rather than a once-in 20 year storm. The level of protection 

provided by previously built flood protection infrastructure may be insufficient if 

hydrologic conditions vary from design assumptions, as a result of climate change.  

Furthermore, the predicted increase in frequency of droughts will contribute to riverine 

flooding. Drought conditions cause soil to become less absorptive, increasing 

watershed runoff, vegetation dieback, and associated wildfire risk. Wildfires could 

further decrease soil absorption through erosion or leave debris that forms an 

Urban flooding due to insufficient drainage and increased precipitation intensity, extreme storm 

events, and sea level may increase with climate change. 

84



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   28 
 

impermeable layer. In either event, this may result in greater possibility of floods 

following an intense precipitation event. More intense storms can increase debris and 

tree blockages in flood conveyance facilities and streams, which increases the 

vulnerability of existing flood projects.  In addition, flooding can impact riparian habitat, 

nearby infrastructure, businesses and homes. 

Coastal Flooding 

As sea levels continue to rise, so will vulnerabilities that are associated with tidal 

flooding. Rising sea levels can permanently inundate some areas and exacerbate other 

flood risks.  In addition, more intense storms and storm surge will increase tidal or 

shoreline flooding vulnerabilities (BCDC 2020). As sea level rises, daily tidal fluctuations 

could result in frequent inundation of low-lying areas, specifically in periods of elevated 

tides (such as king tides) (Ackerly et al., 2018; BCDC 2020). The impacts associated with 

tidal flooding are much the same as with riverine flooding and include potential impacts 

to tidal habitats, nearby infrastructure, businesses and homes. Many of the Bay Area’s 

wastewater treatment plants are in close proximity to the Bay’s shoreline, including 

Santa Clara County’s Palo Alto Regional Water Quality Control Plant, the Sunnyvale 

Water Pollution Control Plant, and the San Jose-Santa Clara Regional Wastewater 

Treatment Facility.  

In addition, tidal flooding increases salinity intrusion into the Delta, impacting the 

amount of water supply available for importation. The SWP and CVP are responsible for 

maintaining salinity levels within the Delta, under the Bay-Delta Water Quality Control 

Plan. With future tidal flooding, the water projects will need to release more 

freshwater in the Delta to maintain compliance with salinity objectives. One analysis 

determined that SLR alone could cause a 2% decrease in annual Delta exports by mid-

century (projected one foot SLR) and a 9% decrease in annual Delta exports by the end 

of the century (projected two feet SLR) for this reason (Wang et al., 2011). 

SLR Driven Groundwater Emergence 

Another flood-related risk that could be intensified due to climate change is SLR-driven 

groundwater emergence. This is a phenomenon that occurs when SLR causes shallow 

groundwater in coastal areas to rise above the surface. In developed areas, 

groundwater emergence can damage infrastructure and property, creating unforeseen 

challenges within Valley Water’s mission area of providing flood protection (Hoover et 

al., 2017).  

 

Ecosystems 

85



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   29 
 

Local ecosystems, which sustain life and provide numerous economic and ecological 

functions and values, may degrade in response to the Bay Area’s changing climate. A 

report prepared to summarize the ecological condition of streams in Santa Clara County 

based on Valley Water’s assessment of individual watersheds identified changing 

precipitation and evaporation patterns as the climate impacts most likely to threaten 

stream conditions. As stated in this report, “changes in these processes can have major 

effects on the hydrologic cycle and therefore, influence all ecosystem goods and 

services” (Lowe et al., 2020). When combined with the County’s extensive urban 

development, climate change threatens biodiversity by leaving species with limited 

room to migrate. Climate change may also result in conditions that make terrestrial and 

aquatic ecosystems prone to invasive species growth (Ackerly et al., 2018).  

Drier soils caused by rising temperatures and changing precipitation patterns may 

impact the ability of plant species to survive in their native habitats. Riverine 

ecosystems may experience decreasing populations of aquatic plant and animal species 

as rising temperature increases evapotranspiration and changing precipitation patterns 

lead to extended dry periods. Moyle et al. (2013) predicted that most native fish in 

California are highly vulnerable to climate change effects and are likely to suffer 

population declines and become more restricted in their distributions. Flooding 

resulting from changing precipitation patterns may impact terrestrial and aquatic 

ecosystems by increasing erosion (Ackerly et al., 2018). Similarly, more intense storms 

can increase channel incision and scour, reducing water availability to habitats, and 

exposing soil to erosion. 

Wildfires may threaten plant and animal species, especially in forested areas (Ackerly et 

al., 2018). They also threaten the water quality of creeks and reservoirs, leading to 

detrimental impacts on aquatic life. Burned areas may also reduce the area available 

for use in mitigation planting and restoration. Species living in tidal wetlands may be 

impacted by inundation from SLR, especially given the lack of adjacent upland 

vegetated areas of these ecosystems for these species to migrate. Transitional or 

ecotone habitats along San Francisco Bay’s tidal wetlands and waters are mostly 

developed, or have levees preventing upslope migration of wetland flora and fauna in 

response to rising sea levels.  

2.3. Discussion  

The climate change impacts to Valley Water’s mission areas described above are 

anticipated to affect Santa Clara County and, more broadly, the entire San Francisco 

Bay Area in the coming years and decades. Changing temperatures and precipitation 

patterns are likely to alter hydrologic patterns, including extreme weather events, 

floods, droughts, and wildfires. Santa Clara County’s temperature is projected to rise by 

1.6-2.2˚F by 2050 under RCP 4.5 or by 1.5-2.7˚F by 2050 under RCP 8.5, and extreme 

86



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   30 
 

heat days are expected to increase in frequency. Precipitation may increase in overall 

volume and extreme precipitation events may increase in frequency. Shifting 

temperature and precipitation patterns may have the secondary effects of more 

frequent and severe droughts, increased risk of wildfire, and SLR. Snowpack in the state 

is also expected to decline.   

These effects will have impacts on local and imported water supply availability. Thus, 

Valley Water may be affected by these local and regional climate impacts in many areas 

of agency operations. As indicated by Board Ends Policies E-2, E-3, and E-4, it is crucial 

that Valley Water address these climate impacts to remain prepared to provide water 

resource services in present and future conditions.  

In 2012, California became the first state in the nation to recognize the human right to 

water in its legislation, with the addition to California’s water code that “every human 

being has the right to safe, clean, affordable, and accessible water adequate for human 

consumption, cooking, and sanitary purposes” (Water Code 2012). The human right to 

water remains regardless of climate change. Climate change impacts have been shown 

to disproportionately impact disadvantaged populations, which is an environmental 

justice concern (Morello-Frosch 2009). Valley Water recognizes that certain populations 

are likely to be more vulnerable than others to the climate change impacts discussed in 

this chapter. Valley Water has existing planning efforts that include considerations for 

communities that have been identified as disadvantaged, including the Integrated 

Water Resources Master Plan, the One Water Plan, and the stormwater resource 

plans.9  

In order to be prepared for potential climate change impacts on the ability of Valley 

Water to provide clean water, flood protection, and ecosystem stewardship, this CCAP 

assesses the agency's specific climate vulnerabilities and develops mitigation and 

adaptation goals and strategies to address these vulnerabilities and ensure future 

resilience. Chapter 3 discusses Valley Water's vulnerabilities to climate change and the 

risk level associated with these vulnerabilities. Chapter 4 presents goals, strategies, and 

suggest possible actions that will guide Valley Water in building climate change 

considerations into its everyday operations.   

 
9 The DWR defines disadvantaged communities as communities in which the median household income is less than 
80% of the statewide average. 

87



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   31 
 

Chapter 3: Vulnerability and Risk Assessment  

 

It is necessary to have a clear understanding of Valley Water’s climate-related vulnerabilities 

and their associated risks in order to form strategies that improve the agency’s resilience. In the 

context of this CCAP, a vulnerability is defined as a characteristic of a natural resource, function, 

system, or asset that makes it susceptible to the damaging effects of a hazard such as climate 

change. Risk is defined as the potential impact of a given vulnerability over a specified future 

period. Risk is determined based on measurements of a given vulnerability’s likelihood and 

potential severity. A detailed assessment was conducted to identify these vulnerabilities and 

estimate their level of risk to Valley Water. The methods of vulnerability and risk assessment 

used are consistent with the Water Resource Foundation’s Water Utility Business Risk and 

Opportunity Framework, which is intended to provide water utility agencies with guidance on 

how to identify and plan for climate change impacts (Wasley 2020). This CCAP’s vulnerability 

and risk assessment had two major objectives—first, to identify vulnerable areas of Valley 

Water’s operations and, second, to determine perceived risk to these vulnerable areas.  This 

chapter will describe the methodology and results of the vulnerability and risk assessment.  

As discussed in Chapter 2, the unpredictability of climate change impacts means that efforts at 

climate resilience need to consider a range of possible outcomes. The risk levels associated with 

these vulnerabilities are reflective of their perceived threat to agency operations. To this effect, 

the vulnerability and risk assessment results described in this chapter are not intended to be 

concrete measurements of future impacts. Rather, they are intended to provide direction for 

the development of climate-responsive actions that will be finalized based on more 

individualized analyses of vulnerability and risk. Although this risk assessment is framed as an 

assessment of future risk associated with climate change, Valley Water recognizes that climate 

change is already magnifying natural disasters, such drought, flooding and wildfire. 

3.1. Methodology 

3.1.1.  Vulnerability Identification 

From October 2017 to December 2017, CCAP project staff conducted 
approximately 80 interviews with the managers of all internal workgroups to 
gather baseline data about perceived climate change impacts. In each interview, 
participants reviewed a sample list of general climate change vulnerabilities that 
could potentially impact Valley Water’s operations. This sample list was based on a 
literature review of external vulnerability checklists (CA DDW 2017; Valley Water 
2015; U.S. EPA 2011).  

Managers were then asked to develop a list of resources, operations, or assets with 
potential climate change vulnerabilities. Next, over 30 unit-level vulnerability 

88



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   32 
 

workshops were conducted to refine and clarify the vulnerabilities identified in the 
first round of interviews. The results of these interviews were compiled into a list 
of agency-specific climate vulnerabilities. While this process aimed to be as 
comprehensive as possible, there may be other vulnerabilities affecting operations 
that are currently unidentified or unforeseen. 

Ultimately, 49 vulnerabilities were identified and compiled into a checklist for use 
during the risk assessment process. The vulnerabilities were further consolidated 
into categories that align specifically with Valley Water’s three mission areas 
(Water Supply Vulnerabilities, Flood Protection Vulnerabilities, Ecosystem 
Stewardship Vulnerabilities), as well as a fourth category for emergency 
preparedness (Emergency Preparedness Vulnerabilities).  Asset and finance-related 
vulnerabilities were also addressed within these four categories. 

3.1.2.  Risk Assessment 

The second step of the vulnerability and risk assessment process was to establish a 

consistent rating system to be used for determining each vulnerability’s risk level in 

two time frames— 2020 to mid-century (2050) and 2050 to late-century (2100). 

The methodology for this risk rating system was developed based on a literature 

review of six public agencies’ risk assessment guidance documents (CA EMA 2012; 

U.S. EPA 2012, U.S. EPA 2014; US DOT, 2017; CA Governor’s OPR 2017; U.S. EPA 

(Region 9) 2011), three internal risk assessment frameworks (SCVWD 2016; SCVWD 

2017; SCVWD 2019), a report on agency practices, and other agencies’ climate 

action plans to assess their methods for risk assessment. The literature review also 

considered international risk assessment approaches by the IPCC and International 

Standards Organization (ISO) in order to guide appropriate and consistent use of 

definitions and concepts (Cardona et al., 2012).  

Based on the literature review, a scoring system was developed to enable staff 

workgroups to assign each vulnerability an appropriate level of perceived risk. The 

final risk rating system considered likelihood and consequence of each 

vulnerability. Likelihood is defined as how likely the vulnerability would be to 

manifest in climate impacts for one or more parts of the agency. Consequence is 

defined as how severe an impact is likely to be, if realized. In this risk rating system, 

a vulnerability’s overall level of risk was determined by its relative likelihood and 

consequence scores, on scales of 1 to 4. Risk ratings were assigned for each 

vulnerability based on their scores in likelihood and vulnerability, as shown in Table 

4. 

 

 

89



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   33 
 

Table 4: Risk Rating Matrix 

 Risk Rating  

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

 

Almost  
Certain (4) 

Low Medium High Extreme 

Likely (3) Low Medium High Very High to 
Extreme 

Possible (2) Low Medium Medium Medium 

Unlikely (1) Low Low Low Low 

  Minor (1) Moderate (2) Major (3) Catastrophic 
(4) 

  Consequence 

 

The vulnerability checklist, risk rating system, and summaries of possible climate 

change impacts were distributed to fifteen staff workgroups representing Valley 

Water’s mission areas and objectives. Each workgroup consisted of three to five 

staff with subject-matter expertise as well as an overall understanding of the 

agency’s mission and objectives. These workgroups were tasked with scoring each 

vulnerability for likelihood and consequence in six categories (water reliability and 

quality, flooding, watershed stewardship, asset management, fiscal sustainability, 

and emergency response). Through the risk assessment, some vulnerabilities were 

scored as presenting risk to more than one category. In these instances, the 

relative scores can differ between categories. For example, a vulnerability may be 

of medium risk to flooding at mid-century but of high risk to ecosystems at mid-

century. 

3.1.3.  Peer Review 

The methodology was reviewed by an internal panel of Valley Water staff and by 

an external panel of subject-matter experts. The external peer-review panel 

consisted of Ed Maurer, PhD, Professor of Civil, Environmental, and Sustainable 

Engineering at Santa Clara University; Newsha K. Ajami, PhD, Senior Research 

Engineer at Stanford University’s Woods Institute; and Julia Ekstrom, PhD, Senior 

Environmental Specialist at the California Department of Water Resources.  

3.2. Summary of Results   

Risk assessment results are shown in tables for vulnerabilities related to water supply, flood 

protection, and ecosystem stewardship. A discussion of the risks is presented below each table, 

as they pertain to specific topics. The discussion does not necessarily emphasize risk at the 

90



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   34 
 

perceived levels as determined in the study. Vulnerabilities identified as low risk may  receive 

substantial discussion as they still pose significant risk to particular operational areas. 

3.2.1.  Water Supply Vulnerabilities  

The risk assessment results presented in Table 5 show that several aspects of 

providing a safe, clean, and reliable water supply may be vulnerable to climate 

change. Climate change poses risks to operational flexibility in a number of areas, 

including water availability, demand, water quality, supply-related assets and 

infrastructure, and agency operations. 

Table 5: Water supply vulnerabilities with associated level of assessed risk 

Vulnerability Mid Century Risk Late Century Risk 

Drought High Extreme 

Reduced or altered local or imported 
water volume  High Extreme 

Reduced imported water quality High High 

Stress on water supply assets High High 

Disruption to supply chain Medium High 

Drinking water quality Medium High 

Extreme storm damage to assets Medium High 

Flood impacts to assets Medium High 

Groundwater replenishment 
following drought Medium High 

Wildfire impact to water quality Medium High 

Ability to fund Valley Water 
operations Medium Medium 

Availability of regional partners or 
contractors  Medium Medium 

Changes to regulations Medium Medium 

Disruption of power supply Medium Medium 

Extreme heat impact on physical 
assets Medium Medium 

Groundwater depletion or overdraft Medium Medium 

Invasive species management Medium Medium 

Operational flexibility Medium Medium 

Physical access to facilities and 
project sites Medium Medium 

Recycled water quality or volume  Medium Medium 

Sedimentation impact to water 
supply facilities Medium Medium 

Water quality or quantity stressors to 
aquatic life Medium Medium 

Heat stress to staff or contractors Low Low 

91



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   35 
 

Vulnerability Mid Century Risk Late Century Risk 

Increased water demand Low Low 

Salt‐water intrusion into drinking 
water aquifers  Low Low 

Surface Water Availability  

The availability of local and imported surface water may be vulnerable to changes 

in precipitation patterns, as well as rising temperatures, which increases 

evaporation from surface waters and evapotranspiration that reduces infiltration 

and natural recharge to the local aquifers. Local and imported water availability 

may also be impacted by droughts, which may become more frequent and severe. 

Future droughts have been identified as Valley Water’s primary water supply 

challenge, as water supplies may be insufficient to meet Valley Water’s level of 

service goal10 in the future, according to the agency’s Water Supply Master Plan 

2040. If a drought results in a reduction in surface water sources such that Valley 

Water has to reduce its treated water deliveries, groundwater may be more relied 

upon to meet demands, which may result in groundwater depletion and overdraft. 

This can impact both the immediate availability and longer-term sustainability of 

local groundwater supplies. Groundwater depletion or overdraft during an 

extended drought may cause land subsidence, which threatens infrastructure and 

property and may be irreversible. Recycled water may also be vulnerable to 

drought, as conservation efforts and overall reduction in available local and 

imported supplies for treatment plant delivery during droughts typically reduce the 

amount of wastewater available for recycling. Climate change may reduce surface 

water available for sensitive species in riparian habitats, which could trigger more 

stringent regulation of flows and reduce surface water supplies that Valley Water 

draws from. This could impact both local and imported water reliability. In 

addition, sedimentation resulting from extreme weather events and/or wildfires 

can impact the storage capabilities of reservoirs and reduce managed recharge of 

groundwater.  

Local Stormwater Capture 

Shifts in the timing and intensity of rainfall and runoff could affect the ability to 

capture and use local surface water supplies. It is more difficult to capture rainfall 

when it comes in a few intense storms because reservoirs are more likely to fill and 

spill, or releases are needed to make room for the storm flows. During rainy 

 
10 The Valley Water Board approved an updated long-term water supply reliability level of service goal on January 14, 

2019. The goal is to develop supplies to meet at least 100 percent of annual water demand identified in the Valley 

Water’s Master Plan during non-drought years and at least 80 percent of annual water demand in drought years.  

 

92



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   36 
 

periods, demand for water is typically lower, so the storm flows are difficult to put 

to immediate use. Thus, even if the volume of average annual rainfall stays the 

same, the ability to use local supplies may decrease if it comes in fewer but more 

intense storms. 

Imported Water Availability 

Imported water may be less reliable due to decreasing snowpack in the Sierra 
Nevada and Cascade mountain ranges. More than half of the Sierra Nevada 
snowpack may be lost by the end of the century (Reich et al., 2018). Snowpack may 
dwindle or nearly disappear during droughts (Berg & Hall, 2017). Additionally, 
seasonal shifts associated with climate change may cause snow to melt earlier in 
the season, which can be particularly problematic for imported water supply. 
Runoff from early snowmelt is not as easily conserved in reservoirs and is therefore 
unable to be used to meet summer demand (Wang et al., 2018). The availability of 
water from the Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta watershed (via the SWP and the 
CVP) and from Hetch Hetchy Reservoir (via the San Francisco Public Utilities 
Commission) is dependent on snowpack.  

More precipitation falling as rain and earlier snowmelt may exceed the storage 
capabilities of the existing SWP and CVP reservoirs, which may lead to reduced 
water supply allocations. Increasing drought frequency or intensity would also 
decrease imported water allocations. In addition to reducing Valley Water’s CVP 
and SWP contract allocations, the factors mentioned above would likely reduce the 
amount of water supplies available on the transfer market, which Valley Water 
uses to offset water shortages in dry years.  During droughts, poor water quality in 
the Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta results in significant losses in transferred water 
supplies, as well as reduced pumping to avoid exceeding water quality criteria. 

In addition to the declining snowpack, imported water availability may be impacted 
by rising sea levels, as saltwater intrusion changes the amount of water available 
for export through the Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta watershed. SLR will also put 
additional pressure on fragile Delta levees, making them more susceptible to 
failure.  

The higher end of SLR projections would result in transformative impacts to both 
the Delta ecosystem and imported water supplies.Under high SLR conditions, the 
balance between maintaining cold water pools in upstream reservoirs to support 
salmonid habitat conflicts with the need to release water from reservoirs to control 
salinity in the Delta to meet water quality criteria and supply water to businesses 
and communities. Water quality, flow, and export regulations would be impacted 
by these changes. 

  

93



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   37 
 

Water Demand  

Although an increase in water demand was ranked with a low risk in comparison to 
others assessed, regional water demand may change substantially in coming 
decades. As such, it is an important factor to consider when assessing climate 
vulnerability and risk. Climate change may affect water demand in Santa Clara 
County. As temperatures increase, plant evapotranspiration may also increase and 
both agricultural and household landscapes may require a higher volume of water 
for irrigation. A higher agricultural water demand will likely drive additional 
groundwater pumping, particularly in South County. In addition, several facilities, 
such as energy plants, data centers, and cooling towers are located in the county. 
Higher temperatures may increase demands by these users.   

Climate change will create water quality vulnerabilities in both local and imported 

sources. As water temperatures increase, surface water supplies become more 

vulnerable to the growth of algal blooms, the spread of invasive species, and 

increased evapotranspiration. Extreme storms and wildfires alter regional runoff 

patterns, dispersing greater volumes of sediment, nutrients, and other 

contaminants throughout the watershed. Changing runoff patterns may intensify 

sedimentation into reservoirs and increase their turbidity. This may lead to 

problems in conveyance equipment and filtration systems that are not designed to 

handle increased sediment loads. Detrimental water quality vulnerabilities have 

the potential to affect human health, fisheries, make Valley Water’s compliance 

with water quality regulations more costly, and impact Valley Water’s ability to 

meet its level of service goal. Additionally, impacts to water quality may limit the 

use of some surface water supplies for managed recharge facilities or result in the 

need for additional treatment prior to recharge. By threatening the viability of 

supplies, compounding effects associated with these threats could magnify the 

anticipated challenge of growing water demands.       

Asset Management  

Climate impacts place important water supply assets such as infrastructure and 

equipment under increased stress and can alter their ability to function properly. 

Examples include malfunction of oxygenation systems in reservoirs due to extreme 

heat events, power shutoffs due to wildfire risk affecting water supply equipment 

or power supply, damage to pumping systems or critical equipment by floods, or 

disruption to water supply infrastructure by landslides from extreme storms. 

Baseline Conditions  

Changing baseline conditions and the increasing frequency of weather 

emergencies can be detrimental to Valley Water’s operations in several ways. 

These risks include disruption to the agency’s supply chain; threats to power 

94



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   38 
 

availability; and compromised access to equipment, facilities, and project sites for 

Valley Water staff, contractors, and stakeholders. The capability of staff, 

particularly field staff, will be impacted by extreme weather events, which can 

cause heat stress and exhaustion. 

Regulatory Change and Financial Impacts 

Increased risks to ecosystems resulting from climate change may lead to additional 

regulatory constraints. An altered regulatory environment could impact Valley 

Water’s ability to meet its commitments associated with implementing water 

supply projects by increasing costs or causing delays. Increased risks to ecosystems 

resulting from climate change may lead to additional regulatory constraints on 

both local and imported water operations. Such changes may lead to an increased 

need for coordination with regulatory agencies and reduced water supplies.   

Changing environmental conditions may increase a variety of expenses associated 

with new capital projects. The risk associated with climate change could increase 

project costs.  Potential sources of additional expenses from climate change 

include construction delays, increased mitigation costs, or additional regulatory 

requirements. 

Climate change can accelerate the deterioration of existing infrastructure, leading 

to increased operations and maintenance costs for completed projects.  

3.2.2. Flood Protection  

Climate change impacts such as increased storm frequency and SLR are likely to 

affect Valley Water’s ability to provide flood protection. The flood protection 

vulnerabilities identified in the vulnerability and risk assessment are described in 

Table 6.  

  

95



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   39 
 

 

Table 6: Flood protection vulnerabilities with associated level of assessed risk 

Vulnerability 
Mid Century 
Risk 

Late Century 
Risk 

Ability to fund Valley Water operations High High 

Availability of regional partners or contractors  Medium High 

Coastal assets (including infrastructure) Medium High 

Coastal habitat Medium High 

Disruption to supply chain Medium High 

Extreme storm damage to assets Medium High 

Flow capacity of stream channels Medium High 

Impacts to public infrastructure  Medium High 

Physical access to facilities and project sites Medium High 

Riverine assets (including infrastructure) Medium High 

Riverine habitat Medium High 

Ability to provide flood protection Medium Medium 

Changes to regulations Medium Medium 

Loss of FEMA certification by businesses and 
community Medium Medium 

Sedimentation impact to water supply facilities Medium Medium 

Wildfire altering the landscape and soil conditions Medium Medium 

Extreme Precipitation 

 As it is likely that the frequency of extreme precipitation events will increase by 
mid-century, Santa Clara County is at a higher risk of storm-related flooding. This 
has the potential to damage public and private infrastructure, coastal and riverine 
habitat, and public safety. Existing flood protection facilities are vulnerable to 
climate-related events such as extreme storms and wildfires. For example, creek 
channels in the county, which are maintained to provide adequate flow capacity, 
can become clogged with sediment and debris following a wildfire, decreasing 
capacity to pass flood flows.  

Operational Capacity  

Valley Water’s operational capability to maintain and update flood protection 
assets is threatened by climate change. Access to work areas (for Valley Water 
staff, contractors, and other partners) becomes unpredictable and unsafe during 
floods and these conditions may become more common as flooding becomes more 
frequent and severe. Flooding may also disrupt Valley Water’s supply chain and 
make it harder to obtain the materials and equipment necessary for flood 
protection efforts.  

Funding Security  

96



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   40 
 

Climate change is likely to pose challenges to securing funding for agency projects, 
including flood protection and flood repair projects. Regulations may be changed 
to create additional financial and logistical requirements for flood protection 
projects. An altered regulatory environment could impact Valley Water’s ability to 
meet its commitments associated with implementing flood protection projects by 
increasing costs or causing delays. Increased risks to ecosystems resulting from 
climate change may lead to additional regulatory constraints. Such changes may 
lead to an increased need for coordination with regulatory agencies, as well.  

Some of these costs may impact the community—for example, if climate impacts 
threaten the reliability of existing flood protection assets, businesses and 
communities may no longer qualify for Federal Emergency Management Agency 
(FEMA) flood protection certification and would therefore need to purchase flood 
insurance. Climate change can accelerate the deterioration of existing 
infrastructure, leading to increased operations and maintenance costs for 
completed projects. 

3.2.3. Ecosystem Stewardship 

Ecosystems are vulnerable to various climate change impacts. Some ecosystems 

will struggle to adapt to a changing climatic baseline as temperatures rise and 

precipitation patterns change. Ecosystem vulnerabilities identified in the 

vulnerability and risk assessment are described in Table 7.  

Table 7: Ecosystem stewardship vulnerabilities with associated level of assessed risk 

Vulnerability 
Mid Century 
Risk 

Late Century 
Risk 

Ability to fund Valley Water operations High High 

Climate-sensitive ecosystems High High 

Stewardship or mitigation efforts High High 

Wildfire High High 

Habitat fragmentation impacts on species migration Medium High 

Invasive species or plant diseases Medium High 

Surface water quality Medium High 

Changes to regulations Medium Medium 

Erosion or sedimentation impacts to aquatic habitats.  Medium Medium 

Flood impacts to riverine habitats Medium Medium 

 

Species Vulnerabilities 

 Climate change threatens biodiversity, as urban development has left species with 

limited room to migrate. Drier soils may impact the ability of plant species to 

survive in their native habitats and riverine ecosystems may experience decreasing 

populations of aquatic species. Climate change is likely to exacerbate the spread of 

97



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   41 
 

invasive species and plant diseases that threaten ecosystem health. Aquatic 

ecosystems may see a decrease in surface water quality, which would place stress 

on aquatic life and could result in the spread of invasive species. Climate-related 

ecosystem vulnerabilities may lead to habitat fragmentation, which would impede 

species migration and threaten the connectivity of regional ecosystems.  

Ecosystem-Scale Vulnerabilities 

In addition to ecosystem vulnerabilities to changing baseline conditions, there are 

vulnerabilities to events (such as extreme storms, floods, and wildfires) that are 

projected to become more frequent and severe. Such events can create significant 

ecosystem damage and compromise the quality of wildlife habitat from impacts 

such as erosion or sedimentation.   

 

 

 

Section 2.2.1 discusses water supply vulnerabilities. Some of these items create 

potential vulnerabilities in local ecosystems. If groundwater depletion is severe or 

not managed properly, lower groundwater levels could reduce discharge into 

groundwater dependent ecosystems (GDEs). This, in turn, could result in 

temporary or permanent damage to those ecosystems, even if these ecosystems 

are experiencing typical temperature and precipitation conditions (Klove et al., 

2014).  

Section 2.2.1 also discusses the potential for climate change impacts to reduce the 

availability of imported water. If imported water supply decreases, the need for 

Flooding in the Uvas River in 2019 caused ecosystem damage. Events such as flooding or 

wildfires may become more widespread due to climate change and create further damage across 

California. 

98



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   42 
 

managed recharge to local groundwater and surface water sources will intensify. 

The ecosystem/ habitat functions of local creeks and ponds could be impacted by 

altered patterns of managed recharge. This could place strain on the delicate 

operational balance between constraints on imported and local surface water, 

maintaining healthy riverine ecosystems to comply with fish regulations, and 

meeting Valley Water’s mission to manage a safe and sustainable groundwater 

supply.   

Vulnerabilities in Imported Water Regions 

The regions from which Valley Water sources imported water are also vulnerable 

to climate change impacts. SLR would result in impacts to the Delta ecosystem, 

which in turn would impact imported water availability. SLR would increase salinity 

in the Delta, resulting in the need to release water from reservoirs to push salinity 

back in the Delta to meet water quality criteria and supply water to businesses and 

communities. This would impact the maintenance of cold water pools in upstream 

reservoirs that are crucial for supporting salmonid habitat. 

Regulations and Funding Vulnerabilities 

Regulations that affect agency activities in certain ecosystems may change as 

climate impacts occur, which could require the allotment of additional funding and 

resources to designing and implementing projects that result in ecosystem 

impacts. An example of one such risk would be increased compensatory mitigation 

requirements creating financial and logistical challenges for project 

implementation.  

The State Water Resources Control Board enacted the State Wetland Definition 

and Procedures for Discharges of Dredged or Fill Material into Waters of the State 

(Procedures, effective May 28, 2020), and Implementation Guidance requiring 

climate change assessment in some circumstances when permittees design 

mitigation. This climate change assessment is distinct from an analysis of the 

project’s climate change effects (i.e. emissions) required by the California 

Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). The Procedures assessment considers potential 

impacts of climate change on the long-term viability and success of compensatory 

mitigation. Specifically, an assessment of reasonably foreseeable impacts to the 

mitigation associated with climate change, and any measures to avoid or minimize 

those potential impacts is required. The State Water Resources Control Board 

guidance includes risk levels for ecosystems (see Table 8). 

  

99



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   43 
 

 

Table 8: Factors and risk levels associated with climate change impacts to mitigation projects 

Factor Low Risk Medium Risk High Risk 

Aquatic 
resource 
type 

Lacustrine, large 
riverine wetlands 

Perennial depressional, 
playas, wadable 
perennial streams 

Seasonal depressional, 
vernal pools, episodic 
streams, slope wetlands, 
estuarine wetlands 

Size 
Large size and small 
edge:area ratio 

Medium size and 
medium edge:area ratio 

Small size and large 
edge:area ratio 

Position in 
watershed Upper watershed Mid-watershed Lower watershed 

 

As Table 8 and the Guidelines indicate, with the exception of estuarine and coastal 

wetlands, aquatic resources in the upper portions of watersheds have smaller 

contributing watersheds, so are relatively more vulnerable to climate-driven 

changes in volume, timing, and duration of surface water and/or groundwater. 

Aquatic resources lower in watersheds are more vulnerable to cumulative change 

across broader landscapes. Aquatic resources providing habitat for rare, special-

status, or sensitive species may be less resilient, if the species can only persist in 

limited environmental conditions not supported in a future climate (SWRCB 2020).  

In addition to creating physical risks for ecosystems, climate change has the 

potential to impact Valley Water’s operational capabilities regarding ecosystems. 

The ability to secure funding for ecosystem projects could be compromised by the 

financial risks associated with climate change. Additionally, overall costs associated 

with maintaining ecosystem health and site conditions (i.e. success or performance 

of mitigation habitats) required by environmental permits could increase as 

climate impacts occur. Currently, Valley Water utilizes planting design palettes and 

tools developed by Point Blue for climate-resilient riparian restoration (Parodi et al. 

2014, Point Blue 2016, Point Blue 2017, Thalmayer et al. 2017). 

3.2.4.  Emergency Preparedness 

Climate change increases the possibility of climate-related emergencies such as 

power outages, equipment failure due to heat stress or other climate impacts, 

floods, erosion, and wildfires. Table 9 describes emergency-related vulnerabilities 

identified in the vulnerability and risk assessment.  

  

100



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   44 
 

 

Table 9: Emergency preparedness vulnerabilities with associated level of assessed risk 

Vulnerability 
Mid Century 
Risk 

Late Century 
Risk 

Ability to fund Valley Water operations High High 

Physical access to facilities and project sites Medium High 

Availability of regional partners or contractors  Medium Medium 

Disruption of power supply Medium Medium 

Disruption to supply chain Medium Medium 

Emergencies  

Given the unpredictability of emergency situations, emergency response is 

inherently challenging. Climate change is likely to increase the frequency of 

emergency situations and thus requires additional preparation and planning in 

order to ensure effective and timely responses. While specific emergency 

situations are discussed in the previous sections in the context of the agency 

vulnerability that they are most likely to impact, there are broad operational 

capabilities that are vulnerable to climate change but not specifically related to a 

single mission area, such as funding, access to work areas, and agency supply 

chain.  

Physical access to work areas, materials, and equipment may be compromised 

during emergency situations. Supply chain and power supply interruptions, more 

common in emergencies than in normal conditions, may also threaten Valley 

Water’s ability to respond effectively to emergencies and maintain the agency’s 

vital functions.  

The increased incidence of storms, droughts, extreme heat events, and other 

related emergencies could lead to variable, long-term economic impacts to Valley 

Water. These impacts could come in the form of litigation against Valley Water 

related to climate change hazards, worker compensation claims, or increased 

insurance premiums following emergencies. Additionally, climate-related 

emergencies may result in unanticipated costs associated with damage to assets or 

infrastructure. 

3.3. Discussion 

The results of this vulnerability and risk assessment are presented in specific categories, 

but it is important to recognize that there are many examples of vulnerabilities with the 

potential to impact multiple categories. Some vulnerabilities, particularly those 

pertaining to finance, are likely to impact all areas of Valley Water operations. 

Addressing vulnerabilities with the potential to impact multiple areas of agency 

101



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   45 
 

operations will require the careful development of resilience-building actions that are 

sensitive to the variability of outcomes between affected areas. Furthermore, 

regulatory authority to manage natural resources is inherently divided among different 

levels of government, underscoring the need for meaningful inter-agency collaboration 

to address climate vulnerabilities. Although this vulnerability and risk assessment 

identified a broad set of impacts, it is anticipated that there will be unforeseen 

challenges in addressing climate change. The results of this vulnerability and risk 

assessment were utilized to develop a comprehensive set of goals, strategies, and 

possible actions to address the climate-related challenges Valley Water is likely to face. 

These goals, strategies, and possible actions are described in the next chapter.  

  

102



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   46 
 

Chapter 4: Goals, Strategies, and Possible Actions 

for Mitigation and Adaptation 

 

Goals, strategies, and possible actions were developed to provide a framework for building 

Valley Water's climate resilience. In this CCAP, a goal is a broad primary outcome. There are a 

total of seven goals in the CCAP—three that address GHG mitigation, three that that address 

adaptation in each of Valley Water's mission areas—water supply, flood protection, and 

ecosystem stewardship—and one pertaining to emergency preparedness. Strategies have been 

identified to achieve each goal. Possible actions are also included as steps that can be taken to 

achieve strategies.  

The strategies and possible actions were identified through a series of interviews with Valley 

Water staff, or adapted from Silicon Valley 2.0, Santa Clara County’s climate adaptation 

guidebook. Along with new actions, some of the possible actions included in this chapter have 

already been implemented as a part of Valley Water's ongoing climate change efforts. Other 

actions have been implemented, but could be expanded or applied more widely.   

Beyond the primary intent of enabling climate mitigation and adaptation, many strategies and 

actions will also provide further benefits to Valley Water, the environment and residents of 

Santa Clara County. Typically referred to as co-benefits, these additional benefits extend above 

and beyond developing Valley Water's climate resilience. Although they have not been ascribed 

to individual actions, the following are general categories of co-benefits that implementation of 

this CCAP will support.  

• Additional Environmental Benefits: Additional environmental benefits include benefits 

such as cleaner air, cleaner water, and ecosystem improvements generally. Valley 

Water’s operations will emit fewer air pollutants generated by the combustion of fossil 

fuels by reducing emissions from fleet vehicles and employee commute and procuring 

additional renewable energy and minimizing emissions associated with construction. 

Additionally, water supply adaptation actions have the potential of improving water 

quality along with providing a resilient water supply.  

• Cost Savings: Actions that improve operational efficiency immediately translate 

expenses associated with electricity and fuel purchases into savings. Actions that 

proactively protect capital assets from long-term climate risks could avoid significant 

costs that would otherwise result from reactive responses to future climate impacts. 

• Community Benefit: Many climate actions benefit the community beyond their 

adaptation or mitigation potential. For example, actions that protect and enhance 

recreational opportunities benefit community members for transportation and health 

while also restoring natural habitats and resilient ecosystems.  

103



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   47 
 

• Improved Collaboration and Regulatory Synergy: The scale of climate vulnerabilities and 

interconnectedness of natural resource governance underscores the critical importance 

of collaboration in pursuing climate adaptation. Actions that call for additional external 

coordination and partnerships with cities, agencies and other stakeholders will enhance 

the collective capacity for climate adaptation in the South Bay and beyond. 

Furthermore, this CCAP demonstrates consistency with numerous State level policies 

and plans that have been developed to direct regional and local efforts to address 

climate change. 

The intent of this chapter is not to be prescriptive, but to provide an initial set of possible 

actions. It is expected that additional actions beyond those included in this plan will emerge 

through the implementation program, introduced in Chapter 5. The possible actions listed in 

this chapter are a subset of those listed in Appendix E, which contains a more comprehensive 

list of possible actions. 

Climate Change Mitigation   
The following goals address the ways in which Valley Water can continue to reduce its 

contribution to GHG emissions. In doing so, Valley Water will reduce or eliminate its 

contribution to climate change. The goals address emissions by scope and offer strategies and 

actions to reduce specific sources of emissions. 

Goal 1: Reduce Direct Greenhouse Gas Emissions (Scope 1) 
Reduce Valley Water’s direct emissions of GHGs. 

Scope 1 emissions consist of direct emissions of GHGs from Valley Water-owned sources and 

made up an average of 12.75% of total agency emissions between 2013 and 2017. Valley 

Water’s main sources of Scope 1 emissions are the agency’s fleet, equipment, and natural gas 

use. Reducing Valley Water’s contributions to regional GHG emissions is a crucial component of 

addressing the climate change crisis. Valley Water can directly control changes in agency 

practices and policies to reduce its direct GHG emissions.  

1.1. Strategy: Reduce GHG emissions associated with the Valley Water fleet.  

Fleet emissions can be reduced by replacing older, less efficient vehicles with more fuel-

efficient or electric vehicles (EVs). Valley Water plans to continue to adding electric 

vehicles and other fuel-efficient vehicles to its fleet, along with implementing policies to 

promote EV use. Examples of possible additional actions from Appendix E include: 

● Expand knowledge on vehicle emission reduction techniques, devices, and 

equipment, and add sustainability training to regular training offers.  

● Evaluate the feasibility of having a Valley Water pool vehicle(s) available for 

employee use at strategic locations. 

104



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   48 
 

1.2. Strategy: Reduce GHG emissions from trips between Valley Water offices 

and work sites.  

Trips between Valley Water offices and fieldwork sites are a source of direct GHG 

emissions. These emissions have been reduced by providing more technology to support 

remote meetings, reducing the number of trips made, improving the availability of drop-

in cubicles and pool vehicles, and by streamlining routes to minimize vehicle miles 

traveled (VMT). As these measures continue to be taken, emissions will continue to be 

reduced.  Examples of possible additional actions from Appendix E include:  

• Encourage remote and public transit options for off-site meetings.  

• Improve and maintain remote meeting technology throughout Valley Water.  

• Promote fuel-saving policies and protocols while driving Valley Water vehicles (e.g. 

idling policy, limiting hard braking, efficient route planning). 

1.3. Strategy: Reduce GHG emissions associated with Valley Water-owned 

equipment.  

Valley Water can continue to replace various types of agency-owned equipment with 

more fuel efficient or electric models to reduce GHG emissions and updating diesel 

engines to comply with Tier 4 diesel emissions mandate. Valley Water can further lower 

GHG emissions by improving the efficiency of heating and cooling equipment at agency 

facilities. Examples of possible additional actions from Appendix E include: 

• Promote use of renewable energy for Valley Water field monitoring equipment. 

• Incorporate best practices to reduce emissions from natural gas, currently used in 

heating and cooling Valley Water facilities. 

1.4. Strategy: Minimize GHG emissions associated with planning, design, 

construction, operation, and maintenance of capital projects.  

It is important to plan and design capital projects in a climate-conscious manner that 

considers their near- and long-term contribution to Valley Water emissions. Project 

design instructions can be updated to prioritize the use of efficient technologies during 

construction, operation, and maintenance of capital projects. Examples of possible 

actions from Appendix E include: 

• Incorporate energy, water, and fuel efficiency into capital project planning, design,  

and long-term maintenance. 

105



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   49 
 

• Update internal capital project work instructions to incorporate GHG reduction 

measures, such as Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design (LEED)/ Envision 

certification elements, and considerations for continued maintenance with input 

from capital project staff and O&M.  

• Promote knowledge and offer training on construction-related emission reduction 

technologies, devices, and equipment. 

1.5. Strategy: Increase GHG sequestration on Valley Water properties and 

other areas. 

Increasing carbon sequestration, or capturing and storing carbon dioxide, is a way for 

Valley Water to compensate for its direct GHG emissions. This is currently performed by 

planting native and drought-tolerant plants with high carbon sequestration rates in 

mitigation, enhancement, and landscaping projects. An additional example of a possible 

action from Appendix E is:  

• Evaluate the need for purchasing carbon offsets to sequester carbon in non-Valley 

Water areas, such as the Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta region, as a method for 

maintaining carbon neutrality. 

1.6. Strategy: Continue to update Valley Water's GHG accounting practices. 

Using the best available methodology to calculate agency emissions is needed to 

accurately track efforts towards GHG reductions. This has included continuously 

updating the methods used to calculate Valley Water’s GHG inventory to utilize best 

practices for prior inventories. . Moving forward, Valley Water can continue to expand 

the inventory to account for additional sources and sinks of GHGs, such as restoration 

projects and biological processes from water treatment and reservoirs. Additional 

sources of GHGs, such as emissions from construction, could be considered for 

inclusion. Updating Valley Water’s methodology could help in developing and 

prioritizing the agency’s continued efforts to reduce GHG emissions. A comprehensive 

list of actions taken by Valley Water to update accounting practices can be found in 

Appendix E.  

Goal 2: Expand Renewable Energy and Improve Energy Efficiency 

(Scope 2) 
Expand procurement of energy from renewable sources and improve the energy efficiency of 

Valley Water’s facilities.  

GHG emissions from purchased electricity are considered Scope 2 emissions. About 95% of 

Valley Water’s purchased energy is provided by PWRPA, a Joint Powers Authority that provides 

106



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   50 
 

energy from utility-scale solar projects and hydroelectricity. Valley Water has been a member 

of PWRPA since 2004. Scope 2 emissions typically make up a small part of Valley Water 

emissions. In 2016, purchased electricity accounted for only 1% of total emissions. Scope 2 

emissions may account for a higher percentage of Valley Water emissions in years when 

PWRPA’s proportion of hydroelectricity is lower due to drought. For example, purchased 

electricity accounted for approximately 28% of total Valley Water emissions in 2015.  

2.1. Strategy: Continue to support increased renewable energy in the agency’s 

energy portfolio.   

Continuing efforts can further expand renewable and carbon-free energy procurement 

for the agency’s remaining energy demand. An additional possible action from Appendix 

E includes:  

• Examine and pursue opportunities to increase renewable energy in Valley 

Water’s energy portfolio. 

 

2.2. Strategy: Continue to improve energy efficiency at agency facilities. 

Valley Water can continue to optimize energy use and reduce overall demand for 

purchased electricity. Energy efficiency can be improved throughout Valley Water, from 

workplaces to water treatment facilities. This can be achieved by improving the 

efficiency of office equipment and expanding energy and water saving measures 

through the Green Business Program’s certification.  Additionally, Valley Water can 

further develop a policy that improves building sustainability, maintain regular energy 

assessments, and implement energy-saving technologies as they become available. 

Valley Water can also promote energy efficient behaviors through staff education. 

Valley Water can continue monitoring energy optimization practices and expand the 

most impactful efforts. 

Goal 3: Reduce Indirect Greenhouse Gas Emissions (Scope 3) 
Reduce Valley Water’s indirect emissions of GHGs. 

Scope 3 emissions are indirect emissions that occur as a result of Valley Water’s operations but 

are emitted from sources not owned or controlled by Valley Water. Three sources of Valley 

Water’s indirect emissions are employee commutes, business travel and imported water 

operations. While not quantified at this time, less significant sources of indirect emissions (such 

as solid waste and wastewater, purchasing, and investment) can also be reduced to further 

Valley Water’s commitment to a reduced carbon footprint.  

Strategies for reducing emissions from imported water operations are largely collaboration-

based, as the carbon intensity of imported water operations cannot be controlled by Valley 

Water. Goal 4, which covers water supply adaptation, proposes actions that focus on expanding 

107



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   51 
 

local, climate-resilient sources of water. These sources of water are less carbon-intensive than 

imported water. Implementing these actions could lower Valley Water’s dependence on 

imported water, thereby reducing Valley Water’s indirect emissions.  

3.1. Strategy: Reduce emissions from Valley Water employee commutes. 

Employee commutes make up approximately 10% of Valley Water’s total yearly 

emissions. Policies that allow alternative schedules, incentivize in-county housing, and 

increase the accessibility of public transit can all contribute to reducing indirect GHG 

emissions. In addition, continuing to invest in EV charging stations and improve the 

convenience of their use can further incentivize low-emission commuting.  An example 

of a possible action from Appendix E is: Develop policies and best practices to promote 

successful telework agreements and outcomes for compatible positions.  

3.2. Strategy: Reduce waste produced at facilities. 

Valley Water’s indirect emissions from waste can be minimized by agency policies and 

procedures that make work processes electronic, discourage staff from using disposable 

items, and spread information about the climate impacts of waste. The implementation 

of an agency-wide approach to waste can guide Valley Water to further reduce waste 

generated from our operations. Current practices include expanding electronic 

document management to minimize paper-use, along with making double-sided 

printing the default and minimizing single-use items in Valley Water facilities.  Examples 

of possible actions from Appendix E include: 

• Expand waste reduction measures as a part of the Green Business Program 

• Develop an agencywide approach for diverting and minimizing wastes.      

3.3. Strategy: Continue to create and expand other efforts to minimize indirect 

emissions. 

Valley Water’s purchasing power and investment activities can be leveraged to minimize 

indirect emissions. Specific methods of accomplishing this would be to spread 

awareness of Valley Water’s purchasing policy that considers environmental 

implications, and to continue divesting from major polluters. Other areas in which Valley 

Water will maintain its work relative to this goal include supporting California’s 

Department of Water Resources (DWR) efforts to lower the carbon intensity of 

imported water, and strengthening a sustainability training program for Valley Water 

employees including spreading awareness of low carbon meals such as vegetarian and 

locally sourced food. Valley Water can also continue divestment efforts from companies 

with significant carbon footprints. These actions in addition to others that Valley Water 

hopes to continue in order to reduce indirect missions can be found in Appendix E.   

108



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   52 
 

Adaptation 
Climate change already threatens Valley Water’s operations and the communities that it serves. 

Adaptation is critical to ensure that Valley Water’s operations are resilient to anticipated 

climate threats. The following goals are organized by the three main aspects of Valley Water’s 

operations and examine the ways in which it can become and remain resilient to climate 

changes.  

Goal 4: Water Supply Adaptation 
Maximize the climate resilience of the county’s water supply. 

As Santa Clara County’s water wholesaler, Valley Water must maintain a stable and climate 

resilient water supply and prepare infrastructure for the impacts of climate change. To achieve 

this, Valley Water needs to prepare for the effects of climate change on the availability and 

sustainability of its local and imported water supplies, both of which are threatened by climate 

impacts. Valley Water also plays an important role in fostering demand management and water 

conservation within the County. 

4.1. Strategy: Diversify local water supplies and expand drought-resistant 

water supply.  

Imported water sources are especially vulnerable to the effects of climate change. 

Valley Water must diversify local water supply, and expand climate resilient, local 

sources of water.  This can be achieved by continuing to implement local water supply 

projects included in the Water Reuse and Water Supply Master Plans, such as those 

which increase recycled water availability, local groundwater recharge, and stormwater 

capture. Examples of possible additional actions from Appendix E include: 

• Increase capture of stormwater and floodwater, such as through green 

infrastructure projects. 

• Resolve regulatory challenges to innovative local water solutions and increase 

coordination on alternative water uses.   

 

 

4.2. Strategy: Improve demand management and increase water conservation 

efforts. 

Valley Water can prepare for climate impacts on water supply by encouraging more 

efficient use of water through implementing demand management and water 

conservation efforts. Collaboration between the various water management 

109



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   53 
 

stakeholders is critical to maximize the success of this adaptation strategy. Examples of 

possible actions from Appendix E include: 

• Support programs to reduce pipeline leakage.   

• Increase coordination between Valley Water, land use agencies, and water 

retailers on water and land use management. 

• Promote efforts related to water conservation and reuse. 

• Engage in proactive, consistent, and coordinated drought and water shortage 

contingency planning. 

4.3. Strategy: Increase reliability of imported water.  

Imported water is a crucial component of Valley Water’s water supply and climate 

change threatens both its quantity and quality. Valley Water will continue to collaborate 

with providers of imported water regional and statewide issues including Sacramento-

San Joaquin Delta watershed management to protect critical imported water assets 

from flood risk and foster ecosystem health and connectivity. In addition, Valley Water 

can continue to support and invest in state and regional watershed policy solutions 

along with the storage and conveyance solutions outlined in the Water Supply Master 

Plan.  Examples of possible additional actions from Appendix E include: 

• Collaborate on and support Sierra Nevada watershed protection and restoration 

projects. 

• Support State efforts to develop emergency preparedness plans to respond to 

large Delta levee failure events that threaten imported water supplies. 

4.4. Strategy: Support efforts to maintain and enhance source water quality.  

Water quality is likely to be affected by climate change impacts. For example, higher 

temperatures may increase the growth of algae (including HABs) or pathogens in 

reservoirs. Rising sea levels may increase salt-water intrusion into our groundwater and 

imported water supplies. In order to anticipate and address these changes, Valley Water 

can contribute to improvements that expand monitoring and maintenance of source 

water quality throughout the county and Central Valley. As a part of this strategy, Valley 

Water can continue to support improvements in local land management practices using 

the latest science and technology which can then help maintain or enhance local water 

quality. Examples of possible additional actions from Appendix E include: 

• Expand participation in collaborative projects focusing on protecting and improving 

imported source water quality, such as with State Water Contractors, DWR, the US 

Bureau of Reclamation, and CDFW.  

110



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   54 
 

• Expand support for local and imported source water quality efforts, through 

outreach on water reuse and source water quality.  

4.5. Strategy: Implement source water improvement and water treatment 

actions. 

Valley Water can lead planning efforts and research strategies to maintain and improve 

water quality in response to climate impacts. This is currently done through preparing 

and implementing a Source Water Quality Improvement Plan. Examples of possible 

additional actions from Appendix E include: 

• Design and develop invasive species control strategies for Valley Water’s facilities 

and conveyance structures that are specific to target organisms. 

• Promote and participate in research projects related to climate change impacts on 

source water quality.  

• Conduct a study to identify potential adaptive water treatment actions that 

increase the resilience and flexibility of treatment systems to the impacts of 

climate change. 

4.6. Strategy: Increase flexibility and resilience of water utility operations and 

assets. 

Valley Water’s extensive network of water utility assets will be vulnerable to climate 

impacts, such as the increased incidence of extreme weather events. Expanded 

forecasting and planning efforts can be undertaken to ensure the near- and long-term 

integrity of these assets and their operations for the safety of people, infrastructure, 

and ecosystems within the county and related to imported water operations. Examples 

of possible actions from Appendix E include: 

• Expand efforts to improve the resilience of local and imported storage, managed 

recharge facilities, and conveyance and increase groundwater storage.  

• Expand the development of asset management plans that incorporate the latest 

climate change science and solutions.  

• Address aging infrastructure through continued implementation of the 2016 

Infrastructure Reliability Plan. 

• Improve hydrologic forecasting to better adapt to changing hydrology and 

extremes. 

4.7. Strategy: Support ecological water supply management objectives.  

111



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   55 
 

Appropriate management of the county’s waterways and careful consideration of 

environmental impacts to the Sacramento San Joaquin Delta ecosystem is not only 

crucial for water supply, but integral to maintaining ecological stability. To this effect, 

water supply planning and operations should consider the effects of climate change on 

aquatic ecosystems. Valley Water currently participates in joint efforts with partner 

water agencies to support ecosystem restoration, research, and management along 

with participating in statewide environmental flows discussions. Furthermore, Valley 

Water can continue to implement adaptive management to support fisheries, such as 

the Fisheries and Aquatic Habitat Collective Effort (FAHCE). An additional action from 

Appendix E is listed below. 

• Develop climate resilient water supply options to support fisheries and other 

aquatic and stream-dependent resources.  

Goal 5: Flood Protection Adaptation in Santa Clara County 
Ensure that residents, infrastructure, and waterways are protected from the risks associated 

with increased flooding.  

Santa Clara County’s flood-related risks will increase due to climate change impacts such as 

increasing storm intensity and SLR. Valley Water must continue to reduce flood risk to natural 

and built environments and work with stakeholders to maximize flood preparedness. Valley 

Water will need to anticipate and plan for the specific impacts of flooding on agency assets and 

ensure the agency’s continued ability to provide flood protection and flood response.  

5.1. Strategy: Minimize riverine flooding risks. 

Climate change impacts on the frequency and severity of fluvial flooding are difficult to 
predict with certainty.  Valley Water must incorporate this uncertainty into planning 
future flood protection projects. Risk can be reduced in fluvial (riverine) areas by 
implementing projects that enhance flow capacity and improve infiltration by widening 
and restoring floodplain, stream-upland transition areas, and upland buffers around 
streams.  Natural flood protection projects that incorporate stormwater infiltration have 
multiple benefits; they improve stream water quality, promote aquifer recharge, and 
lower flood risk. Valley Water can achieve this through expanding procedures to plan 
and design capital projects around long-term stream resilience. Examples of possible 
additional actions from Appendix E include: 

• Research, design and implement multi-benefit flood protection projects such as 

green infrastructure to increase channel conveyance capacity and protect or 

improve ecosystem resilience. 

• Create natural floodplain areas, stream-upland transition areas, and upland buffers 

around streams.  

112



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   56 
 

• Expand procedures to plan and design capital projects for long-term stream 

resilience.   

5.2. Strategy: Minimize flood risk in coastal areas. 

Areas near San Francisco Bay are vulnerable to flooding from SLR and storm-related 

inundation. To enhance coastal flood protection, Valley Water must incorporate SLR 

projections into flood protection projects and continue to support collaborative efforts 

to improve the connectivity of coastal and tidally influenced areas, including natural 

bay-shore ecosystems. This can be done by continuing to work on capital projects and 

coordination with cities to address SLR related flooding risks, such as the South San 

Francisco Bay Shoreline Project.11,12  Furthermore, Valley Water can maintain efforts to 

incorporate SLR data in flood protection projects and establish a Valley Water standard 

for SLR. A few possible additional actions from Appendix E include: 

• Expand collaboration on fluvial and coastal flood protection projects consistent 

with the Natural Flood Protection (NFP) procedures. 

• Increase the connectivity of coastal habitats along the Bay’s shoreline with the tidal 

zones of streams, including wetland restoration and ecotone levees (SFEI, 2017).  

• Install tidal gages to monitor and communicate rising sea levels. Evaluate potential 

communications that consider the digital divide. 

5.3. Strategy: Improve the flood preparedness of people, property, and 

habitat. 

As Santa Clara County’s flood protection agency, Valley Water facilitates access to 

information to prepare for flooding events. The creation of a flood warning system 

developed in collaboration with other local agencies could help avoid flood-related 

damage and minimize threats to safety. Continuing to enhance monitoring and 

maintenance programs of flood protection infrastructure can similarly improve flood 

preparedness, along with maintaining coordination with stakeholders, land use agencies 

and municipalities.  Additionally, Valley Water can continue to obtain land in areas 

vulnerable to flooding for the purpose of improved flood protection and channel 

restoration, when possible. Examples of possible additional actions from Appendix E 

include: 

 
11 County of Santa Clara Office of Sustainability and Climate Action. 2015. Silicon Valley 2.0: Climate Adaptation 
Guide. 
12 The Shoreline Project is currently under construction and will provide FEMA protection for up to a 100 year 
storm event with 2.59 ft of sea level rise.  

113



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   57 
 

• Coordinate with land use agencies to protect and restore historic floodplain areas 

and vegetated buffers along creeks. 

• Consider relocation, purchase and/or structure elevation of properties subject to 

recurring flooding risk, when possible. 

5.4. Strategy: Implement projects and plans to increase the flexibility and 

resilience of flood protection operations and assets.   

Valley Water’s infrastructure and assets will be more vulnerable to damage as flooding 

risk increases. Planning efforts should consider this risk and incorporate additional 

provisions for flood protection into all phases of project planning. Additionally, flood 

protection measures that have been proposed by past plans but have not been 

implemented should be assessed for consideration of climate risk and implemented in a 

timely manner. In addition, optimization of reservoir management can continue to 

minimize impacts from extreme storm events and thus increase the resilience of these 

areas. Examples of possible actions from Appendix E include: 

• Develop planning, design, and maintenance procedures to address assets' climate 

related flood impacts.  

• Develop asset management plans for flood protection assets that incorporate 

climate change solutions and promote adaptation, resilience, and flexibility.  

• Implement projects that maximize streams' climate resilience. Update stream 

maintenance to integrate larger stream functions and consider the impacts of 

climate change. 

• Implement the flood protection measures included in existing plans, such as the 

One Water Plan and Storm Water Resources Plans. 

5.5. Strategy: Expand the use of flood forecasting and modeling tools in the 

planning and design of agency projects to maximize protection from flood 

risks. 

Current information on flooding risk will become outdated and inadequate in the 

context of a changing climate. For this reason, up-to-date forecasting and modeling are 

essential for successful adaptation. Valley Water can continue to leverage tools from 

FEMA, USGS, BCDC, and other agencies to evaluate flood risk. Furthermore, the 

monitoring and maintenance of assets can be enhanced by expanding the use of rain 

and stream gauges to help identify areas with a risk of flooding during storm events. 

Finally, Valley Water can continue to consider hydrology and hydraulics modeling that 

accounts for climate change in planning and design of all Valley Water projects.  Doing 

114



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   58 
 

so would allow for consideration of increased flood flows to enhance flood resilience of 

future projects. Examples of possible additional actions from Appendix E include: 

• Model predicted changes in the frequency and magnitude of flooding events13 to 

inform project planning and design. 

• Seek additional technologies to improve forecasting of floods, storm surges, and 

other events resulting from rising sea level and changing flood patterns14.  

Goal 6: Ecosystem Adaptation in Santa Clara County 
Protect and enhance ecosystem health to build climate resilience.  

Native ecosystems in Santa Clara County will be forced to adapt to the region’s changing 

climatic baseline. Regional ecosystem health has been compromised by Santa Clara Valley’s 

long history of development. Ecosystems continue to experience the adverse impacts of urban 

land use. Valley Water can work to maximize ecosystem resilience to climate change through 

watershed stewardship, natural flood protection, and water supply reliability projects, 

programs, and partnerships.  

6.1. Protect and enhance riverine, coastal, and other watershed ecosystems to 

improve climate change resilience and wildlife habitat. 

Climate change amplifies environmental stresses to species.  It is important to conserve 

as much ecosystem area and variety to help fish, wildlife, and plants adapt to climate 

change and sustain diverse and healthy populations. Valley Water incorporates 

environmental conservation and restoration into its water supply and flood protection 

activities. This includes the goal of keeping ecosystems as healthy as possible for their 

intrinsic value, their ability to provide habitat for species, their flood protection benefits, 

and their impact on regional water quality. Moving forward, Valley Water should also 

identify and incorporate climate-resilient best practices in its stewardship projects and 

programs. To achieve this, Valley Water can continue to complete Integrated Water 

Resources Master Plans for each watershed as part of the One Water program. In 

addition, continuing to effectively manage surface water quality in creeks and reservoirs 

and addressing algal blooms and mercury contamination in Valley Water’s reservoirs 

can support the health and resilience of riverine, coastal, and other watershed 

ecosystems. Examples of possible additional actions from Appendix E include: 

 
13 County of Santa Clara Office of Sustainability and Climate Action. 2015. Silicon Valley 2.0: Climate Adaptation 
Guide. 
14 Valley Water’s existing flood forecasting system, which is installed in some creeks in Santa Clara County, uses 
rainfall forecasts to predict creek hydrographs and anticipates flood risk a couple of days in advance. This system 
could be refined and installed in additional locations.  

115



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   59 
 

• Expand efforts to protect, restore, enhance, and maintain riparian areas and 

wetlands, and transitional and upland buffers around those features.  

• Identify and prioritize habitat enhancement needs and incorporate into stream 

stewardship and mitigation projects using watershed profiles developed through 

the One Water Plan. 

• Develop climate-resilient best practices to be used in the implementation of 

habitat conservation and restoration activities, including upper watershed areas 

that drain to creeks and baylands. 

• Consider Board of Directors’ policies that promote environmental stewardship 

principles to address climate change impacts (e.g. improve land connectivity, 

watersheds, and green stormwater infrastructure). 

6.2. Develop and expand programs and plans that support more climate-

resilient ecosystems.  

Restoring aquatic habitat connectivity in Santa Clara Valley’s stream ecosystems will 

increase the resilience of native fish to a shifting climate.  Contiguous riparian corridors 

provide similar benefits to birds and wildlife, and upland, regional habitat connectivity is 

critical to the adaptive capacity of predator populations. Valley Water must balance its 

water supply and flood protection missions with environmental stewardship, and should 

continue to restore vital stream habitat connectivity while also supporting landscape-

scale ecosystem resiliency through grants and partnerships. In order to achieve this, 

Valley Water can maintain its funding of relevant habitat restoration projects along with 

continuing to work towards a geomorphic watershed approach when designing stream 

and mitigation projects. Furthermore, Valley Water can continue to support and expand 

funding partnerships with regional land conservation and management agencies to 

promote landscape-scale habitat linkages and preserve conservation values. Examples 

of additional actions from Appendix E include: 

• Support mutually beneficial inter-agency programs, plans, and projects that restore 

regional ecosystems. 

• Consider Board policies to promote habitat connectivity when planning, designing, 

operating, and maintaining Valley Water’s flood protection and water supply 

infrastructure. 

• Expand the Guidelines & Standards for Land Use Near Streams (Water Resources 

Protection Collaborative) to include climate change resilience considerations. 

• Improve aquatic habitat connectivity through the Fisheries and Aquatic Habitat 

Collaborative Effort (FAHCE) and other programs and projects. 

116



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   60 
 

• Develop policies and guidelines for handling effects of wildfires.  

6.3. Strategy: Expand the availability of data on regional ecosystems to avoid 

detrimental climate change-related ecosystem impacts. 

As climate change becomes more apparent in regional ecosystems, it will be important 

to use accurate, long-term data to detect and respond to these climate change impacts. 

Collaboration and data sharing with other stakeholders in ecosystem management is 

essential to maintaining the integrity of ecosystems throughout the county and region.  

Valley Water plans to continue collecting baseline information about natural assets for 

the purpose of guiding future restoration activities. Examples of possible additional 

actions from Appendix E include: 

• Expand monitoring and modeling of the effects of climate change-related events 

(e.g., droughts and wildfires) on ecosystems, stream flows, and water quality to 

avoid detrimental impacts15.  

• Research climate impacts on invasive species to guide efforts at prevention and 

removal16.  

• Participate in research projects related to climate impacts on Valley Water’s 

mission areas, including water supply management, watershed studies, ecological 

conditions, and impacts of wildfire on water quality.  

Emergency Preparedness 
Given the unpredictability of climate impacts, it is necessary to prepare for the increase in 

emergencies that Valley Water is likely to face due to climate change. Valley Water’s goals and 

strategies towards emergency preparedness can help ensure the safety and wellbeing of its 

community and operations. 

Goal 7: Emergency Preparedness 
Maximize resilience to climate change-related emergencies.  

The prevalence of climate-related emergencies will rise as the impacts of climate change 

become more apparent in the Bay Area and statewide. Valley Water can improve the 

effectiveness of both its inter-agency and community-wide emergency plans and procedures in 

order to be prepared for climate-related emergencies. 

 
15 County of Santa Clara Office of Sustainability and Climate Action. 2015. Silicon Valley 2.0: Climate Adaptation 
Guide. 
16 County of Santa Clara Office of Sustainability and Climate Action. 2015. Silicon Valley 2.0: Climate Adaptation 
Guide. 

117



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   61 
 

7.1. Strategy: Maximize Valley Water's emergency preparedness for climate 

related impacts. 

In order to be prepared for the increasing prevalence of climate-related emergencies, 

such as floods, extreme heat events, fires, or severe storms, Valley Water can improve 

its internal procedures for emergency education and response as well as its engagement 

with external emergency planning groups. Having the necessary knowledge, training, 

and the appropriate physical capacity to respond to emergency situations will ensure 

that Valley Water remains resilient and prepared. In order to do so effectively, Valley 

Water can continue to develop a centralized approach to understand future climate 

changes and impacts through the development of climate modeling and analysis 

methods, such as preferred general circulation models (GCMs) and downscaling 

methods. These would be used throughout Valley Water to assess, predict, and respond 

to climate change. Examples of possible additional actions from Appendix E include: 

• Expand and improve Valley Water procedures for responding to climate-related 

emergencies.  

• Expand and improve staff training on emergency response. 

• Ensure safety and continued operation of Valley Water assets during climate-

related emergencies.   

118



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   62 
 

Chapter 5: Next Steps  

The CCAP sets overall goals, establishes strategies, and suggests possible actions to provide a 

foundation for Valley Water’s response to climate change. Implementation of this plan will 

require continued involvement from Valley Water staff and engagement with relevant 

stakeholders. The implementation of two initial actions are the first steps to achieving the goals 

set forth in this plan. These items, which involve an update to the BOD’s carbon neutrality 

policy and development of the CCAP implementation program, are outlined below.  

5.1 Revision of Existing Carbon Neutrality Policy 

The first action proposed for the initial implementation of the CCAP is an update of the BOD’s 

carbon neutrality policy. Since the carbon neutrality policy was enacted in 2012, Valley Water 

has been successful in achieving carbon neutrality in most years. It is recommended that the 

BOD update the carbon neutrality policy to continue mitigating Valley Water’s GHG emissions 

to meet or exceed carbon neutrality in years beyond 2020. Currently, Valley Water’s Board 

Policy and Planning Committee is providing guidance on updated policies related to climate 

change.  

5.2 Development and Launch of CCAP Implementation 

Program 

Valley Water’s CCAP is developing an ongoing implementation program in order to successfully 

achieve its goals. The CCAP program will build capacity for Valley Water to implement its CCAP. 

An implementation team, made up of staff representing various areas of Valley Water 

operations, is proposed to manage this Climate Change Action Implementation Program (CCAP 

program or program). The implementation team will facilitate the prioritization and 

development of specific actions and the development of workplans and budgets. The 

implementation team will also track and monitor progress towards climate resilience. This will 

be done through a highly collaborative approach, as actions identified in the CCAP touch nearly 

every facet of Valley Water operations. The launch of this program will ensure the goals and 

strategies in the CCAP are implemented through an inclusive, iterative and adaptive process. 

Purpose of the Implementation Program   
Broadly, the purpose of the CCAP program will be to instill climate change actions within Valley 

Water operations. In other words, climate change actions will be mainstreamed into 

operations, including by incorporating climate change considerations into existing work 

procedures such as Quality and Environmental Management Systems (QEMS), natural flood 

protection (NFP), etc. As stated above, the CCAP program’s purpose is: 

119



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   63 
 

• Develop and prioritize specific actions with workplans and budgets 

• Ensure coordination and communication 

• Implement actions 

• Monitor and report on progress towards GHG reductions and adaptation 

Process for Implementation Program Development and Maintenance 
The implementation program development began in 2020 with the support of a CivicSpark 
fellow who helped to complete the CCAP and begin the development of this program. The 
program will be inclusive of internal stakeholders from all impacted areas of the agency. With 
facilitation by and support from the CCAP implementation team, these stakeholders will use 
their expertise to finalize and prioritize actions that consider both CCAP goals and the priorities 
and budgets of individual workgroups. Unit-level points of contact will be developed for climate 
issues and questions, creating a network of agency staff that can support each other through 
the implementation process.  
One of the central environmental challenges that the implementation plan will address is the 

role of uncertainty and need for adaptive management. Climate change projections are 

frequently updated and reflect a range of possible impacts rather than a singular, definitive 

impact. Given this fact, it is essential that the procedures for CCAP implementation allow for 

flexibility in developing and executing specific actions. 

The implementation program will also include updates to Board Committees, the Board of 

Directors, staff, and external stakeholders. The CCAP implementation team will manage this 

collaborative process.   

Key Components of the Implementation Program 
While the CCAP program will evolve to reflect changing circumstances, there are a few key 

elements of the program. These elements are to finalize and perform a set of actions to achieve 

strategies, metrics to evaluate and report on success of implemented projects, and a clear 

system of reporting and outreach to accompany the individual actions.  

Finalize and Perform Actions for Climate Resiliency 

 An initial step of the CCAP program is to select, prioritize, and finalize the possible 

actions that were developed by the CCAP. A quantitative methodology for selection and 

prioritization of actions is being developed. Actions will be assessed for criteria relevant 

towards meeting specific CCAP goals and their expected co-benefits, such as benefits to 

disadvantaged communities. Resource availability will also be considered in the 

prioritization and selection of actions for implementation. Quantifying the level of GHG 

reduction is an important criteria for prioritizing mitigation actions.  The level of risk 

associated with a vulnerability is an important criteria for guiding prioritization of 

adaptation actions.  

120



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   64 
 

Program staff will work with workgroups to determine the appropriate method to 

achieve an action. Program staff will also facilitate developing schedules, budgets, and 

workplans for actions, including ownership and scope. In addition, the CCAP program 

will work to ensure that a project’s stakeholders collaborate in determining the best 

methods to ensure project resilience. For example, it is crucial that O&M units have the 

ability and resources to monitor and maintain CCAP actions after they are implemented, 

in order to ensure that they continue to contribute to climate preparedness. Program 

staff may lead implementation of mitigation and adaptation measures that improve 

sustainability at Valley Water’s campus. 

Success Metrics for Completed Projects and Actions 

Projects that have been implemented will be monitored and tracked in order to 

accurately understand progress towards the CCAP’s goals. Program staff will also 

continue to track metrics available through the Climate Change Registry.  Program staff 

will develop metrics to assess actions to determine their success, and to inform future 

efforts. Budgetary metrics will ensure that the program is filtering for actions that use 

funding effectively. Some metrics will vary depending on the type of action—

infrastructure projects can be assessed for their physical resilience to realized climate 

impacts, whereas outreach efforts may be assessed using both qualitative and 

quantitative factors.  

It is recommended that the implementation program include a centralized approach for 

climate projections (e.g., preferred GCMS, RCPs, downscaling methods, etc.) and 

handling specific data related to CCAP actions in each of Valley Water's mission areas. 

This will help Valley Water staff to assess, predict, and respond to climate change 

impact effectively and consistently across work areas. This centralized approach would 

need to be reassessed on a regular basis for agreement with the latest climate science. 

Subsequent Reporting and Outreach 

The CCAP program will be regularly assessed and progress will be reported to the Board, 

stakeholders, and the public. Additionally, the CCAP will be updated as needed. Program 

staff will engage in outreach activities with stakeholders to ensure participation in CCAP 

actions as needed. Reporting and outreach will be crucial in guiding the agency towards 

a way of operating that incorporates and appropriately prioritizes climate 

considerations. Ultimately, the CCAP program will instill climate resilience as a priority 

throughout Valley Water’s many areas of work by building upon and expanding the 

agency’s existing climate-related efforts.  

121



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   65 
 

 

 

  

122



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   66 
 

References 

Ackerly, D., Jones, A., Stacey, M., & Riordan., B. (2018). San Francisco Bay Area Summary 
Report. In California’s Fourth Climate Change Assessment. 

Bay Area Conservation and Development Commission (BCDC). (2020). Adaptation to Rising 
Tides Bay Area: Regional Sea Level Rise Vulnerability and Adaptation Study. Retrieved 
from: http://www.adaptingtorisingtides.org/wp-
content/uploads/2020/03/ARTBayArea_Main_Report_Final_March2020_ADA.pdf 

Berg, N., & Hall, A. (2017). Anthropogenic warming impacts on California snowpack during 
drought. Geophysical Research Letters, 44(5), 2511–2518. 
https://doi.org/10.1002/2016GL072104 

California Air Resources Board (CARB). (2017). California’s 2017 Climate Change Scoping Plan. 
Retrieved from: https://ww2.arb.ca.gov/our-work/programs/ab-32-climate-change-
scoping-plan/2017-scoping-plan-documents 

California Climate-Safe Infrastructure Working Group (CCSIWG). (2018). Paying It Forward: The 
Path Toward Climate-Safe Infrastructure in California. Retrieved from: 
https://resources.ca.gov/Initiatives/Building-Climate-Resilience 

California Emergency Management Agency (CA EMA) & California Natural Resources Agency 
(CNRA). (2012). California Adaptation Planning Guide: Planning for Adaptive Communities. 
48. 
http://resources.ca.gov/docs/climate/01APG_Planning_for_Adaptive_Communities.pdf 

California Energy Commission. (2020). Exploring California's Climate Change Research. 
Retrieved from: https://cal-adapt.org/ 

California Governor's Office of Emergency Services. (2020). California Adaptation Planning 
Guide. Retrieved from: 
https://www.caloes.ca.gov/HazardMitigationSite/Documents/CA-Adaptation-Planning-
Guide-FINAL-June-2020-Accessible.pdf#search=adaptation%20planning%20guide 

California Governor's Office of Planning and Research. (2020). Adaptation Clearinghouse. 
Retrieved from: https://resilientca.org/ 

California Natural Resources Agency (CNRA). (2018). Safeguarding California Plan: 2018 Update. 
Retrieved from: http://resources.ca.gov/initiatives/building-climate-resilience. 

California State Water Resources Control Board (SWRCB). (2020). Implementation Guidance for 
the State Wetland Definition and Procedures for Discharges of Dredge of Fill Material to 
Waters of the State. Retrieved from: 
https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/water_issues/programs/cwa401/docs/dredge_fill/revi
sed_guidance.pdf 

California Water Code § 106.3.  

123

http://resources.ca.gov/initiatives/building-climate-resilience
https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/water_issues/programs/cwa401/docs/dredge_fill/revised_guidance.pdf
https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/water_issues/programs/cwa401/docs/dredge_fill/revised_guidance.pdf


 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   67 
 

Cardona, O. D., Van Aalst, M. K., Birkmann, J., Fordham, M., Mc Gregor, G., Rosa, P., Pulwarty, 
R. S., Schipper, E. L. F., Sinh, B. T., Décamps, H., Keim, M., Davis, I., Ebi, K. L., Lavell, A., 
Mechler, R., Murray, V., Pelling, M., Pohl, J., Smith, A. O., & Thomalla, F. (2012). 
Determinants of risk: Exposure and vulnerability. Managing the Risks of Extreme Events 
and Disasters to Advance Climate Change Adaptation: Special Report of the 
Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, 9781107025, 65–108. 
https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781139177245.005 

County of Santa Clara Office of Sustainability and Climate Action. (2015). Silicon Valley 2.0: 

Climate Adaptation Guide. Retrieved from: 

https://www.sccgov.org/sites/osp/Documents/SV2/1_150803_Final%20Guidebook_W_

Appendices.pdf  

Department of Drinking Water (CA DDW). (2017). Climate Change Adaptation and Resiliency for 
Water Utilities [Excel spreadsheet]. 

Governor’s Office of Planning and Research (CA Governor’s OPR). (2017). Planning and 
Investing for a Resilient California: A Guidebook for State Agencies. 
http://opr.ca.gov/docs/20180313-Building_a_Resilient_CA.pdf 

Griggs, G, Árvai, J, Cayan, D, DeConto, R, Fox, J, Fricker, HA, Kopp, RE, Tebaldi, C, Whiteman, EA 
(California Ocean Protection Council Science Advisory Team Working Group (CA OPC)). 
(2017). Rising Seas in California: An Update on Sea-Level Rise Science. California Ocean 
Science Trust. 

Gurdak, J. J. (2017). Groundwater: Climate-induced pumping. Nature Geoscience, 10(2), 71-71. 

Hoover, D. J., Odigie, K. O., Swarzenski, P. W., & Barnard, P. (2017). Sea-level rise and coastal 
groundwater inundation and shoaling at select sites in California, USA. Journal of 
Hydrology: Regional Studies, 11, 234-249. 

Kløve, B., Ala-Aho, P., Bertrand, G., Gurdak, J. J., Kupfersberger, H., Kværner, J., ... & Uvo, C. B. 
(2014). Climate change impacts on groundwater and dependent ecosystems. Journal of 
Hydrology, 518, 250-266. 

Lowe, S., S. Pearce, M. Salomon, J. Collins, D. Titus. (2020). Santa Clara County Five Watersheds 
Assessment: A Synthesis Report of the Santa Clara Valley Water District’s Safe, Clean 
Water and Natural Flood Protection Program Priority D: Project D5. Report prepared for 
the Santa Clara Valley Water District (Valley Water) by the San Francisco Estuary Institute-
Aquatic Science Center.  

Morello-Frosch, R.; Pastor, M.; Sadd, J.; Shonkoff; S.. (2007). The climate gap: inequalities in 
how climate change hurts Americans & how to close the gap. University of California, 
Berkeley. 

Moyle PB, JD Kiernan, PK Crain, RM Quinones. (2013). Climate change vulnerability of native 
and alien freshwater fishes of California: a systematic assessment approach. PLoS ONE 8(5) 

124

https://www.sccgov.org/sites/osp/Documents/SV2/1_150803_Final%20Guidebook_W_Appendices.pdf
https://www.sccgov.org/sites/osp/Documents/SV2/1_150803_Final%20Guidebook_W_Appendices.pdf


 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   68 
 

NOAA National Centers for Environmental information. (2020). Climate at a Glance: County 
Time Series. Retrieved from https://www.ncdc.noaa.gov/cag/ 

Parodi, J., Giambastiani, L., Seavy, N., Thalmayer, I., Lasky, E., & Gardali, T. (2014). A How-to 
Guide and Metadata for the Riparian Restoration Design Database. Point Blue 
Conservation Science. Retrieved from: http://www.pointblue.org/wp-
content/uploads/2018/12/CSRToolkit.pdf. 

Pierce, D. W., Kalansky, J. F., & Cayan, D. R. (2018). Climate, Drought, and Sea Level Rise 
Scenarios for the Fourth California Climate Assessment. California’s Fourth Climate Change 
Assessment, August 2018. www.climateassessment.ca.gov. 

Point Blue Conservation Science (Point Blue). (2016). Climate-smart Planting Design Tool. 
Retrieved from: http://www.pointblue.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/CSRToolkit.pdf 

Point Blue Conservation Science (Point Blue). (2017). Marsh-Upland Transition Zone Climate-
smart Restoration Tool. Retrieved From: http://www.pointblue.org/wp-
content/uploads/2018/12/CSRToolkit.pdf 

Reich, KD, Berg, N., Walton, DB., Schwartz, M., Sun, F., Huang, X., and Hall, A.. (2018). Climate 
Change in the Sierra Nevada: California’s Water Future. UCLA Center for Climate Science. 

Rhoades, A. M., Ullrich, P. A., & Zarzycki, C. M. (2018). Projecting 21st century snowpack trends 
in western USA mountains using variable-resolution CESM. Climate Dynamics, 50(1–2), 
261–288. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00382-017-3606-0 

San Francisco Estuary Institute-Aquatic Science Center (SFEI). (2017). Changing Channels: 

Regional Information for Developing Multi-benefit Flood Control Channels at the Bay 

Interface. A SFEI-ASC Resilient Landscape Program report developed in cooperation with 

the Flood Control 2.0 Regional Science Advisors, Publication #801, San Francisco Estuary 

Institute-Aquatic Science Center, Richmond, CA. 

Santa Clara Valley Water District (SCVWD). (2015). Urban Water Management Plan.  

Santa Clara Valley Water District (SCVWD). (2016). Infrastructure Reliability Report.  

Santa Clara Valley Water District (SCVWD). (2017). Local Hazard Mitgation Plan.  

Santa Clara Valley Water District (SCVWD). (2019). Water Supply Master Plan.Selmon, M., 

Schwarz, A., & Coombe, P. (2019). Climate Action Plan, Phase 3: Climate Change 

Vulnerability Assessment. California Department of Water Resources.  

Swain, D.L., Langenbrunner, B., Neelin, J.D. et al. Increasing precipitation volatility in twenty-

first-century California. Nature Climate Change 8, 427–433 (2018). 

https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-018-0140-y 

Thalmayer, I., Gardali, T., Wood, J., Seavy, N., Giamastiani, L., Parodi, J. (2017). Marsh-Upland 

Transition Zone Climate-Smart Restoration Tool User Guide. Point Blue Conservation 

125

https://www.ncdc.noaa.gov/cag/


 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   69 
 

Science. Retrieved from: http://www.pointblue.org/wp-

content/uploads/2018/12/CSRToolkit.pdf. 

United States Department of Transportation (US DOT); Federal Highway Administration. (2017). 

Vulnerability Assessment and Adaptation Framework. 

United States Environmental Protection Agency (U.S. EPA). (2010). Climate change vulnerability 
assessments: A review of water utility practices. 1–37. 

United States Environmental Protection Agency (U.S. EPA). (2014). Being Prepared for Climate 

Change. A Workbook for Developing Risk-Based Adaptation Plans. 128. 

United States Environmental Protection Agency (U.S. EPA) (Region 9), & California Department 

of Water Resources (CA DWR). (2011). Climate Change Handbook for Regional Water 

Planning. 

United States Environmental Protection Agency (U.S. EPA). (2018). Greenhouse Gasses at EPA. 

Retrieved from: https://www.epa.gov/greeningepa/greenhouse-gases-epa.  

Wang, J., Yin, H., & Chung, F. (2011). Isolated and integrated effects of sea level rise, seasonal 
runoff shifts, and annual runoff volume on California’s largest water supply. Journal of 
Hydrology, 405(1-2), 83-92. 

Wang, J., Yin, H., Reyes, E., Smith, T., & Chung, F. (2018). Mean and Extreme Climate Change 

Impacts on the State Water Project. California’s Fourth Climate Change Assessment. 

Publication Number: CCCA4-EXT-2018-004. 

Wasley, E., Jacobs, K., &Weiss, J.. (2020). Mapping Climate Exposure and Climate Information 

Needs to Water Utility Business Functions. The Water Research Foundation.  

  

126

https://www.epa.gov/greeningepa/greenhouse-gases-epa


 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   70 
 

Appendix A: Climate Change Framework Roles  
(To be updated with latest subject matter experts) 

Climate Change Role Assigned Staff 

Lead Manager (Adaptation) Vincent Gin 

Lead Manager (Mitigation) Bhavani Yerrapotu 

Lead Subject Matter Experts 

Water Utility Enterprise Samantha Greene 

Natural Flood Protection Liang Xu 

Environmental Stewardship Lisa Porcella 

GHG Mitigation John Brosnan 

Subject Matter Experts 

Climate Change Science and Weather Cris Tulloch 

Water Supply Jing Wu 

Imported Water Frances Brewster 

Water Demand James O'Brien 

Sea Level Rise Rechelle Blank 

Flood Protection Design Ngoc Nguyen 

Water Quality/Green Stormwater Infrastructure Kirsten Struve 

Extreme Climate Change and Emergency Planning Alexander Gordon 

Hydrology Liang Xu 

Habitat Doug Titus 

Biology (Flora) Janell Hillman 

Biology (Fauna) Doug Padley 

Shoreline Afshin Rouhani 

Energy Use John Brosnan 

Embedded Energy Jeannine Larabee 

Regulations and Reporting Sarah Young 

Buildings and Grounds Jesse Soto 

Climate Change Reports and News (Climate Change 
Portal) 

Bob Teeter 

Communications Support Matt Keller  

 

  

127



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   71 
 

Appendix B: Table of Relevant Board Policies and Goals  
Valley Water’s policies are currently being updated. This table will be revised following these updates. 

Board Item Language 

Policy No. E-1 
(Mission and 
General 
Principles) 

Provide Silicon Valley safe, clean water for a healthy life, environment, 
and economy. 

 General Principle 1.1: An integrated and balanced approach in managing a 
sustainable water supply, effective natural flood protection, and healthy 
watersheds is essential to prepare for the future. 

 General Principle 1.4: A net positive impact on the environment is 
important in support of the District mission and is reflected in all that we 
do. 

Policy No. E-2 
(Water Supply) 

There is a reliable, clean water supply for current and future generations.  

 Water Supply Goal 2.1: Current and future water supply for 
municipalities, industries, agriculture, and the environment is reliable. 

Policy No. E-3 
(Natural Flood 
Protection) 

There is a healthy and safe environment for residents, businesses, and 
visitors, as well as for future generations.  

 Natural Flood Protection Goal 3.1: Provide natural flood protection for 
residents, businesses, and visitors. 

 Natural Flood Protection Goal 3.2: Reduce potential for flood damages. 

Policy No. E-4 
(Water 
Resources 
Stewardship) 

There is water resources stewardship to protect and enhance watersheds 
and natural resources and to improve the quality of life in Santa Clara 
County.  

 Water Resources Stewardship Goal 4.1: Protect and restore creek, bay, 
and other aquatic ecosystems. 

 Water Resources Stewardship Goal 4.3: Strive for zero net greenhouse gas 
emission or carbon neutrality. 

Policy No. EL – 4 
(Financial 
Management) 

Financial planning for any fiscal year shall be aligned with the Board’s 
Ends, not risk fiscal jeopardy, and be derived from a multi-year plan. With 
respect to the actual, ongoing financial condition and activities, the BAOs 
shall provide for the development of fiscal sustainability. 

 No investments will be made in fossil fuel companies with significant 
carbon emissions potential.  

  

128



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   72 
 

Appendix C: Links to Relevant Plans and Programs  
Valley Water Plans and Programs 

Link 

Local Hazard Mitigation Plan  

One Water Plan  

Water Supply Master Plan (WSMP)  

Groundwater Management Plan  

Safe, Clean Water and Natural Flood Protection Program   

Santa Clara Basin Storm Water Resources Plan 

South County Stormwater Resource Plan 

Stream Maintenance Program (SMP) 

 

Collaborative Plans and Programs 

Link 

South Bay Salt Pond Restoration Project 

South San Francisco Bay Shoreline Project 

Integrated Regional Water Management Plans (IRWMP) 

Valley Habitat Plan (VHP) 

Silicon Valley 2.0 

Santa Clara Valley Agricultural Plan 
  

129

https://www.valleywater.org/sites/default/files/2019-12/2017%20FINAL%20LOCAL%20HAZARD%20MITIGATION%20PLAN%20v.%2012-20-19.pdf
https://www.valleywater.org/your-water/one-water-plan
https://www.valleywater.org/sites/default/files/Water%20Supply%20Master%20Plan%202040_11.01.2019_v2.pdf
https://s3.us-west-2.amazonaws.com/assets.valleywater.org/2016%20Groundwater%20Management%20Plan.pdf
https://www.valleywater.org/sites/default/files/Safe%20Clean%20Water%2015-year%20Program.pdf
https://scvurppp.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/08/SCB_SWRP_FINAL_8-20-19.pdf
https://www.valleywater.org/sites/default/files/South%20County%20Stormwater%20Resource%20Plan.pdf
https://s3.us-west-2.amazonaws.com/assets.valleywater.org/R14290%20SMP%20%E2%80%93%20COMBINED%20%2803-05-20%29.pdf
https://www.southbayrestoration.org/
http://www.southbayshoreline.org/
https://www.valleywater.org/your-water/water-supply-planning/integrated-regional-water-management
https://scv-habitatagency.org/178/Santa-Clara-Valley-Habitat-Plan
https://www.sccgov.org/sites/osp/Pages/sv2.aspx
https://www.sccgov.org/sites/dpd/DocsForms/Documents/SCV_ActionPlan.pdf


 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   73 
 

Appendix D: Methodology to Calculate Carbon Emissions and Offsets  
 

 

 

 

 

 

  

130



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   74 
 

  

131



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   75 
 

  

132



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   76 
 

 

  

133



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   77 
 

  

134



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   78 
 

Appendix E: Table of Goals, Strategies, and Possible Actions 
Appendix E includes a list of the possible actions Valley Water can undertake to accomplish the Goals 

and Strategies of the CCAP. The status column indicates whether the action is already taking place at 

Valley Water (ongoing), if it is an expansion of Valley Water’s current work (expand), or if it is an entirely 

new project (new). Finally, external collaboration refers to whether or not this project will require 

collaboration with external organizations or agencies.  

 
Status 

External 

Collaboration 

1.  Goal 1: Reduce Direct Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Emissions 

(Scope 1) 

  

1.1. Strategy 1: Reduce GHG emissions associated with the 

Valley Water fleet.  
  

1.1.1. Continue adding Electric Vehicles or other fuel-efficient 

vehicles to fleet, as stated by existing board policy I-EL-

5.11.a. xi.. 

Ongoing  No 

1.1.2. Install additional Electric Vehicle chargers at Almaden 

Campus and at other offices. 
Ongoing No 

1.1.3. Develop a Valley Water-wide Electric Vehicle Charger 

Policy that will promote employee EV use. 
Ongoing No 

1.1.4. Expand the use of Valley Water pool vehicle(s) and 

Evaluate feasibility of having additional Valley Water 

pool vehicles available for employee work-use at south 

county facility (and at future drop-in locations if they 

are created). 

New No 

1.1.5. Support the replacement or addition of high fuel 

efficiency and low emission vehicles when such choice 

is cost-effective and meets performance requirements.  

Ongoing No 

1.1.6. Expand knowledge on vehicle emission reduction 

techniques, devices, and equipment. Add sustainability 

training to regular training offers.   

New No 

1.2.  Strategy 2: Reduce GHG emissions from trips between 

Valley Water offices and work sites.  
  

1.2.1. Improve availability of drop-in cubicles in multiple 

facilities.  

Ongoing No 

1.2.2. Ensure that maintenance routes are optimized to 

minimize GHG emissions.  
Ongoing No 

1.2.3. Develop a Valley Water-wide soil management plan to 

reduce truck hauling trips and encourage more 

efficient use of sediment/soil/spoils. 

Ongoing Yes 

135



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   79 
 

 
Status 

External 

Collaboration 

1.2.4. Encourage remote and public transit options for off-

site meetings, which may include adding a field in Off-

site Training/Travel Request forms where employee 

must state if there is a remote or public transit option 

available.  

New No 

1.2.5. Improve and maintain remote meeting technology 

throughout Valley Water. Provide training on use and 

management support of remote attendance. 

Ongoing Yes 

1.2.6. Improve awareness of existing off-road diesel engine 

idling policy and consider expanding idling policy to 

other vehicles. 

Ongoing No 

1.2.7. Promote fuel-saving policies and protocols such as, 

when safe, limiting hard braking while driving Valley 

Water vehicles, etc. 

Ongoing No 

1.3. Strategy 3: Reduce GHG emissions associated with Valley 

Water-owned equipment.  
  

1.3.1. Replace diesel forklifts with electric forklifts (currently 

60% of forklifts are electric) 
Ongoing No 

1.3.2. Update diesel engines to comply with the Tier 4 diesel 

emissions government mandate. (Currently, Valley 

Water is one year ahead of the mandate's schedule).  

Ongoing  No 

1.3.3. Continue to replace less efficient equipment with more 

fuel-efficient Class 4 equipment (ex. generators, boats, 

other equipment, etc.) or devices that are powered by 

renewable energy (e.g., solar powered gages and 

monitoring devices). 

Ongoing  No 

1.3.4. Incorporate best practices to reduce emissions from 

natural gas (currently used in heating and cooling 

Valley Water facilities).  

New No 

1.3.5. Promote use of renewable energy for Valley Water 

field monitoring equipment.  
New No 

1.4. Strategy 4: Minimize GHG emissions associated with 

planning, design, construction, operation, and maintenance 

of capital projects.   

  

1.4.1. Incorporate new energy, water, and fuel efficient 

technologies into capital project planning and design. 

Minimize construction-related vehicle miles traveled.  

Expand  No 

1.4.2. Update internal capital project work instructions to 

incorporate GHG reduction measures, such as LEED/ 
New No 

136



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   80 
 

 
Status 

External 

Collaboration 

Envision certification elements, and considerations for 

continued maintenance with input from capital project 

staff and O&M staff.  

1.4.3. Provide recommendations to change internal capital 

project specifications through the Technical Review 

Committee to reduce GHGs and add fleet and 

equipment specifications for contractors. 

New No 

1.4.4. Promote knowledge on construction related emission 

reduction technologies, devices, and equipment. 

Provide training to support capital project resiliency. 

New No 

1.4.5. Incorporate process-based geomorphic channel 

designs into capital projects and utilize natural energy 

and local materials. 

New No 

1.5. Strategy 5: Increase GHG sequestration in Valley Water 

properties and other areas.  
  

1.5.1. Identify native and drought tolerant plants with high 
sequestration rates and promote the use of these 
species in mitigation, enhancement, and landscaping 
projects, including at Valley Water offices.  

Ongoing No 

1.5.2. Evaluate the need for purchasing carbon offsets to 
sequester carbon in non-Valley Water areas, such as in 
the Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta region, as a method 
for maintaining carbon neutrality. 

New No 

1.6. Strategy 6: Continue to update Valley Water's GHG 

accounting practices. 
  

1.6.1. Follow the latest protocols to calculate direct (Scope 1) 

emissions from owned or controlled sources and 

receive third party verification of emissions. 

Ongoing No 

1.6.2. Apply the best methodology and account for additional 

sources of direct emissions, such as biological 

processes from reservoirs, water treatment, fugitive 

emissions, capital project construction, infrastructure 

maintenance and repair, etc. 

Expand No 

1.6.3. Continue to update the accuracy of Valley Water’s 

sequestration calculations by using best available 

habitat-specific sequestration rates for Santa Clara 

County or analagous habitat types and, as appropriate, 

expand sources for sequestration to include in Valley 

Water’s contribution to regional habitat restoration 

efforts.  

Expand Yes 

137



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   81 
 

 
Status 

External 

Collaboration 

1.6.4. Evaluate the benefits of preparing a qualified 

Greenhouse Gas Reduction Plan that meets the 

requirements of CEQA Guidelines §15183.5, which 

would allow streamlining of project specific GHG 

analyses in subsequent CEQA documents.  

New  Yes  

2. Goal 2: Expand Renewable Energy Portfolio and Improve 

Energy Efficiency (Scope 2) 
  

2.1. Strategy 1: Increase the percentage of renewable energy in 

the agency’s energy portfolio. 
  

2.1.1. Continue to procure carbon-free and renewable 

energy from the Power and Water Resources Pooling 

Authority (PWRPA).   

Ongoing Yes 

2.1.2. Examine and pursue opportunities to increase 

renewable energy in Valley Water’s energy portfolio, 

in accordance with the latest Energy Optimization 

Plan.  

Expand Yes 

2.1.3. Participate in the Community Choice Aggregation 

Program or other green power purchasing options.  
Ongoing Yes  

2.2. Strategy 2: Improve energy efficiency at agency facilities.   

2.2.1. Update or expand the Energy Optimization Plan and 

other energy efficiency efforts. Regularly track the 

implementation of this plan and Valley Water’s 

progress towards energy efficiency.  

Ongoing No 

2.2.2. Continue to maintain status as a Certified Green 

Business. Expand associated energy and water saving 

measures. 

Ongoing  No 

2.2.3. Develop and implement a Valley Water LEED and/or 

Building Sustainability Policy, building on prior efforts.  
Ongoing No 

2.2.4. Conduct regular energy assessments and encourage 

use of energy efficient technologies (including at the 

treatment plants, the Advanced Water Purification 

Center, and water pumping equipment).  

Ongoing No 

2.2.5. Expand energy efficient lighting systems (e.g.: 

automatic light shutdowns, motion sensor lights, 

attaching task lights to timers, install more efficient 

bulbs).  

Ongoing No 

2.2.6. Set office equipment such as multifunction printers to 

automatically enter Power Save Mode after inactivity. 
Ongoing No 

138



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   82 
 

 
Status 

External 

Collaboration 

Switch to secure printing (printers require passwords) 

rather than individual printers for sensitive 

documents. Reduce office equipment when possible 

(such as physical servers). 

2.2.7. Promote sustainable workplace behavior (i.e. turning 

off computers and other devices at night).  
Ongoing No 

2.2.8. Engage in outreach and information sharing at the 

local, regional, state, and national levels to promote 

energy efficiency both internally and in the water 

industry.  

Ongoing Yes 

3. Goal 3: Reduce Indirect GHG Emissions (Scope 3)    

3.1. Strategy 1: Reduce emissions from Valley Water employee 

commutes.  
  

3.1.1. Expand alternative schedules, provide incentives for 

public transit and carpooling, and incentivize in-

county housing for employees. 

Ongoing No 

3.1.2. Develop policies and best practices to promote 

successful telework agreements and outcomes for 

compatible positions. 

Expand No 

3.1.3. Expand use of laptops instead of desktops, file sharing 

platforms, and other appropriate technologies to 

support paperless work and meetings.  

Expand No 

3.1.4. Provide incentives for staff to use public 

transportation and carpool and provide virtual 

attendance options for meetings/business trips.  

Ongoing No 

3.1.5. Improve availability of drop-in cubicles in multiple 

facilities.  
Ongoing No 

3.1.6. Install more bicycle lockers, shower facilities, and EV 

chargers. 
Ongoing No 

3.2. Strategy 2: Reduce waste produced at facilities.    

3.2.1. Expand waste reduction measures as part of the 

Green Business program. 
Expand No 

3.2.2. Reduce waste from Valley Water facilities. This 

includes reducing cafeteria waste, office waste, and 

chemical waste from treatment processes.  

Ongoing No 

139



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   83 
 

 
Status 

External 

Collaboration 

3.2.3. Make double-sided printing a default setting and keep 

printing equipment in optimal performance condition 

to reduce waste from misprinting.  

Ongoing No 

3.2.4. Expand electronic document management to 

minimize use of paper (ex. electronic routing forms 

such as DocuSign, Seamlessgov, LegiStar, CAS, Digital 

Library, making tablets available for document review 

in the field, etc.).  

Ongoing No 

3.2.5. Develop an agencywide approach, such as a plan or a 

checklist, for diverting and minimizing waste 

generation.  

New No 

3.3. Strategy 3: Create and expand other efforts to minimize 

indirect GHG emissions.  
  

3.3.1. Comply with Valley Water’s environmentally 

preferable purchasing policy and promote awareness 

of green procurement processes. 

Ongoing  No 

3.3.2. Continue divesting from fossil fuel companies with 

significant carbon emissions potential.   
Ongoing No 

3.3.3. Support and track DWR’s efforts to lower the carbon 
intensity of imported water. 

Ongoing Yes 

3.3.4. Support regional and state-level policies that would 
reduce GHG emissions. 

Ongoing Yes 

3.3.5. Support employee engagement through the Green 
Team and other internal communication strategies.  

Ongoing No 

3.3.6. Work with local agencies to determine solutions to 
reduce chemical use and waste while ensuring health 
and safety guidance/ standards are followed. 

Ongoing Yes 

3.3.7. Promote awareness of low carbon footprint meal 
options, such as vegetarian meals and locally sourced 
items.  

Ongoing  Yes 

4. Goal 4: Water Supply Adaptation   

4.1. Strategy 1: Diversify local water supplies and expand 

drought-resistant water supply. 
  

4.1.1. Develop potable reuse consistent with the Water 

Reuse Master Plan and Water Supply Master Plans. 
Expand Yes 

4.1.2. Expand non-potable reuse as identified in the Water 

Reuse Master Plan and enhance collaboration with 

wastewater producers. 

Expand Yes 

4.1.3.   Collaborate on water reuse research projects.  Ongoing  Yes 

140



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   84 
 

 
Status 

External 

Collaboration 

4.1.4. Expand on-site reuse, such as by exploring graywater 

decentralized system opportunities and by developing 

onsite reuse guidance principles for the BOD to 

consider.  

Expand Yes 

4.1.5. Resolve regulatory challenges to innovative local 

water solutions and increase coordination on 

alternative water uses.  

Expand Yes 

4.1.6. Increase local groundwater recharge through 

methods such as increasing South County recharge, 

increasing off-stream recharge capacity and 

associated conveyance, and planning to ensure pond 

maintenance restores recharge capacity.  

Expand Yes 

4.1.7. Increase capture and infiltration of stormwater and 

floodwater. Implement green stormwater 

infrastructure projects to maximize runoff retention, 

including those identified in the Stormwater 

Resources Plans as having water supply benefits. 

Expand Yes 

4.1.8. Expand collaboration with stormwater agencies and 

South County stormwater permittees on green 

infrastructure and stormwater infiltration to ensure 

groundwater quality is protected.  

Expand  Yes  

4.1.9. Consider other local water projects identified in the 
Water Supply Master Plan (WSMP). 

Expand Yes 

4.2. Strategy 2: Improve demand management and increase 

water conservation efforts. 

  

4.2.1. Support programs to reduce pipeline leakage.   Expand Yes 

4.2.2. Increase coordination between Valley Water, land use 

agencies, and water retailers on water demand and land 

use.  

Expand  Yes 

4.2.3. Engage in proactive, consistent, and coordinated 

drought and water shortage contingency planning.  

Expand Yes 

4.2.4. Increase water conservation by methods such as 

encouraging climate appropriate landscapes.  

Expand Yes 

4.2.5. Increase collaboration on land use issues and promote 

regulations related to water use efficiency and reuse. 

New Yes 

4.3. Strategy 3: Increase reliability of imported water.   

141



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   85 
 

 
Status 

External 

Collaboration 

4.3.1. Collaborate on and support Sierra Nevada watershed 

protection projects, such as by researching 

opportunities for GHG mitigation credit and 

collaborating with Sierra Nevada agencies (e.g. Sierra 

Nevada Watershed Improvement Program).  

New Yes 

4.3.2. Support and invest in regional and state watershed 

and policy solutions as identified in the Water Supply 

Master Plan.  

Ongoing Yes 

4.3.3. Collaborate on imported water regional and statewide 

issues including Delta watershed management to 

protect critical imported water assets, reduce flood 

risk, and foster ecosystem health and connectivity. 

Ongoing  Yes 

4.3.4. Support state efforts to develop emergency 

preparedness plans to respond to large Delta levee 

failure events that threaten imported water supplies.  

New No 

4.4. Strategy 4: Support efforts to maintain and enhance source 

water quality. 
  

4.4.1. Support improvements in local land management 

practices (in county) using the latest science and 

technology.   

Ongoing Yes 

4.4.2. Promote and participate in state and regional 

collaborative projects with State Water Contractors, 

Department of Water Resources, US Bureau of 

Reclamation, California Department of Fish and 

Wildlife, and others focusing on source water quality 

throughout the state. Focus on wildfire effects, algal 

blooms, Delta water quality, and grants or financial 

support for water quality protection. 

Expand Yes 

4.4.3. Promote integrated pest management, best 

management practices, and reduced pesticide use. 
Expand Yes 

4.4.4. Enhance collaboration with wastewater agencies and 

publicly owned treatment works (POTWs) on source 

control and wastewater collection system 

maintenance to protect recycled water and 

groundwater 

Expand Yes 

4.4.5. Conduct outreach to the public on water reuse and 

source water quality.  
Expand Yes 

4.4.6. Support and enhance other local source water quality 

efforts. 
Expand Yes 

142



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   86 
 

 
Status 

External 

Collaboration 

4.5. Strategy 5: Implement source water improvement and 

water treatment actions. 
  

4.5.1. Prepare a Source Water Quality Improvement Plan 

and develop modeling that predicts incoming water 

quality.  

Expand No 

4.5.2. Plan, design, and construct alternate reservoir intake 

locations to adapt to changing water quality 

conditions.  

Expand No 

4.5.3. Implement water quality improvement methods such 

as oxygenation to address climate impacts on 

reservoir water quality.  

Ongoing  No 

4.5.4. Design and develop invasive species control strategies 

for Valley Water’s facilities and conveyance structures 

that are specific to the target organism (e.g. quagga 

and zebra mussels).  

Expand No 

4.5.5. Expand the monitoring programs to address climate 

impacts on cyanotoxins. 
Expand No 

4.5.6. Promote and participate in research projects related 

to climate change impacts on source water quality.  
Expand Yes 

4.5.7. Study climate change impacts of tertiary treated 

water discharge on bay water quality (e.g. occurrence 

and fate of contaminants of emergent concern 

(CECs)).  

New Yes 

4.5.8. Develop a sampling plan to assess water quality 

following wildfires to reduce wildfire threat to local 

water quality.  

New No 

4.5.9. Provide rebates and grants for technology that 

reduces salt in wastewater.  
Ongoing No 

4.5.10. Conduct a study to identify potential adaptive water 

treatment solutions that increase the resilience and 

flexibility of treatment systems to the impacts of 

climate change.  

New No 

4.6. Strategy 6: Increase flexibility and resilience of water utility 

operations and assets. 
  

4.6.1. Develop storage, recharge, and conveyance options 

that support climate change adaptation efforts and 

are climate resilient. 

Expand No 

143



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   87 
 

 
Status 

External 

Collaboration 

4.6.2. Develop asset maintenance plans that incorporate 

climate change solutions and improve the reliability of 

aging infrastructure.  

Expand No  

 

4.6.3. Improve hydrologic forecasting to better adapt to 

changing hydrology and extremes.   
New No 

4.6.4. Increase resiliency to climate change impacts that 

create risks for operations and water utility assets, 

such as through including small-scale mitigation and 

adaptation efforts in projects’ O&M cycles.   

Expand No 

4.6.5. Ensure that people, vehicles, and equipment can 
continue to access pipelines and other assets.  

Ongoing Yes 

4.7. Strategy 7: Support ecological water supply management 

objectives. 
  

4.7.1. Develop climate resilient water supply options to 

support fisheries and other aquatic and stream-

dependent resources.  

Expand Yes 

4.7.2. Implement the Fisheries and Aquatic Habitat 

Collective Effort (FAHCE) operations and adaptive 

management to support fisheries’ environmental 

conditions.  

Ongoing Yes 

4.7.3. Continue to participate in statewide environmental 

flows discussions. 
Ongoing Yes 

4.7.4. Participate in joint efforts with our partner water 

agencies and other state and federal agencies to 

support ecosystem restoration, research, and science-

based water management for the SWP and CVP. 

Ongoing Yes 

5. Goal 5: Flood Protection Adaptation in Santa Clara County   

5.1. Strategy 1: Minimize riverine flooding risks.    

5.1.1. Design and implement multi-benefit flood protection 

projects that increase channel conveyance capacity 

and improve ecosystem resilience while reducing 

maintenance needs.  

Expand No 

5.1.2. Research innovative, climate-conscious approaches to 

flood protection. 
Expand Yes 

5.1.3. Design, build, and maintain multi-benefit green 

stormwater infrastructure as part of Valley Water 
New Yes 

144



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   88 
 

 
Status 

External 

Collaboration 

projects, such as those identified in the Storm Water 

Resource Plans.  

5.1.4. Create natural floodplain areas, stream-upland 

transition areas, and upland buffers around streams 

locally.  

New Yes 

5.1.5. Expand procedures to plan and design capital projects 

for long-term stream resilience, including defining life-

time costs, ensuring maintenance needs are defined 

and budgeted, ensuring documentation of mitigation 

and regulatory requirements, and training. 

Ongoing Yes  

5.2. Strategy 2: Minimize flood risk in coastal areas.   

5.2.1. Continue to seek partnerships and expand 

coordination to enhance fluvial and coastal flood 

protection projects, consistent with the Natural Flood 

Protection (NFP) procedures, such as the South San 

Francisco Bay Shoreline Study17,18, SFEI’s Resilient by 

Design, and the South Bay Salt Pond Project.  

Expand Yes 

5.2.2. Continue work on capital projects and coordination 

with cities to address sea level rise related flooding 

risks.   

Ongoing Yes 

5.2.3. Identify and pursue projects that increase the 

connectivity of coastal habitats and preserve the 

transition zone between the Bay's shoreline and 

streams' tidal zones, including wetland restoration and 

ecotone levees.  

New Yes 

5.2.4. Design coastal and Baylands flood protection projects 

that respond to sea level rise (e.g..: restoring coastal/ 

Baylands habitat, improving channel design and 

management as encouraged by SFEI Flood Control 2.0, 

etc.).  

New Yes 

5.2.5. Coordinate regionally to consider managed retreat. New Yes 

5.2.6. Install tidal gages to monitor and communicate rising 
sea levels. Evaluate potential communications that 
consider the digital divide. 

Expand Yes 

 
17 County of Santa Clara Office of Sustainability and Climate Action. 2015. Silicon Valley 2.0: Climate Adaptation 
Guide. 
18 The Shoreline Project is currently under construction and will provide FEMA protection for up to a 100 year 
storm event with 2.59 ft of sea level rise.  

145



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   89 
 

 
Status 

External 

Collaboration 

5.2.7. Ensure regional collaboration in rising sea level efforts 
by continuing engagement with regional efforts such as 
Adapting to Rising Tides, CHARG and their One Bay 
Plan. 

Ongoing Yes 

5.3. Strategy 3: Improve flood preparedness of people, 

property, and habitat.  
  

5.3.1. Use flood forecasts to collaborate on flood protection 

efforts such as watershed level Emergency Action Plans 

and flood warning systems, for vulnerable areas and 

populations (e.g.: homeless persons and disadvantaged 

communities).  

New Yes 

5.3.2. Consider relocation, purchase and/or structure 

elevation of properties subject to recurring flooding 

risk, when possible. 

New No 

5.3.3. Work with land use agencies to reduce vulnerability to 

flooding by minimizing development and prioritizing 

natural space in floodplains, such as through installing 

vegetated buffers along creeks and obtaining 

easements in priority areas for flood protection.  

Expand Yes 

5.3.4. Continue to enhance monitoring and/or maintenance 

programs for levees and flood walls, such as through 

collaboration with local agencies and training EOC staff 

about flooding risk areas. 

Ongoing  Yes 

5.3.5. Continue to coordinate with stakeholders, land use 

agencies, and municipalities to develop appropriate 

levels of flood protection and improve resilience to 

flooding.  

New Yes 

5.3.6. Consider board policy in collaboration with land use 

agencies and municipalities to improve resilience to 

flooding.  

New Yes 

5.4. Strategy 4: Implement projects and plans to increase the 

flexibility and resilience of flood protection operations and 

assets.  

  

5.4.1. Identify options for flexible and adaptable changes to 

reservoir water level management to minimize risks 

associated with severe storm events.   

Expand No 

5.4.2. Develop planning,  design, and maintenance 

procedures that incorporate climate change solutions 

for climate related flood impacts.  

New No  

146



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   90 
 

 
Status 

External 

Collaboration 

5.4.3. Develop asset management plans for flood protection 

assets that incorporate climate change solutions and 

promote adaptation, resilience, and flexibility.  

Expand No 

5.4.4. Ensure that people, vehicles, and equipment can 

continue to access flood protection assets.  
Ongoing Yes 

5.4.5. Implement flood protection activities as identified in 

One Water.   
New No 

5.4.6. Implement projects that maximize streams' climate 

resilience. Update the SMP to consider fluvial 

geomorphological functions, decrease long-term 

maintenance, and improve resilience to climate 

change.  

New Yes 

5.4.7. Implement projects from the Santa Clara Basin and 
South County Storm Water Resources Plans that 
provide flood benefits. 

New Yes 

5.4.8. Collaborate with local municipalities to incentivize 
green storm water infrastructure with benefits for 
flood attenuation.  

New Yes 

5.4.9. Consider board policy to collaborate with land use 

agencies and municipalities to improve watershed and 

flood plain assets under the additional stresses of 

climate change. 

New Yes 

5.5. Strategy 5: Expand the use of flood forecasting and 

modeling tools in the planning and design of agency 

projects to maximize protection from flood risks. 

  

5.5.1. Expand existing procedures to include the latest 

climate change assumptions, such as the potential for 

flooding from increased flows due to climate change, in 

the planning of agency projects.  

New No 

5.5.2. Model projected uncertainty in the frequency and 

magnitude of precipitation-related riverine and coastal 

flooding.  

New No 

5.5.3. Leverage additional technologies to improve 

forecasting of storms, storm surges, and other events 

resulting from rising sea level and changing flood 

patterns19.    

New No 

 
19 Valley Water’s existing flood forecasting system, which is installed in some creeks in Santa Clara County, uses 
rainfall forecasts to predict creek hydrographs and anticipates flood risk a couple of days in advance. This system 
could be refined and installed in additional locations.  

147



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   91 
 

 
Status 

External 

Collaboration 

5.5.4. Continue to leverage tools from FEMA, USGS, BCDC, 

and other agencies to determine existing levels and 

types of flooding risk and to identify areas at risk of 

coastal flooding due to SLR.   

Ongoing No 

5.5.5. Continue coordination with stakeholders to enhance 

monitoring and/or maintenance programs for Valley 

Water assets, such as through expanding the use of 

rain and stream gauges to help identify areas at risk of 

overtopping or flooding during large storm events. 

Expand Yes  

5.5.6. Update and expand the implementation of Flood Risk 

Reduction Studies, which include hydrology, hydraulics, 

geotechnical and remapping work of floodplain.  

Expand No 

5.5.7. Ensure long-term planning for operations and 

maintenance to ensure stream resilience, including 

long-term budgeting, sequencing of various 

maintenance needs, and increased coordination. 

Expand No 

5.5.8. Develop a consistent methodology to track and 

document maintenance, regulatory and mitigation 

needs of stream assets, including defining workflows, 

procedures for data collection and sharing, 

coordination between O&M units, and development of 

training for staff.  

New No 

6. Goal 6: Ecosystem Adaptation in Santa Clara County   

6.1 Strategy 1: Protect and enhance riverine, coastal, and other 
watershed ecosystems to improve climate change 
resilience and wildlife habitat. 

  

6.1.1. Protect, restore, enhance, create, and maintain 

wetlands and riparian areas and acquire additional 

land adjacent to streams where beneficial.  

Expand Yes 

6.1.2. Continue to complete Integrated Water Resources 

Master Plans for each watershed as part of the One 

Water program.  

Continue Yes 

6.1.3. Using watershed profiles developed through One 

Water, identify and prioritize habitat enhancement 

needs and incorporate into stream stewardship and 

mitigation projects. 

Expand No 

148



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   92 
 

 
Status 

External 

Collaboration 

6.1.4. Develop asset maintenance plans for ecosystem assets 

that incorporate climate change solutions such as 

adaptation, resilience, and flexibility.   

Expand No 

6.1.5. Continue to effectively manage algal blooms in Valley 

Water’s reservoirs, using natural methods like dyes and 

probiotics.  

Expand No 

6.1.6. Implement habitat conservation and restoration 

activities, informed by climate-smart and climate-

resilient best practices, throughout the watersheds 

Valley Water operates in, including upper watershed 

areas that drain to our creeks and baylands. 

Expand Yes 

6.1.7. Continue to utilize excavated sediment to create and 

rehabilitate habitat, including ecotone levees in coastal 

areas. 

Ongoing Yes 

6.1.8. Continue to protect the climate resiliency of open 

spaces with regional partners, such as through 

collaboration with the Valley Habitat Agency, the Santa 

Clara County Open Space Authority, and the Mid-

Peninsula Regional Open Space District.  

Ongoing Yes 

6.1.9. Protect biodiversity through developing climate smart 

wildlife corridors in collaboration with regional and 

local agencies.  

New Yes 

6.1.10. Consider BOD policies that promote environmental 

stewardship principles to address climate change 

impacts (e.g. improve land connectivity, watersheds, 

and green stormwater infrastructure). 

New No 

6.1.11. Collaborate with land use agencies and municipalities 

to improve watershed and flood plain management 

and related goals and activities that increase climate 

change adaptability. 

Expand Yes 

6.1.12. Improve operations to improve water quality for 

ecosystems, including by collaboration with land use 

agencies and municipalities.  

New Yes 

6.2. Strategy 2: Develop and expand programs and plans that 

support more climate-resilient ecosystems.  
  

6.2.1. Establish political and legal mechanisms for mutually 

beneficial inter-agency programs, plans, and projects 

that restore regional ecosystems. 

Expand Yes 

149



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   93 
 

 
Status 

External 

Collaboration 

6.2.2. Continue to support and expand funding partnerships 

with regional land conservation and management 

agencies to promote landscape-scale habitat linkages 

and preserve conservation values. 

Expand Yes 

6.2.3. Consider Board policies to promote the protection and 

enhancement of habitat connectivity when planning, 

designing, operating, and maintaining Valley Water’s 

flood protection and water supply infrastructure. 

Ongoing No 

6.2.4. Implement actions related to ecosystem connectivity 

and resilience that are included in plans and programs 

such as the Stream Corridor Priority Plans (SCPP), the 

Stream and Watershed Protection Program, and One 

Water. 

Expand Yes 

6.2.5. Expand grant program to encourage wildlife habitat 

restoration and watershed stewardship in Santa Clara 

County. 

New Yes 

6.2.6. Improve aquatic habitat connectivity through the 

Fisheries and Aquatic Habitat Collaborative Effort 

(FAHCE) and other programs and projects.  

Ongoing Yes 

6.2.7. Continue to move towards a geomorphic watershed 

approach when designing streams.  
Expand No 

6.2.8. Participate in statewide coordination on managing 

functional environmental flows in a climate-responsive 

manner.  

Ongoing  Yes 

6.2.9. Promote climate-smart planting, such as by 

coordinating with the Valley Habitat Agency to include 

climate-smart planting palettes in the Valley Habitat 

Plan.   

New Yes 

6.2.10. Avoid the spread of invasive species through 

prevention and removal efforts.  
Ongoing Yes 

6.2.11. Coordinate with cities, the County of Santa Clara, and 

landowners to develop wildfire burn rehabilitation 

plans. 

New Yes 

6.2.12. Develop Best Management Practices to reduce 

erosion and runoff following wildfire.   
New No 

6.2.13. Expand the Guidelines & Standards for Land Use Near 

Streams (Water Resources Protection Collaborative) to 

include climate change resilience considerations.  

Expand Yes 

150



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   94 
 

 
Status 

External 

Collaboration 

6.3. Strategy 3: Expand the availability of data on regional 

ecosystems in order to avoid detrimental climate change-

related ecosystem impacts.  

  

6.3.1. Continue and improve monitoring and land 

management activities to ensure preservation of 

conservation values throughout the county, 

particularly in the upper watershed. 

Ongoing  Yes 

6.3.2. Understand climate impacts on invasive and 

problematic species and pathogens in order to guide 

efforts at prevention and removal.  

Ongoing Yes 

6.3.3. Monitor and model the effects of climate change-

related events (e.g. droughts and wildfires) on 

ecosystems, stream flows, and water quality to avoid 

detrimental impacts such as algal blooms.   

Expand No 

6.3.4. Continue collecting baseline information about natural 

assets to be shared between regional stakeholders for 

the purpose of guiding future restoration activities.   

Expand Yes 

6.3.5. Continue to monitor and assess stream and watershed 

ecological conditions, using the California Rapid 

Assessment Method (CRAM) or other appropriate 

methods, to provide information about ecosystem 

changes over time.   

Ongoing No 

6.3.6. Add depressional wetlands (ponds), lacustrine 

wetlands (vegetated margins of lakes and reservoirs), 

and tidal Baylands to ambient condition surveys 

conducted for the Safe, Clean Water Program’s Project 

D5 (Ecological Data Collection and Analysis).  

Ongoing No 

6.3.7. Promote and participate in research projects related to 

climate impacts on Valley Water’s mission areas, 

including watershed studies, ecological conditions, 

impacts of wildfire on water quality, and other topics. 

New Yes 

7. Goal 7: Emergency Preparedness   

7.1. Strategy 1: Maximize Valley Water's emergency 

preparedness for climate related impacts (e.g.: from 

flooding, extreme heat events, fire, severe storms). 

  

7.1.1. Develop a centralized approach for data and 

projections (e.g., preferred general circulation models 

(GCMs), representative concentration pathways 

Ongoing Yes 

151



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   95 
 

 
Status 

External 

Collaboration 

(RCPs), downscaling methods, etc.) for use throughout 

Valley Water to assess, predict, and respond to climate 

change impacts. 

7.1.2. Improve operational flexibility and agility in responding 

to climate change related emergencies, including by 

updating emergency action plans and emergency drill 

procedures.  

Expand No 

7.1.3. Improve staff training about responding to and 

addressing climate-related disasters.  
Expand No 

7.1.4. Improve communication to the public about climate-

related disasters.   
Expand Yes 

7.1.5. Assess and ensure backup power reliability, including 

generator and fuel availability.  
Expand No 

7.1.6. Ensure assets are equipped to handle climate-related 

emergencies such as increased heat.  
Expand No 

7.1.7. Continue engagement with the Santa Clara County 

Emergency Managers Association.  
Ongoing Yes 

 

152



 

DRAFT Climate Change Action Plan   96 
 

 

 

153



154



BPPC Meeting: Nov. 23, 2020 
 
Ends Policy Notes: 

ENDS POLICY E-5 CLIMATE CHANGE ACTION 

Board Governance Ends Policy E-5. Climate Change Mitigation and Adaptation 

  

Valley Water is carbon neutral and provides equitable, climate-resilient water supply, 

flood protection, and water resource stewardship to all communities in Santa Clara 

County. This will be accomplished through the implementation of the Climate Change 

Action Plan.  

  

Goal 5.1 Minimize greenhouse gas emissions from Valley Water’s operations. 

  

1. Expand the use of clean technology in vehicles, equipment, and buildings, and 

develop carbon-efficient construction and service delivery practices. 

2. Optimize energy use and expand renewable energy portfolio. 

3. Incentivize low carbon practices, projects, and efforts by employees, contractors, 

and partners.  

  

  

Goal 5.2  Adapt Valley Water’s assets and operations to reduce climate change 

impacts. 

  

1. Improve the resiliency of Santa Clara County’s water supply to drought and other 

climate change impacts. 

2. Provide equitable protection from sea level rise and flooding, prioritizing 

disadvantaged communities. 

3. Improve ecosystem resiliency through water resources stewardship. 

4. Prepare for climate-related emergencies and provide equal access to information 

and services, particularly to disadvantaged communities. 

 

 

155



156



Board Governance Ends Policy E-5 &
Climate Change Action Plan (CCAP) Update

Neeta Bijoor, Ph.D., Associate Water Resources Specialist; Maggie O’Shea, CivicSpark Fellow; 
Lisa Bankosh Assistant Officer Watershed Stewardship and Planning; Kirsten Struve, Assistant Officer Water Supply Division

157



Valley Water is carbon neutral and provides equitable, climate-resilient water supply, flood protection, and 
water resource stewardship to all communities in Santa Clara County. This will be accomplished through 

the implementation of the Climate Change Action Plan. 

Ends Policy E-5: Climate Change Adaptation & Mitigation

Minimize Greenhouse 
Gas Emissions5.1

1. Expand the use of clean technology in vehicles, equipment, and 
buildings, and develop carbon-efficient construction and service 
delivery practices.

2. Optimize energy use and expand renewable energy portfolio.
3. Incentivize low carbon practices, projects, and efforts by 

employees, contractors, and partners. 

Adapt Valley Water’s 
Assets and 
Operations to Climate 
Change Impacts

5.2

1. Improve the resiliency of Santa Clara County’s water supply to 
drought and other climate change impacts.

2. Provide equitable protection from sea level rise and flooding, 
prioritizing disadvantaged communities.

3. Improve ecosystem resiliency through water resources stewardship.
4. Prepare for climate-related emergencies and provide equal access 

to information and services, particularly to disadvantaged 
communities.

158



Outreach Strategy: Review

Awareness

● Social Media Video
●Website Update
● Summary Document
●Draft Plan 

Stakeholder 
Input

● Survey
○ Review of goals and strategies
○ Additional action ideas for 

implementation
○ Prioritization of Goals 

159



• Survey opens for 
Comments. 

• Web updates, video, social 
media posts

Climate Change 

Action Plan 

Outreach Timeline

• Survey closes 
• Stakeholder comments 

reviewed and incorporated

• Outreach results 
presented to BPPC. 

Dec.
2020 

Feb.
2021 

Apr.
2021 

160



0% of Goal 50% of Goal 100% of Goal
Exceeds 

Goal
OUTREACH METRICS

Awareness:
3,000 people made aware about the 
CCAP and opportunities to engage

Engagement:
150 people provide input through 
the survey

Outreach Metrics
Measuring Success

5,000+

146

161



Solar & 
Renewables 

Setting 
Reduction 

Targets

Green 
Infrastructure

Water 
Conservation

Common Topics of 
Comments

162



• Collaboration

• Prioritization

• Environmental Justice 

Other Comment Topics 

• Transparency

• Trails

• Telework

163



Responses

164



Next Steps

• Publish Response to Comments

• Board Acceptance

• Launch Implementation Program

• Prioritize Climate Actions 

• Work Plans for Implementation

165



166



Santa Clara Valley Water District

File No.: 21-0338 Agenda Date: 4/5/2021
Item No.: 4.4.

COMMITTEE AGENDA MEMORANDUM

Board Policy and Planning Committee

SUBJECT: ..title
Report on Efforts to Align Board Committee Work Plans with the Board Work Plan and Planning
Calendar.

RECOMMENDATION: ..Recommendation

Receive a verbal update from BPPC Chair Hsueh on efforts to align Board Committee work plans
with the Board work plan and planning calendar and discuss request to provide staff support for
working groups.

SUMMARY:
One of the tasks assigned to the Board Policy and Planning Committee (BPPC) is to lead the effort to
align Board Committee work plans with the Board Work Plan and Planning Calendar.

This item allows BPPC Chair Hsueh to provide a verbal report on meeting with 2021 Environmental
and Water Resources Committee (EWRC) Chair Bob Levy, and convey a request for staff support for
the EWRC work groups created to align with the Board’s Work Plan.

ATTACHMENTS:
None.

UNCLASSIFIED MANAGER: ..Manager

Michele King, 408-630-2711.

Santa Clara Valley Water District Printed on 4/1/2021Page 1 of 1

powered by Legistar™167

http://www.legistar.com/


168



Santa Clara Valley Water District

File No.: 21-0228 Agenda Date: 4/5/2021
Item No.: 4.5.

COMMITTEE AGENDA MEMORANDUM

Board Policy and Planning Committee
SUBJECT:
Work Plan, Meeting Schedule and Accomplishments Report.

RECOMMENDATION:
A. Review 2021 Board Policy and Planning Committee’s Work Plan and Accomplishments Report

and incorporate any new tasks; and
B. Schedule Committee meetings as appropriate.

SUMMARY:
This item allows the Committee to review its 2021 Work Plan, meeting schedule and
accomplishments report and identify additional tasks and schedule meetings as appropriate.

ATTACHMENTS:
Attachment 1:  2021 BPPC Work Plan & Accomplishments Report

UNCLASSIFIED MANAGER:
Michele King, 408-630-211

Santa Clara Valley Water District Printed on 4/1/2021Page 1 of 1

powered by Legistar™169

http://www.legistar.com/


170



Subject 1/7/2021 1/25/2021 3/1/2021 4/5/2021 5/3/2021 6/7/2021 7/5/2021 8/2/2021 9/6/2021 10/4/2021 11/1/2021 12/6/2021

A.
1. Planning for Board's FY22‐23 Strategic Planning Workshop

2. Discuss FY21‐22 Board Budget Message & Board Work Plan X

1. Report on Outreach Plan for use of District Property for Trails X
2. Outreach Findings on the Untreated Surface Water Program X

3.

Develop new Ends Policy reflecting the Board’s Goals and Objectives 
for affordable and effective level and costs of services, and 
associated strategies to achieve the goals and objectives for Flood 
Protection Projects. (E‐3)

X

4.

Review Ends Policy 4 (E‐4) to properly document Board's vision and 
monitoring process on Flood Protection, Stream Stewardship, Trails, 
Open Space Preserve.

X

5.
Review  Ends 2 (E‐2) ‐ There is a Reliable, Clean Water Supply for 
Current and Future Generations. X X

6. Revised Water Resources Protection Ordinance X
7. Climate Change  Policy and Action Plan X
8. One Water Countywide Framework X X

9.

Proposed Modifications to Board Governance Ends Policy General 
Principles E‐1 and Glossary to Add Environmental Justice Language X

C.
1. Review Effectiveness of Board Advisory Committees (External)  X
D.

2021 Board Policy and Planning Committee Work Plan and Schedule

Other Assignments 
Requested by Board

B.

Task

Board Committees 
Principles and 
Structures

Board Planning 
Process

Provide Support for Board Planning Activities

Provide Support for Board Policy Review

Align Board Committees' Work Plans with Board Planning Calendar

Other Assignments as Requested by the Board

3/10/2021
1 of 2171



Subject Action Taken
A.
1. Discuss FY20‐21 Board Budget Message & Board Work Plan FY21 Board Work Plan and Chair messaged approved by the Board on 8/11/20

2. Planning for Board's FY21‐22 Strategic Planning Workshop
FT22 Strategic Planning Workshop recommendation approved by the Board on 11/24/20. 
Session scheduled for January 2021.

1. Report on Outreach Plan for use of District Property for Trails
At the 10/26/20 meeting the BPPC recommended that staff schedule a public input 
meeting in mid‐November or beginning of Deceber and return  to the BPPC with a report 
on the public input.

2. Outreach Findings on the Untreated Surface Water Program

3.

Develop new Ends Policy reflecting the Board’s Goals and Objectives for affordable and 
effective level and costs of services, and associated strategies to achieve the goals and 
objectives for Flood Protection Projects. (E‐3)

4.

Review Ends Policy 4 to properly document Board's vision and monitoring process on Flood 
Protection, Stream Stewardship, Trails, Open Space Preserve, and Climate Change policies.

BPPC continues to review and provide input on E‐4 policy, including addressing 
protection of endangered species in Goal 4.1; clarifying that environmental stewardship 
is optimized in project planning and operations in Goal 4.2; incorporating environmental 
justice principles throughout the policy (including making E‐1 a stand alone policy); 
removing the climate change goal and develop and stand‐alone climate change Ends 
Policy and Climate Change Action Plan; as well as other minor wording changes.

5.

Review  Ends 2 (E‐2) ‐ There is a Reliable, Clean Water Supply for Current and Future 
Generations.

BPPC will review the restructuring of E‐2 to include BAO Interpretations; connect with 
Water Supply Master Plan; reflect and incorporate strategies listed in all current master 
plans; incorporate language that reflects environmental and other beneficial, equitable, 
and affordable uses of water; and revise water supply to water resources to better 
reflect all water uses. 

6. Revised Water Resources Protection Ordinance

7.

Climate Change Policy and Action Plan

BPPC reviewed the Climate Change Action Plan and Climate Change Ends Policy 5 (E‐5) 
and suggested some additional clarification and language and authorized Board Chair to 
work with CEO to schedule policy discussion with the Board.  Action Plan will return to 
the Committee for further review. 

8. One Water Countywide Framework

9.

Proposed Modifications to Board Governance Ends Policy General Principles E‐1 and 
Glossary to Add Environmental Justice Language

BPPC has reviewed, provided input, and requested modifications to E‐1 policy.  At the 
1/7/21 special meeting the BPPC approved presenting staff's proposed modifications to 
the full Board. 

C.

1. Review Effectiveness of Board Advisory Committees (External) 

D.

2020 ‐2021 Board Policy and Planning Committee Accomplishments Report

Align Board Committees' Work Plans with Board Planning Calendar

Assignments as Requested by the Board

Task

B. 

Provide ongoing support for Board Planning Activities

Provide Support for Board Policy Review

Board & 
Organization 
Performance 
Monitoring

Board Committees 
Principles and 
Structures

Board Planning 
Process

172


	0000_Agenda
	0001_0_Board Agenda Memo
	0001_1_Attachment 1 March 1, 2021 Minutes
	0002_0_Board Agenda Memo
	0002_1_Attachment 1 FY22 Draft Board Work Plan
	FY22 Board Work Plan DRAFT
	Goal: Integrated Water Resources Management
	Strategy 1: Protect and maintain existing assets and infrastructure and advance new infrastructure projects.
	Challenge/Opportunity
	Focus
	Monitoring
	Related Staff Plans

	Strategy 2: Pursue opportunities to improve internal capacity to acquire regulatory permits.
	Challenge/Opportunity
	Focus
	Monitoring
	Related Staff Plans

	Strategy 3: Engage and educate the community, elected officials and staff on our management of water resources in Santa Clara County.
	Challenge/Opportunity
	Focus
	Monitoring
	Related Staff Plans


	Goal: Water Supply
	Strategy 1: Actively Pursue New Water Supply and Storage Opportunities.
	Challenge/Opportunity
	Focus
	Monitoring
	Related Staff Plans

	Strategy 2: Actively Participate in decisions regarding the CA Delta Conveyance.
	Challenge/Opportunity
	Focus
	Monitoring
	Related Staff Plans

	Strategy 3: Lead Recycled and Purified Water and Efforts with committed partners.
	Challenge/Opportunity
	Focus
	Monitoring
	Related Staff Plans

	Strategy 4: Advance Anderson Dam Seismic Retrofit Project.
	Challenge/Opportunity
	Focus
	Monitoring
	Related Staff Plans

	Strategy 5: Promote Making Water Conservation a California Way of Life in Santa Clara County.
	Challenge/Opportunity
	Focus
	Monitoring
	Related Staff Plans


	Goal: Natural Flood Protection
	Strategy 1: Plan, design and maintain flood protection projects with multiple benefits, including protecting ecosystem functions and enhancing habitat.
	Challenge/Opportunity
	Focus
	Monitoring
	Related Staff Plans

	Strategy 2: Provide flood protection equitably in all regions of the County, prioritizing disadvantaged communities.
	Challenge/Opportunity
	Focus
	Monitoring
	Related Staff Plans


	Goal: Environmental Stewardship
	Strategy 1: Attain net positive impact on the environment when implementing flood protection and water supply projects.
	Challenge/Opportunity
	Focus
	Monitoring
	Related Staff Plans

	Strategy 2: Promote the protection of creeks, bay, and other aquatic ecosystems from threats of pollution and degradation.
	Challenge/Opportunity
	Focus
	Monitoring
	Related Staff Plans

	Strategy 3: Continue the Fisheries and Aquatic Habitat Collaborative Effort (FAHCE).
	Challenge/Opportunity
	Focus
	Monitoring
	Related Staff Plans


	Goal: Business Management
	Strategy 1: Advance racial equity, diversity and inclusion.
	Challenge/Opportunity
	Focus
	Monitoring
	Related Staff Plans

	Strategy 2: Maintain appropriate staffing levels and expertise and ensure the safety of our staff.
	Challenge/Opportunity
	Focus
	Monitoring
	Related Staff Plans

	Strategy 3: Provide affordable and cost-effective level of services.
	Challenge/Opportunity
	Focus
	Monitoring
	Related Staff Plans


	Goal: Climate Change
	Strategy 1: Address future impacts of climate change to Valley Water’s mission and operations.
	Challenge/Opportunity
	Focus
	Monitoring
	Related Staff Plans




	0003_0_Board Agenda Memo
	0003_1_Attachment 1 Draft Revised Ends Policy E-2
	0003_2_Attachment 2 PowerPoint
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9
	Slide Number 10
	Slide Number 11
	Slide Number 12

	0004_0_Board Agenda Memo
	0004_1_Attachment 1 Draft Climate Change Action Plan
	0004_2_Attachment 2 Draft Ends Policy E-5
	0004_3_Attachment 3 PowerPoint
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9
	Slide Number 10

	0005_0_Board Agenda Memo
	0006_0_Board Agenda Memo
	0006_1_Attachment 1 2021 BPPC Work Plan Accomplishments Report
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page



